Université de Montréal

Childhood and Adolescent Exposure to Chemicals Found in Personal Care Products

Par Nahiyan Saiyara Khan

École de santé publique, Faculté des études supérieures et postdoctorales

Mémoire présenté en vue de l'obtention du grade de Maîtrise ès sciences (M.Sc.)

en santé environnementale et santé au travail, option recherche

Décembre 2022

© Nahiyan Saiyara Khan, 2022

Université de Montréal

Département de santé environnementale et santé au travail

École de santé publique

Ce mémoire intitulé

Childhood and Adolescent Exposure to Chemicals Found in Personal Care Products

Présenté par

Nahiyan Saiyara Khan

A été évalué(e) par un jury composé des personnes suivantes

Nolwenn Noisel Président-rapporteur

Maryse Bouchard Directrice de recherche

Jillian Ashley-Martin Codirectrice de recherche

Lise Parent Membre du jury

Résumé

Contexte : Les produits de soins personnels contiennent plusieurs substances chimiques dont l'exposition est préoccupante pour les jeunes vu leur plus grande susceptibilité aux expositions chimiques. Aucune revue publiée n'a étudié l'exposition des jeunes aux substances chimiques dans ces produits.

Objectif : Cette revue de la portée vise à synthétiser des études de biosurveillance décrivant les concentrations de parabènes, phénols, phtalates et substances per- et polyfluoroalkylées (PFAS) après l'utilisation de produits de soins personnels chez les jeunes âgés de 5 à 19 ans.

Méthodes : La recherche a été effectuée dans MEDLINE, Embase et Global Health. L'éligibilité des articles a été évaluée. Les résultats des études éligibles ont été résumées et décrites.

Résultats : Trente-sept études ont été incluses, la première étant publiée en 2013. La majorité des études étaient transversales (n=35) et incluaient plus de 100 participants (n=27). Les substances chimiques les plus fréquemment étudiées étaient les phtalates (n=23), suivies des parabènes et des phénols (chacun n=18), puis des PFAS (n=1). La matrice biologique principalement utilisée était l'urine (n=36). Plusieurs études (n=31) ont rapporté au moins une association positive entre les produits de soins personnels et certaines classes chimiques, comme entre le maquillage et les parabènes; la lotion et les phénols; et le parfum et les phtalates.

Conclusion : Plus d'études sur ce sujet sont nécessaires pour documenter l'importance relative de l'utilisation des produits de soins personnels par rapport à l'exposition totale aux substances chimiques. L'uniformisation des questionnaires de collecte de données pourrait aider à réduire l'hétérogénéité des résultats.

Mots-clés : produits de soins personnels, parabènes, phénols, phtalates, substances perfluoroalkyles, substances polyfluoroalkyles, enfants, adolescents, exposition.

Abstract

Background: Personal care products (PCPs) contain a variety of chemicals including parabens, phenols, phthalates, and per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). Exposure to these chemicals is of concern for children and adolescents, as they are known possess an increased susceptibility to chemical exposures. To date, no published review has explored youth exposure to chemicals found in PCPs.

Objective: This scoping review aimed to provide an overview of biomonitoring studies that describe the concentrations of parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS following PCP use among children and adolescents of any age from 5 to 19 years old.

Methods: The search was conducted in MEDLINE, Embase, and Global Health. Articles were screened and assessed for eligibility. From eligible studies, data were extracted to summarize and describe the findings.

Results: Thirty-seven studies were included, the first of which appeared in 2013. The majority of studies were cross-sectional (n=35) and included more than 100 participants (n=27). The most frequently studied chemicals were phthalates (n=23), followed by parabens and phenols (each n=18), and then PFAS (n=1). The biological matrix mainly used was urine (n=36). Thirty-one studies reported at least one positive association between personal care products and certain chemical classes, such as between makeup and parabens; lotion and phenols; and perfume and phthalates.

Conclusion: More rigorous studies on the exposure to chemicals found in PCPs among youth are needed to document the relative importance of PCP use with regard to total chemical exposure. Moreover, uniformity throughout data collection questionnaires may help to reduce heterogeneity between study findings.

Keywords : personal care products, parabens, phenols, phthalates, perfluoroalkyl substances, polyfluoroalkyl substances, children, adolescents, exposure

Table of contents

Résumé	i
Abstract	ii
Table of contents	iii
List of tables	vi
List of figures	vii
List of acronyms and abbreviations	viii
Acknowledgements	xi
I – Introduction	12
1.1 Context	12
1.2 Thesis Structure	13
II – Literature Review	14
2.1 Personal Care Products	14
2.1.1 Existing Regulations in Canada	15
2.2 Chemical Families	
2.2.1 Parabens	
2.2.1.1 Practical Properties of Parabens	
2.2.1.2 Toxic Properties of Parabens	19
2.2.1.2.1 In vitro Studies on Parabens	20
2.2.1.2.2 Animal Studies on Parabens	20
2.2.1.2.3 Human Studies on Parabens	21
2.2.1.3 Toxicokinetics of Parabens	22
2.2.2 Phenols	22
2.2.2.1 Practical Properties of Phenols	23
2.2.2.2 Toxic Properties of Phenols	23

2.2.2.2.1 In vitro Studies on Phenols	23
2.2.2.2.2 Animal Studies on Phenols	24
2.2.2.3 Human Studies on Phenols	25
2.2.1.3 Toxicokinetics of Phenols	26
2.2.3 Phthalates	27
2.2.3.1 Practical Properties of Phthalates	27
2.2.3.2 Toxic Properties of Phthalates	27
2.2.3.2.1 In vitro Studies on Phthalates	28
2.2.3.2.1 Animal Studies on Phthalates	28
2.2.3.2.2 Human Studies on Phthalates	29
2.2.3.3. Toxicokinetics of Phthalates	
2.2.4 Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS)	31
2.2.4.1 Practical Properties of PFAS	31
2.2.4.2 Toxic Properties of PFAS	31
2.2.4.2.1 In vitro Studies on PFAS	32
2.2.4.2.2 Animal Studies on PFAS	32
2.2.4.2.3 Human Studies on PFAS	
2.2.4.3 Toxicokinetics of PFAS	34
2.2.5 Biomonitoring	35
2.3 Developmental Windows of Vulnerability	35
2.3.1 Childhood	35
2.3.2 Adolescence	36
2.3.2.1 Sociocultural standards and PCP use	
2.5 Relevance of a Review	
III – Objective	43

IV – Methods	44
4.1 Scoping Review	44
4.1.1 Framework for the scoping review	45
4.2 Research Question	45
4.3 Search Strategy	45
4.4 Study Selection	46
4.4.1 Inclusion Criteria and Exclusion Criteria	46
4.4.3 Screening	46
4.5 Charting the Data	46
V – Results	47
VI – General Discussion	
6.1 General Summary of Findings	
6.2 Use of Personal Care Products: Why Regulation Matters	
6.3 Alternatives to Regulation	
6.4 Implications for Future Research	
VII – Conclusion	
Bibliography	

List of tables

Table I.	Personal care product categories with their description, product examples, and
regulation	
Table II.	Chemical structure and general characteristics of most common parabens
Table III.	Chemical structure and general characteristics of common phenols40
Table IV.	Chemical structures and general characteristics of common phthalates41
Table V.	Chemical structure and general characteristics of common PFAS42
Table I.	Geographic provenance of included studies (n=37)58
Table II.	General characteristics of included studies, and the investigated chemical families and
personal car	re products60
Table III.	Included studies' data collection methods and characteristics70
Table IV.	Overview of findings presented in this scoping review75
Table S1. S	earch strategy and criteria for MEDLINE database
Table S2. S	earch strategy and criteria for Embase database90
Table S3. S	Search strategy and criteria for Global Health database91

List of figures

Figure 1.	Study selection flow diagram representing the steps to select studies for inclusion	1 in
the scoping	review, and the number of studies excluded at each step	.55
Figure 2.	Number of included studies published from 2013 (earliest study published on	the
studied topi	c) to September 19 th , 2022	.58
Figure 3.	Number of included studies per each chemical family of interest studied	.59
Figure 4.	Number of included studies per number of chemical families of interest studied	.59

List of acronyms and abbreviations

- 17β-HSD1: 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 1 17β-HSD2: 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2 BPA: Bisphenol A **BPF: Bisphenol F** BPS: Bisphenol S CNS: Central nervous system DNA: Deoxyribonucleic acid EDC: Endocrine-disrupting chemical EGF: Epidermal growth factor ERα: Estrogen receptor alpha ER β : Estrogen receptor beta FSH: Follicle stimulating hormone GnRH: Gonadotrophin hormone IGF-1: Insulin-like growth factor-1 LH: Luteinizing hormone PCP: Personal care product PFAS: Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances PFOA: Perfluorooctanoate **PFOS:** Perfluorooctane sulfonate T3: Triiodothyronine
- T4: Thyroxine

TSH: Thyroid-stimulating hormone

To Aurko, in loving memory

Acknowledgements

I wish to acknowledge and give my warmest thanks to my supervisor, Maryse Bouchard, and my co-supervisor, Jillian Ashley-Martin.

Maryse, I wish to express my gratitude for welcoming me warmly among your team a year ago and for giving me the opportunity to work with you. Jillian, I am pleased to have met you and I thank you for your guidance. It is a privilege to have worked with two amazing women and scientists throughout the last year.

I wish to express my appreciation to my office colleague, Trisha Saha, for accompanying me through my short master's, her encouragements, and her precious friendship.

I want to thank Noémie Plattard for her guidance, advice, and constant support. I am so very lucky to have met you through our duties in the student association.

I would like to give an incredibly special thanks to my dear partner, Guillaume Bellemare. I am infinitely grateful for your continuous support, understanding, and encouragement throughout my academic life and everything else.

To my family, especially my aunts, thank you for motivating me through all the twists and turns.

To the professors and administrative staff of the *Département de santé environnementale et santé au travail*, thank you. Many of you have helped me greatly during my transition from a professional master's to a research master's.

To the *Études supérieures et postdoctorales de l'Université de Montréal*, thank you for awarding me with the *"Bourse de fin d'études de maîtrise*" scholarship.

I Introduction

1.1 Context

The creation and application of chemicals has increased in exponential manner since the Industrial Revolution. As of 2019, it was estimated that 28,000 chemical substances were listed in the Canadian Domestic Substances List and that a total of 85,000 chemicals were available for sale in the United States (United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), 2019). Thus, in our modern lifestyle, the use of chemical-based products on a daily basis is far from uncommon. Indeed, both occupational and non-occupational environments possess numerous sources of chemical exposure, among which many are of domestic origin such as furniture, electronic products, pesticides, household cleaning products, and personal care products (PCPs) (Rudel & Perovich, 2009; Zota et al., 2017). Lately, the PCPs market has been growing and trending more strongly with a rise in popularity of skincare, self-care and beauty products, through social media content creators (*i.e.,* influencers) is noticeable in all regions across the globe (Garcia, 2019; Hadero & D'innocenzio, 2022; Mohatarem, 2021; Wang & Lee, 2021).

PCPs contain a broad-spectrum of chemicals that humans are exposed to during use. While chemicals provide several advantages, they are often the culprits behind adverse effects on human health. An important group of frequent PCPs users are children and adolescents. In 2016, 80% of the population aged 9 to 11 years were reported to use beauty products and PCPs in the United States (Mintel Press Office, 2016). In total, 90% of American girls aged 9 to 17 years used beauty products (Mintel Press Office, 2016). In boys, the percentage for beauty product use was of 69% (Mintel Press Office, 2016). Therefore, exposure to chemicals within this population group is evident. At present, such data is not available for the Canadian population.

The transition from childhood to adulthood is one characterized by adolescence, which is a phase distinguished by various behavioural and physiological changes in development (Alberga et al., 2012). Moreover, the phenomenon of puberty takes place during adolescence, initiating a myriad of developmental processes that occur throughout several years (Lucaccioni et al., 2020). Due to these facts, the period of adolescence could be a critical window of exposure and

vulnerability. Recent studies have reported the presence of chemicals in PCPs (Martín-Pozo et al., 2021; Vindenes et al., 2021; Whitehead et al., 2021) and others have also proposed the period of adolescence as a period of vulnerability to environmental exposures (Shoaff et al., 2020).

To our knowledge, there is a lack of existing review highlighting the exposure to chemicals found in PCPs among youth. Knowing that PCP use is common among children and adolescents, and that this population group may be more at risk to potential toxic effects of chemicals, it is imperative to understand their exposure to chemicals through the use of PCPs. For this reason, in the present thesis we will conduct a scoping review compiling published studies that have aimed to investigate childhood and adolescent exposure to chemicals belonging to four primary families through PCP use: parabens, phenols, phthalates, and per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). By doing so, this thesis will contribute to knowledge on exposure to chemicals through PCP use in children and youth.

1.2 Thesis Structure

Following this first chapter, this thesis will begin with a literature review on PCPs and their definition; the description of the chemical families of parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS; the concept of developmental windows of vulnerability; a brief overview of children and adolescents' PCP use patterns; the existing regulations related to the studied chemicals; and the relevance of redacting a scoping review on childhood and adolescent exposure (Chapter 2). Next, the objective (Chapter 3) and the methodology followed (Chapter 4) to draft the scoping review will be explained. To continue, research results will be presented in the form of a scoping review (Chapter 5), followed by a general discussion of the results, the strengths and limitations of the research conducted, the implications for future research (Chapter 6), and a conclusion (Chapter 7).

II *Literature Review*

2.1 Personal Care Products

PCPs are known to be domiciliary products used for beautifying, grooming, cleaning, and maintenance of personal hygiene (Lang et al., 2016; Montes-Grajales et al., 2017). This category of products includes soaps, shampoo, cosmetics, fragrances, lotions, toothpaste, hair dyes, deodorants, and an array of other skin care products (*e.g.*, sunscreens, face cleansers, and more) (Harikishore Kumar Reddy, 2017; Khalid & Abdollahi, 2021; Lang et al., 2016). In Canada, PCPs are categorized into three groupings for regulation purposes: drugs, cosmetics, and natural health products (Lang et al., 2016). Different categories of PCPs, their description, examples of products, and regulations are summarized in Table I below.

A vast majority of the chemicals in PCPs are known to possess the potential to perturb the human endocrine system, thus naming them as endocrine-disrupting chemicals (EDCs). As per the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EDCs are exogenous chemical compounds (or chemical mixtures) that can disrupt the production, elimination, release, transport, metabolism, or receptor binding action of the human body's natural hormones known to participate in upholding homoeostasis and in important developmental and behavioural processes (Kabir et al., 2015; Lauretta et al., 2019). Exposure to EDCs are possibly associated with increased risk of asthma, allergies (Raley et al., 2021), cancer, diabetes, obesity, reproductive issues (De Coster & van Larebeke, 2012; Rachoń, 2015), and adverse behavioural and cognitive outcomes (Engel et al., 2010; Miodovnik et al., 2011). In addition, EDCs have the potential to negatively impact stages of development in exposed individuals (Predieri et al., 2022). Knowing that the chemicals contained in PCPs are absorbed by the body following use, despite the products being designed to be used externally (Harikishore Kumar Reddy, 2017), exposure to chemicals through the use of PCPs can lead to significant risks for the human health and contribute to the development of diseases.

2.1.1 Existing Regulations in Canada

As stated previously, for regulation related purposes, PCPs are categorized as either drugs, cosmetics, or natural health products in Canada (Lang et al., 2016). The Food and Drugs Act is categorized into three types of regulations which apply to PCPs: the Cosmetics Regulations, the Natural Health Products Regulations, the Food and Drug Regulations (Government of Canada, 2020). Cosmetics are defined as "any substance or mixture of substances, manufactured, sold or represented for use in cleansing, improving or altering the complexion, skin, hair or teeth and includes deodorants and perfumes." according to the Food and Drugs Act and are required to comply with the criteria in the Food and Drugs Act and the Cosmetic Regulations (Government of Canada, 2021). Drugs are defined as:

... Any substance or mixture of substances manufactured, sold or represented for use in (a) the diagnosis, treatment, mitigation or prevention of a disease, disorder or abnormal physical state, or its symptoms, in human beings or animals, (b) restoring, correcting or modifying organic functions in human beings or animals, or (c) disinfection in premises in which food is manufactured, prepared or kept; (Health Canada, 2008, p. 2)

This category of products comprises non-prescription and prescription pharmaceuticals (Government of Canada, 2022b). Natural health products are "a subset of drugs pertaining to medicinal ingredients of natural origin ... " as defined by Health Canada (2008). Products such as creams, ointments, herbal remedies, homeopathic medicines, and vitamins and minerals can be categorised as natural health products (Government of Canada, 2016). Other PCPs such as antiperspirants, facial products, mouthwashes, shampoos, and toothpastes may also be natural health products (Government of Canada, 2016).

Cosmetics and cosmetic ingredients are covered by the Cosmetic Regulations (Government of Canada, 2021). Along with the Food and Drugs Act, this regulation demands that the production, preparation, and storage of cosmetic products for sale are fulfilled in a sanitary setting (Government of Canada, 2021). Moreover, this regulation demands that the ingredients found in a cosmetic product be registered in a list by the manufacturer or importer (Government of Canada, 2021). Manufacturers must also inform Health Canada of the cosmetics products they are selling (Government of Canada, 2021). According to Health Canada, other regulations may concern cosmetics such as the Consumer Packaging and Labelling Act and the Canadian Environmental Protection Act (Government of Canada, 2021). In addition to this, cosmetic ingredients that are banned or restricted are registered in the Cosmetic Ingredient Hotlist which is used by Health Canada (Government of Canada, 2022a). In summary, cosmetics are covered by different overlapping regulations.

Although regulation categories exist in Canada, a specific PCP may be regulated differently depending on its ingredients, purpose, and use (Government of Canada, 2022d). For example, a sunscreen may be considered as either a cosmetic, a natural health product, or even a non-prescription medication depending on its description (Government of Canada, 2022d). In the event that a PCP cannot be classified as only a cosmetic or a drug, it is considered as a product at the cosmetic-drug interface (Government of Canada, 2022c). To categorize such products, Health Canada uses a guidance document for purpose to aid regulators in their decision-making, along with other existing regulatory references (Government of Canada, 2022c).

Category	Description	Product Examples	Regulation	
Bath, Shower, Hair and Soap Products	Includes products used for bathing or showering, handwashing, grooming, hair styling, hair caring, and hygienic purposes.	After-shave Bar soap Body wash Cleansing gel or cream Conditioner Face gel Face wash Hair balm Hair bleach Hair gel Hair gel Hair serum Hair spray Hand sanitizer Hand wash Liquid soap Mouthwash Shampoo Shaving cream Shower gel	The Food and Drugs Act, which includes (Government of Canada, 2020) : — The Cosmetics Regulations — The Natural Health Products Regulations — The Food and Drug Regulations — A PCP may be regulated differently depending on its ingredients, purpose, and use (Government of Canada, 2022d).	
Fragrances, Perfumes, and Deodorant	Includes products that possess a distinctive, typically pleasant scent used to mask unwanted odor or to impart a clean scent.	Cologne Deodorant (stick, spray) Eau de toilette Essential oils Fragrance Perfume		 The Cosmetics Regulations The Natural Health Products Regulations The Food and Drug Regulations A PCP may be regulated differently depending on its ingredients, purpose, and use (Government of Canada, 2022.)
Lotions, Creams, Sunscreen and Toothpaste	Includes products used to moisturize skin (lotions and creams), to protect skin from ultraviolet rays (sunscreen), and to promote oral hygiene (toothpaste).	Body lotion Cream Eye cream Face cream Hand cream Moisturizer Sunscreen Toothpaste		
Makeup and Cosmetic Products	Includes products used for beauty enhancing purposes.	Coloured cosmetics Eye makeup Face makeup Lip balm Lip makeup Lipstick Nail polish Nail products Skin care cosmetics Skin makeup		

Table I. Personal care product categories with their description, product examples, and regulation

2.2 Chemical Families

Four major families of synthetic chemicals that are commonly found in the composition of PCPs: parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS. In this section, a description of each family and their practical properties, toxicological properties, and toxicokinetics will be discussed. In connection with this section, a table containing the chemical structure and general characteristics of some of the most common compounds of each chemical family will be found at the end of the chapter (Tables II to V).

2.2.1 Parabens

The aliphatic esters of *para*-hydroxybenzoic acid are the compounds known as parabens (Petric et al., 2021). Parabens can be found naturally in the environment and are secreted by many plants and microorganisms (Nowak et al., 2018). Although, parabens found in products of commercial purpose are synthetically created (Genuis et al., 2013). These compounds have the ability to work over a large pH margin and are also known to have good stability (Petric et al., 2021). Additionally, parabens have no odour or taste and have a low financial cost (Askari & Warshaw, 2006). Within this chemical family, methyl paraben, ethyl paraben, propyl paraben, and butyl paraben are the most frequently used in PCPs (Petric et al., 2021). Since the 1920s, parabens have been incorporated in cosmetics, and even food, as preservatives in order to prevent the development of microorganisms in the products (Nowak et al., 2018). They are added as preservatives in PCPs as well (Kirchhof & de Gannes, 2013). However, some studies have raised concerns over the potential toxicity resulting from the exposure to this family of chemicals (Nowak et al., 2018). Structure and general characteristics of some of the most common parabens are found in Table II, at the end of this chapter.

2.2.1.1 Practical Properties of Parabens

Parabens possess antimicrobial activity, and this activity is known to improve as the alkyl chain of their structure gets longer (Petric et al., 2021). Indeed, it is likely that the secretion of parabens by plants protect them by preventing the development of bacteria, fungi, moulds, and yeasts (Nowak et al., 2018; Soni et al., 2005). Thus, this practical antimicrobial property explains

the use of parabens as preserving agents in PCPs to prevent spoiling and to enhance shelf life and quality.

2.2.1.2 Toxic Properties of Parabens

The exposure to parabens can potentially have a negative impact on human health and various health issues have been linked to this family of synthetic chemicals. Indeed, parabens possess endocrine-disrupting properties and were reported to perturb the activities of steroidal sex hormones (Nowak et al., 2018). The principal sex hormones are testosterone, estrogen, and progesterone, all present in both men and women. Testosterone is the principal male sex hormone, whereas estrogens and progesterone are the two principal female sex hormones. Together, these hormones are involved in several physiological phenomena, including reproduction (Gildner, 2021). Parabens have the ability to imitate estrogens through their estrogenic activity (Nowak et al., 2022). Indeed, parabens copy endo-estrogens through their capacity to bind to estrogen receptors alpha (ER α) and beta (ER β) (Nowak et al., 2001). Studies suggested that binding affinity of parabens augmented with increasing length of alkyl chains and increasing branching (Błędzka et al., 2014; Boberg et al., 2010; Okubo et al., 2001).

Parabens can also interfere with the activity of enzymes. Specifically, parabens can hinder the activities of 17 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 1 (17 β -HSD1), an enzyme that activates estrogen, and 17 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2 (17 β -HSD2), an enzyme that deactivates estrogen (Engeli et al., 2017). The enzymes 17 β -HSD1 and 17 β -HSD2 participate in steroidogenesis – the process of steroid hormone production (Miller & Auchus, 2011) – and are integral to maintaining a hormonal balance between highly active and weakly active estrogens (Engeli et al., 2017). In addition, Prusakiewicz et al. (2007) have reported that parabens can inhibit the activity of estrogen sulfotransferases, which are enzymes expressed in the skin. Thus, parabens are suspected of having anti-androgenic (Nowak et al., 2018; Özdemir et al., 2018) and estrogenic properties (Engeli et al., 2017), in consequence disrupting sex hormones' activity.

Parabens may disrupt the functioning of thyroid hormones (Liang et al., 2022) as well. Thyroid hormones thyroxine (T4) and triiodothyronine (T3) are produced by the thyroid gland. Iodine – an indispensable element for thyroid hormones – and the pituitary gland's production of thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) are responsible of controlling thyroid hormones' production (Nowak et al., 2018), among other processes. Thyroid hormones are key participants in processes such as metabolism of proteins, neural development, and brain function among many others (Mondal et al., 2016).

2.2.1.2.1 In vitro Studies on Parabens

An *in vitro* study that conducted a yeast estrogen screen has shown that the assay allowed to demonstrate the estrogenic activity of methyl, ethyl, propyl, and butyl paraben (Routledge et al., 1998). However, their estrogenicity was much weaker than estradiol's (an estrogen) (Routledge et al., 1998). The least estrogenically active paraben – methyl paraben – had an estrogenic potency that was 2,500,000 times weaker than estradiol (Routledge et al., 1998). The paraben with the strongest estrogenicity – butyl paraben – had a estrogenic potency that was 10,000 weaker than estradiol (Routledge et al., 1998).

Parabens may also affect thyroid hormones and their receptors. A study that has investigated parabens' effect on thyroid receptors through an *in vitro* assay using GH3 cells – which are rat pituitary tumour cells (van den Brand et al., 2019) – found that methyl, ethyl, propyl, and butyl paraben all exerted agonistic effects (Liang et al., 2022). Another study has shown through an *in vitro* assay that butyl paraben acted as a weak thyroid hormone receptor agonist, thus increasing GH3 cell proliferation (Taxvig et al., 2008).

2.2.1.2.2 Animal Studies on Parabens

In vivo studies have reported impacts on estrogenicity and androgenicity following paraben exposure. In male rats, sperm count and testosterone concentrations were reported to have decreased following exposure to propyl paraben and butyl paraben (Oishi, 2001; Oishi, 2002). In female Sprague-Dawley rats that were orally given different parabens daily (62.5, 250, and 1000 mg/kg body weight/day), it was reported that the onset of the vaginal opening phenomenon occurred late when given 1000 mg/kg body weight/day of methyl paraben for instance (Vo et al., 2010).

Parabens may also exert endocrine effects on thyroid hormones. One study reported that exposure to parabens in zebrafish had perturbed the production of thyroid hormones which led to negative effects on the embryos and larvae, thus affecting the early development of zebrafish (Liang et al., 2022). The exposure to parabens also had an impact on the expression of genes in the

hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis (Liang et al., 2022). Thyroid hormone levels also decreased following paraben exposure (Liang et al., 2022). Differently, an *in vivo* study conducted on Wistar rats reported that ethyl and butyl paraben did not have any effect on T3 and T4 levels (Taxvig et al., 2008).

Regarding other effects of paraben exposure, a study has found that parabens were involved in adipocyte differentiation in mice and that this ability increased with longer alkyl chain length, meaning this chemical family could play a role in obesity (Hu et al., 2013). Behavioural changes and developmental abnormalities in zebrafish following ethyl paraben and butyl paraben exposure were reported in another study (Merola et al., 2020).

2.2.1.2.3 Human Studies on Parabens

A study on female university students in Japan (n=128) has shown that exposure to parabens decreases the duration of the menstrual cycle (Nishihama et al., 2016). In consequence, the study suggests that parabens may be involved in infertility among females (Nishihama et al., 2016). A different study investigating the impact of paraben exposure on the ovarian reserve of women attending an infertility clinic in Poland (n=511) has reported a decrease of estradiol following the exposure to propyl paraben (Jurewicz et al., 2020). The authors suggested that long-term exposure to propyl paraben may be involved in fecundity and fertility issues (Jurewicz et al., 2020). Another study in which participants were 156 men attending a fertility clinic has found a positive association between exposure to parabens and sperm disomic for chromosomes (Jurewicz et al., 2017). Thus, such results suggest that exposure to parabens may lead to reproductive issues in women.

In concern with parabens' disruption of thyroid hormones, a study on 454 pregnant women found an association between increasing propyl paraben exposure and decreasing TSH (Berger et al., 2018). In another study also including pregnant women (n=106), it was shown that as butyl paraben exposure increased, maternal free T4 concentrations increased as well (Aker et al., 2018). This study also found that propyl paraben exposure decreased maternal free T4, and methyl paraben increased total T4 in mothers (Aker et al., 2018). A cross-sectional study involving 1,831 individuals has found a negative association between paraben exposure and thyroid hormone concentrations in adults, mainly in adult women (Koeppe et al., 2013).

2.2.1.3 Toxicokinetics of Parabens

Frequent and widespread use of parabens means human exposure is common. As PCPs are designed to be utilized externally (Harikishore Kumar Reddy, 2017), parabens contained in products are absorbed dermally after product application (Seo et al., 2017). According to an *in vitro* study, when propyl paraben was applied on rat skin, 30% penetrated the skin unaltered (Bando et al., 1997). Another *in vitro* study reported that 60% of methyl paraben, 40% of ethyl paraben, and 20% of propyl paraben penetrated rabbit skin following eight hours of contact with the skin (Pedersen et al., 2007). For human skin samples (epidermis-dermis layers, 36 hours following body lotion application), 0.057% of methyl paraben, 0.045% of ethyl paraben, 0.028% of propyl paraben, and 0.007% of butyl paraben had permeated in skin (El Hussein et al., 2007).

Following their absorption, parabens are metabolized by first undergoing hydrolysis performed by esterases (Seo et al., 2017) and are converted to *para*-hydroxybenzoic acid, thus summarizing the first phase of their biotransformation (Nowak et al., 2018). Afterwards, glucuronidation is performed by UDP-glucuronosyltransferase enzymes in the liver, therefore allowing the conjugation to sulfate, glucuronide, or glycine during this second phase of parabens biotransformation (Abbas et al., 2010; Nowak et al., 2018).

The conjugated metabolites of parabens are then excreted through urine and bile (Boberg et al., 2010). In blood and urine, it is generally unlikely to detect unaltered parabens and more common to detect metabolites of parabens (Boberg et al., 2010). Regarding excretion, Moos et al. (2016) has reported lower urinary excretion of parent parabens with a longer alkyl chain. It is reported that 17.4% of methyl paraben, 8.6% of propyl paraben, and 5.6% of butyl paraben were excreted in their free or conjugated forms -i.e., unchanged -in human urine following oral intake, for instance (Moos et al., 2016; Shin et al., 2019).

Parabens' half-life in humans is less than 24 hours, which indicates that they are metabolized quickly (Leppert et al., 2020).

2.2.2 Phenols

Phenols are chemical compounds composed of a benzene ring which is substituted with at least one hydroxyl (–OH) group (Issaoui et al., 2020). It is possible to find compounds of this chemical family in plants and medicinal herbs, as well as essential oils (Floris et al., 2021; Huang

et al., 2010). Phenolic compounds found in nature are known for their ability to prevent bacterial growth (Floris et al., 2021). However, most phenols used commercially in PCPs are manufactured industrially, some of the most common being triclosan and benzophenone-3 (Vindenes et al., 2021). In addition, bisphenols such as bisphenol A (BPA), bisphenol F (BPF) and bisphenol S (BPS), are also used in the production of several PCPs (Dodson et al., 2020; Fisher et al., 2019; Liao & Kannan, 2014). The chemical family of phenols is one of growing concern because it is composed of substances suspected to be EDCs and numerous studies have suggested that the exposure to phenols is harmful to humans' health, as better explained in the next sections. Structure and general characteristics of some common phenols are presented in Table III, at the end of this chapter.

2.2.2.1 Practical Properties of Phenols

Phenols are commonly used in consumer products and PCPs because of their antibacterial property. It is due to its antibacterial activity that triclosan is found in several products such as deodorants, hand soap, and toothpaste (Dodson et al., 2020) and acts as a microbicide (Nakiwala et al., 2020). Benzophenone-3, also known as oxybenzone, is a phenol incorporated in products as an ultraviolet radiation filter (Dodson et al., 2012; Nakiwala et al., 2020). Thus, it is commonly found in sunscreens, cosmetics, and various other PCPs (Wnuk et al., 2022). As for bisphenols, they are detected in PCPs primarily because of contamination by product packaging containing bisphenols (Lu et al., 2018). In fact, materials like polycarbonate plastics and epoxy resins are composed of bisphenols (Nakiwala et al., 2020).

2.2.2.2 Toxic Properties of Phenols

Exposure to substances in the chemical family of phenols may be detrimental to human health. Phenols are suspected of modulating steroidal sex hormones and thyroid hormones (Aker et al., 2016; Le Fol et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2016; Yoon & Kwack, 2021) and possessing estrogenic and anti-androgenic potencies (Le Fol et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2016; Yoon & Kwack, 2021). Phenol exposure was also reported to disrupt thyroid hormones' (Kim & Park, 2019). Since phenols are incorporated in a wide range of PCPs, their potential health toxicity is concerning.

2.2.2.1 In vitro Studies on Phenols

A study has reported that different phenols' were capable of activating various hormone receptors by using recombined yeast strains for their investigation (Li et al., 2010). For instance,

BPA was reported to be an agonist of ER α and 2,4-dichlorophenol was found to be an antagonist for androgen receptor (Li et al., 2010).

Other *in vitro* studies have assessed the estrogenic activity of BPS and BPF. The estrogenic and androgenic activity of BPF was reported in many in vitro experiments (Molina-Molina et al., 2013; Rosenmai et al., 2014; Satoh et al., 2004). Several studies reported that BPS possessed lower estrogenicity than estradiol following assays realised with nuclear receptor models (Grignard et al., 2012; Molina-Molina et al., 2013; Teng et al., 2013). Molina-Molina et al. (2013) have also reported in their study that BPS exerted androgenic potency. Through an assay using modified human osteosarcoma cells, one study reported that both BPF (luminescence value of 125.48 \pm 23.94%) and BPS (luminescence value of 98.74 \pm 12.07%) have estrogenic potency that is weaker than that of BPA (luminescence value of 137.21 \pm 16.62%) (Shao et al., 2021). Luminescence values were relative to estradiol's maximum activity, which represented the value of 100% (Shao et al., 2021).

For other phenols, triclosan's estrogenicity was shown through *in vitro* assay results of some studies (Huang et al., 2014; Yoon & Kwack, 2021) and benzophenone-3 was reported to be an antagonist of the estrogen receptor and androgen receptor as a result *in vitro* assays as well (Molina-Molina et al., 2008; Schreurs et al., 2005). One study has also shown that benzophenone-3 acts as an agonist towards the thyroid receptor *in vitro* (Schmutzler et al., 2007).

2.2.2.2.2 Animal Studies on Phenols

Studies conducted on mice have reported that BPA exposure decreased sperm production (Tainaka et al., 2012) and sperm motility (Rahman et al., 2017; Tainaka et al., 2012). Similarly in rats, a study found that exposure to BPA reduced sperm production and motility (Tiwari & Vanage, 2013). According to this study, an increase in damages in rat sperm DNA was observed following exposure to BPA (Tiwari & Vanage, 2013). Another animal study has shown that BPS exerted estrogenicity in rats following exposure for three days (Yamasaki et al., 2004). One study exposing neonatal female rats to BPA and BPS reported alterations in folliculogenesis, and infertility in adult female rats (Ahsan et al., 2018).

Phenol exposure can affect thyroid hormones as well. For both BPF and BPS, a study found that they alter T4 and T3 concentrations in zebrafish (S. Lee et al., 2019). In rats, exposure to BPF

lowered T3 levels and increased T4 levels (Higashihara et al., 2007). In zebrafish, decreases in gonad weight were noticed following the exposure to BPS (Ji et al., 2013). BPA can act as an antagonist of the thyroid hormone receptor and be capable to bind to this receptor (Kim & Park, 2019) and exposure to triclosan was shown to reduce total serum T4 in a dose-dependent fashion in rats (Zorrilla et al., 2009).

2.2.2.3 Human Studies on Phenols

In humans, a study involving men (n=191) who attended a clinic for assisted reproduction reported that spermatozoa number and motility were adversely affected by BPA in semen (Vitku et al., 2016). Triclosan exposure was also linked to lesser quality of sperm and atypical sperm morphology according to a study involving Polish males attending an infertility clinic (n=315) (Jurewicz et al., 2018). In women undergoing fertility treatment (n=209), exposure to BPA was linked with follicle loss according to one study (Souter et al., 2013). BPA exposure was also associated with a reduction in estradiol levels and in the amount of typically fertilized oocytes among 174 women undergoing in vitro fertilization (Ehrlich et al., 2012). Not all studies have found associations between BPA exposure and adverse reproductive health effects. In fact, one study on 1,742 women in their first trimester of pregnancy found no association between BPA and decrease of fecundity (Vélez et al., 2015). However, this study did report an association between triclosan exposure and decrease in fecundity among 1,699 pregnant women in their first trimester (Vélez et al., 2015).

Regarding thyroid hormones, a cross-sectional study involving 2,340 adults has reported, only in men, a negative correlation between BPA exposure and serum concentrations of free (Sriphrapradang et al., 2013). Another study (n=3,394) reported that a high urinary BPA concentration was linked to increased thyroid function (Wang et al., 2013). This study equally reported that, in men and women, high urinary BPA was associated with higher serum free T3 and lower serum TSH (Wang et al., 2013). A study on pregnant women (n=439) (Aker et al., 2018) and a study on women attempting to obtain medically assisted reproduction (n=317) (Skarha et al., 2019) reported that triclosan exposure was inversely associated with T3 and T4 concentrations. For benzophenone-3, one study found that the chemical was negatively associated with T3 and T4, but positively associated with TSH (Aker et al., 2018).

2.2.1.3 Toxicokinetics of Phenols

Bisphenols, such as BPA, can be absorbed dermally in the event of a direct contact with human skin (Toner et al., 2018). A study using an *in vitro* method has shown that 8.6% of the applied BPA dose penetrated human skin after 24 hours (Demierre et al., 2012). Another study using human skin reported that the percutaneous absorption of BPA is of 1.7–3.6% after 24 hours (Toner et al., 2018).

In humans, metabolization of bisphenols involve glucuronidation and sulfation (Durcik et al., 2022). For instance, when metabolized in human skin, BPA is converted into BPA-glucuronide and BPA-sulfate during the second phase of biotransformation (Toner et al., 2018; Zalko et al., 2011). In general, for mammals, the metabolization of BPA also involves glucuronidation by UDP-glucuronosyltransferases to produce BPA-glucuronide and sulfation to produce BPA-sulfate (Jalal et al., 2018).

Following their metabolization, bisphenols are excreted in urine (Y.-X. Wang et al., 2019). In fact, it has been shown that after its metabolization, BPA metabolites are eliminated via the urine in humans (Jalal et al., 2018). One human study has shown that, following dermal exposure, 0.71-8.3% of free BPA was found in urine (Liu & Martin, 2017). In the general Canadian population, urinary total BPA concentration was reported to be $1.1 \mu g/L$, for example (geometric mean) (Health Canada, 2015).

For triclosan and benzophenone-3, the substances undergo hydroxylation during the first phase of biotransformation followed by glucuronidation and sulfonation during the second phase of biotransformation (Wang & Kannan, 2013; Wu et al., 2010). Triclosan and benzophenone-3 are principally eliminated through urine as well (Sandborgh-Englund et al., 2006; Wang & Kannan, 2013).

Half-lives of phenols vary. For example, triclosan's half-life specific to urinary excretion was of 11 hours (Sandborgh-Englund et al., 2006). Following oral exposure in humans, the urinary excretion half-life of BPA ranged from 1 to 3 hours (Thayer et al., 2015) and the terminal half-life of BPS was of around 6 hours (Oh et al., 2018).

2.2.3 Phthalates

The esters of phthalic acid are the substances more commonly known as phthalates and are synthetic chemicals widely used as plasticizers (Koniecki et al., 2011). This chemical family is composed of low-molecular weight phthalates and high-molecular weight phthalates (Pagoni et al., 2022). These substances are included in PCPs to increase the products' lifespan and offer stability (Pagoni et al., 2022). In addition, phthalates are added to plastics because to improve pliability and softness (Karačonji et al., 2017). Phthalates can be found in PCPs that have plastic packaging (Wang & Qian, 2021) and more precisely in creams, lotions, cosmetics, hair products, nail polish, baby diapers, and feminine hygiene products, to name a few (Pagoni et al., 2022). Phthalates that can be found in PCPs are dimethyl phthalate, diethyl phthalate, di-n-butyl phthalate (dibutyl phthalate), and di-isobutyl phthalate (Parlett et al., 2013). For instance, dimethyl phthalate can be found in hair products, whereas dibutyl phthalate can be found in nail polishes (Wang & Qian, 2021). In addition to this, dibutyl phthalate and diethyl phthalate, are used in fragrances and to promote colour maintenance (Parlett et al., 2013). As for di-isobutyl phthalate, it is mainly used as a plasticizer (Wang & Qian, 2021). Since phthalates do not form chemical bindings with the plastics they are added to, they can easily evaporate or migrate off of the material (Karačonji et al., 2017). Despite the usefulness of plastics, phthalates are suspected to have endocrine-disrupting potency and have been linked to adverse health effects such as reproductive disorders (Hlisníková et al., 2020). Structure and general characteristics of a few common phthalates are presented in Table IV, at the end of this chapter.

2.2.3.1 Practical Properties of Phthalates

Phthalates are primarily used for their plasticizing properties. For instance, phthalates – such as di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate (Ramadan et al., 2020) – are added to plastics known as polyvinyl chloride as softeners (Wang & Qian, 2021). Other phthalates, such as diethyl phthalate and dibutyl phthalate are added to PCPs as solvents to make scents and colours durable (Cao, 2010).

2.2.3.2 Toxic Properties of Phthalates

Phthalates exert multiple adverse effects on human health and have been labelled as EDCs. It has been suggested that the chemicals of this family have estrogenic and anti-androgenic potencies, like many other EDCs (Chen et al., 2014; De Falco et al., 2015). This means that phthalates are capable of imitating estrogens (Morgan et al., 2017) and can also behave as antiandrogens (Hlisníková et al., 2020). In fact, phthalates are known to impact hormone receptors' activities by activating estrogen receptors ER α and ER β , and inhibiting the androgen receptor (Engel et al., 2017). Phthalate exposure can also alter thyroid hormone concentrations (Meeker & Ferguson, 2011). With such impact on hormones, exposure to phthalates may increase the risk of onset of several health disorders.

2.2.3.2.1 In vitro Studies on Phthalates

A study using luciferase reporter gene assays found that dibutyl phthalate, mono-butyl phthalate, and di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate exerted antiandrogenic potency, and androgenic potency (Shen et al., 2009). Using *in vitro* techniques to study phthalates' estrogenic activity – such as estrogen receptor competitive ligand-binding, as well as mammalian and yeast-based analyses – one study found that the metabolites of di-butyl phthalate were weakly estrogenic (Zacharewski et al., 1998). Results from a different *in vitro* assay performed in this study showed that dibutyl phthalate exerted a weak estrogenic activity (Shen et al., 2009). Another study has shown that butyl benzyl phthalate and dibutyl phthalate exert estrogenicity *jn vitro* and were reported to provoke estrogen receptor transactivity (Ghisari & Bonefeld-Jorgensen, 2009).

Phthalates were equally reported to exert activity similar to that of thyroid hormones, as reported by one study (Ghisari & Bonefeld-Jorgensen, 2009). Dibutyl phthalate, mono-butyl phthalate, and di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate were also reported to act as antagonists towards thyroid receptors (Shen et al., 2009). Additionally, phthalates may induce alterations in the uptake of iodine by thyroid follicular cells, which can change the concentration of thyroid hormone T4 in consequence (Breous et al., 2005; Wenzel et al., 2005). A study that used a thyroid receptor gene assay using an African clawed frog cell line reported that benzyl butyl phthalate, dibutyl phthalate and di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate acted as antagonists for T3 (Sugiyama et al., 2005).

2.2.3.2.1 Animal Studies on Phthalates

Phthalate exposure may alter steroid sex hormone levels and lead to reproductive issues. For instance, in rats, a study reported that di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate exposure led to higher serum testosterone and estradiol levels (Akingbemi et al., 2004). One study reported that maternal di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate exposure in mice has decreased viability of sperm by 20%, daily production of sperm had by 30%, and epididymal sperm count by 70% in adult male offspring mice (Fiandanese et al., 2016). In female rats chronically treated with dibutyl phthalate from weaning to

pregnancy, litter size decrease was associated with lower serum progesterone concentrations when the examination of females took place during gestational day 13 (Gray et al., 2006). The exposure to dibutyl phthalate perturbed the development of reproductive organs in male rats, along with a reduction in fertility (Mahood et al., 2007) and the apparition of benign tumours in Leydig cells (Mylchreest et al., 2002), which are cells known to produce androgens like testosterone (Zirkin & Papadopoulos, 2018).

Among Sprague-Dawley rats, exposure to di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate decreased T3 and T4 concentrations (C. Liu et al., 2015). This study suggests that di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate exposure may negatively affect thyroid hormone biosynthesis and transport for instance (C. Liu et al., 2015). Adolescent male Sprague-Dawley rats exposed to di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate (0.75 and 150 mg/kg/day) has lower concentrations of serum T4 (Kim et al., 2021). In mice, maternal exposure to di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate decreased free T3 concentrations in the brain of male fetuses (Lv et al., 2022).

Among other adverse impacts, phthalate exposure altered heart rate and decreased length of the body from head to tail in zebrafish (H. Lee et al., 2019).

2.2.3.2.2 Human Studies on Phthalates

In humans, phthalates are reported to increase the concentrations of estrogens like estradiol, a change that can induce the appearance of reproductive health disorders in females (Hlisníková et al., 2020). A study has found that the exposure to several phthalates were linked to decreased concentrations of serum testosterone not only in males, but females as well (Meeker & Ferguson, 2014). In one study involving men consulting a fertility clinic (n=425), phthalate exposure reduced not only testosterone levels, but estradiol levels equally, thus showing phthalates' impact on sex hormones (Meeker et al., 2009). Phthalate exposure was reported to decrease testosterone concentrations in a study involving 1,768 adults (Zhu et al., 2022). This study also reported a positive association between mono(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate and estradiol levels (Zhu et al., 2022). One study reported that, among postmenopausal women (n=557), di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate exposure was associated with decreased concentrations of estradiol and testosterone (Long et al., 2021).

For thyroid hormones, a study (n=2,208) has shown that metabolites of di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate were inversely associated with total T4, free T4, and total T3 (Meeker & Ferguson, 2014).

This study also reported that reduced thyroid hormone concentrations were linked to one urinary metabolite of dibutyl phthalate, mono(3-carboxypropyl) phthalate (Meeker & Ferguson, 2014). One study involving 408 adult men found that urinary mono(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate concentration was negatively associated with serum free T4 and T3 (Meeker et al., 2007). In another study involving 509 men, a negative association was reported between urinary monoethyl phthalate concentration and serum thyroid hormone levels (Wang et al., 2018). In consequence, this result was related to altered semen quality (Wang et al., 2018). One study on pregnant women (n=76) reported a negative association between concentrations of T4 and free T4, and urinary mono-butyl phthalate concentration (Huang et al., 2007).

2.2.3.3. Toxicokinetics of Phthalates

PCPs containing phthalates that are used directly on the skin are absorbed (Pagoni et al., 2022). For example, a study conducted on hairless guinea pigs determined that 62% of the applied dose of dibutyl phthalate was absorbed 24 hours following dermal application (Doan et al., 2010). For human skin, one study either covered the skin with a Teflon cap or left it uncovered following application of diethyl phthalate (Mint et al., 1994). For uncovered human skin, the absorption of diethyl phthalate was of 4.8% of the applied dose following 72 hours (Mint et al., 1994).

Once phthalates are absorbed, they undergo hydrolyzation during their first step of biotransformation (Frederiksen et al., 2007; Wang & Qian, 2021). During the second phase of their biotransformation, enzymes such as the uridine 5'-diphosphoglucuronyl transferase initiates the conjugation reaction to produce a glucuronide conjugate (Frederiksen et al., 2007).

The conjugated form is later eliminated through urinary excretion (Frederiksen et al., 2007). In humans, following dermal application, 5.79% of diethyl phthalate and 1.82% of dibutyl phthalate were found in urine in the form of metabolites (Janjua et al., 2008). Furthermore, urinary concentrations of total (*i.e.*, free and conjugated forms) monoethyl phthalate for example was of 96.2 ng/mL in humans (n=269) (Meeker et al., 2012). A metabolite of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate, mono-2-ethyl-5-carboxypentyl phthalate, had a urinary concentration of 21 ng/mL for the total of its free and conjugated forms (Meeker et al., 2012).

In general, phthalates are quickly eliminated following exposure (Basso et al., 2022). The biological half-life of phthalates lasts around 12 hours (Hoppin et al., 2002). However, our

exposure to these phthalates is incessant due to their widespread environmental existence (Basso et al., 2022).

2.2.4 Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS)

Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), also known as the "forever chemicals" (Cao & Ng, 2021), are manmade chemicals with one or several perfluorinated methyl groups (–CF₃) or perfluorinated methylene group (–CF₂–) (Panieri et al., 2022). This chemical family can be divided into two groups: the legacy PFAS and the emerging PFAS (Meegoda et al., 2020). Legacy PFAS have a chemical structure composed of a longer chain, whereas emerging PFAS are compounds composed of a smaller and are novel substitutes to the chemicals of the legacy chemicals (Meegoda et al., 2020; Nian et al., 2022). Legacy PFAS include perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) (Meegoda et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2022). Emerging PFAS are composed of a short chain; an example is hexafluoropropylene oxide dimer acid (GenX) (Heidari et al., 2021). Chemicals of the PFAS family are found in various products, from foam used to suppress fires to PCPs (Ragnarsdóttir et al., 2022). PFAS have been linked to several health problems in humans (Fenton et al., 2021), therefore the exposure to this group of chemicals is of high concern. Structure and general characteristics of some PFAS can be found in Table V, at the end of this chapter.

2.2.4.1 Practical Properties of PFAS

PFAS are known for being greatly stable chemicals, resistant to chemical or thermal degradation (Panieri et al., 2022). Hence, PFAS have been largely utilized in chemical processes and as surfactants in the industry (Brase et al., 2021). In addition to this, PFAS have several other useful properties such as being waterproof, greaseproof, and non-stick (Pelch et al., 2019). Therefore, they are commonly applied to cookware to ensure they are non-stick (Ramírez Carnero et al., 2021).

2.2.4.2 Toxic Properties of PFAS

PFAS are highly persistent chemicals that are worrying for human health, despite the discontinuation of the production of several substances in this group (Brase et al., 2021). Indeed, these substances are reported to have endocrine-disrupting properties and interfere with humans' hormonal system (Kar et al., 2017). Inconsistent evidence exists regarding the effect of PFAS on

hormones, but it has been reported that PFAS can disrupt estrogen and androgen receptors' activity (Du et al., 2013; Kjeldsen & Bonefeld-Jørgensen, 2013). PFAS have several toxic features such as hepatotoxicity (Fenton et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2022), immunotoxicity, and reproductive toxicity (Fenton et al., 2021). Additionally, the exposure to PFAS may be toxic to the thyroid (Kar et al., 2017).

2.2.4.2.1 In vitro Studies on PFAS

An *in vitro* study using a human androgen receptor mediated luciferase reporter gene assay reported that three of five studied PFAS possessed antiandrogenic activity and affected the testosterone-stimulated androgen receptor's activation (Tachachartvanich et al., 2022). For the same three PFAS, the study equally reported that they acted as competitive antagonists of the androgen receptor (Tachachartvanich et al., 2022). Another study investigating the estrogenicity of chemical compounds has reported that both PFOA and PFOS had estrogenic potency in different assays (Henry & Fair, 2013). Differently, both PFOA and PFOS were reported to not exert estrogenicity by a study that investigated the two PFAS's estrogenic activity on hormone-dependent breast cancer cells (Sonthithai et al., 2016).

In relation to thyroid hormones, an *in vitro* study reported that PFOS had an agonistic effect on the thyroid hormone receptor in rat pituitary cancer cells (Xin et al., 2018). A different *in vitro* study found that PFOA and PFOS diminished the activity of the enzyme thyroid peroxidase – which is essential in the synthesis of thyroid hormones – in human follicular thyroid carcinoma cells (Song et al., 2012).

2.2.4.2.2 Animal Studies on PFAS

PFAS exposure can affect sex hormone levels and may engender reproductive problems in animals. Indeed, exposure to PFOS was related to a decrease in testosterone concentrations in rodents (L. Li et al., 2018; López-Doval et al., 2014). In mice, spermatogenesis was disrupted, and sperm count was decreased following exposure to PFOA (W. Liu et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2014). One study reported that PFOA can provoke estrogenic response in rainbow trout liver; however, the mechanism behind this phenomenon is not yet known (Tilton et al., 2008).

PFOS exposure in adult male rats lowered T4 and T3 concentrations, but TSH concentrations were not impacted (Davidsen et al., 2022). Another study reported that exposure to PFOS in

Sprague-Dawley male rats lowered serum concentration of total T4 (Yu et al., 2009). One study investigated the exposure to perfluorohexane sulfonate in rat dams and their offspring and reported a dose-dependent decrease in thyroid hormone concentrations (Ramhøj et al., 2020). In male cynomologous monkeys that were fed PFOA for 6 months, lower T3 and total T3 concentrations were reported among the group that was fed the highest doses (30 and 20 mg/kg/day) (Butenhoff et al., 2002).

Among other adverse effects, exposure to PFAS may alter the metabolism of hepatocytes and allow lipids to collect in the liver (Fenton et al., 2021). In rodents, toxicological studies have shown that PFAS exposure led to apoptosis, necrosis, and increase of hepatocytes (Fenton et al., 2021).

2.2.4.2.3 Human Studies on PFAS

Steroid sex hormones and their receptors are also affected by PFAS exposure. PFAS have been reported to exert anti-androgenic properties by obstructing the binding of testosterone to the human androgen receptor (Tachachartvanich et al., 2022). In recent studies, exposure to PFAS was linked to lower estradiol concentrations in females (Xie et al., 2021) and exposure to PFOA and PFOS was associated with lower free testosterone concentrations in males' semen (Cui et al., 2020). Differently, a cross-sectional study found that elevated concentrations of testosterone were correlated to high serum concentrations of PFOA in males (n=212) (Di Nisio et al., 2018). In children (n=2,292), a study reported that PFAS exposure lowers the concentrations of sex hormones (Lopez-Espinosa et al., 2016). Reproductive issues may develop following PFAS exposure. In women, reproductive hormone concentrations and fertility are negatively impacted by PFAS, among many other reproductive health effects (Rickard et al., 2022). Indeed, many studies showed that exposure to PFOA and PFOS was associated with polycystic ovary syndrome and infertility in women (Heffernan et al., 2018; Vagi et al., 2014; W. Wang et al., 2019). In a crosssectional study involving 383 young men, exposure to PFOA and PFAS was linked to smaller size of the penis and decreased volume of testicles (Di Nisio et al., 2018). Additionally, PFAS exposure may lead to poorer semen quality (Di Nisio et al., 2018; Pan et al., 2019).

The synthesis of thyroid hormones is also impacted by PFAS exposure, altering the concentrations of these hormones (Coperchini et al., 2020). Moreover, exposure to PFOA and PFOS has been linked to the development of hypothyroidism (Coperchini et al., 2017), which

causes a deficiency of thyroid hormone (McDermott, 2020). Occupational exposure to PFOA was negatively associated with free T4 levels and positively associated with T3 levels among 506 production workers from three different production sites according to one study (Olsen & Zobel, 2007). In contrast, a study investigating exposure to PFOA in an exposed community (n=371) did not find any association between serum PFOA concentration and residents with thyroid or liver disease history (Emmett et al., 2006). Another study involving workers of two different locations who were occupationally exposed found that PFOS concentration was positively associated with T3 concentrations according to a longitudinal analysis over six years of 174 male employees (Olsen et al., 2003).

PFAS exposure can equally increase cholesterol concentrations in the circulation and restrain the immunological response through several mechanisms, such as decreasing antibody concentrations (Fenton et al., 2021). Additionally, one cross-sectional study has reported that PFAS exposure in humans can engender lipids to infiltrate hepatocytes, a health disorder also known as steatosis, which may lead to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (Bassler et al., 2019).

2.2.4.3 Toxicokinetics of PFAS

PCPs containing PFAS, such as mascara, can easily be absorbed by the body (Whitehead et al., 2021). For human skin, one study reported that following application around 24% of the applied PFOA dose permeated through skin samples after 24 hours (Franko et al., 2012). During their metabolism, PFAS generally undergo hydrolysis (Han et al., 2021). However, numerous PFAS are difficult to metabolize due to the several, very robust carbon and fluorine bonds they possess, conferring them a great chemical stability (Brase et al., 2021; Solan et al., 2022). In consequence, it seems that PFAS are not metabolized in tissues or in the liver, which lets the chemicals stay trapped in the body (Jeddi et al., 2022).

When PFAS are metabolized, they are principally eliminated through the urine (Jeddi et al., 2022). Although, PFAS can also be excreted in feces and breast milk, although in lesser quantities (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2021).

The half-lives of PFAS vary between short chain and long chain PFAS. In humans, a study estimated that the half-life of PFOS is 3.4 years and the half-life of PFOA is 2.7 years, both in blood serum (Y. Li et al., 2018). Another study reported that the serum half-life for both PFOS and PFOA ranged between two and four years in humans (Xu et al.). The half-life of one short chain
PFAS, perfluoropentane sulfonic acid, was reported to last less than a year (Nicole, 2020). Two other short chain PFAS, perfluorobutanoic acid and perfluoroheptanoic acid, have half-lives of 0.12 years and 0.17 years, respectively (Nicole, 2020).

2.2.5 Biomonitoring

The use of biomonitoring in order to study the exposure to EDCs has evolved and is the gold standard for exposure assessment nowadays. However, it is a challenge to study exposure to certain chemicals due to the rapid metabolism of parent compounds. For example, this is the case for phthalate monoesters and phthalate di/esters (Calafat, 2016). Most biomarkers used for biomonitoring only allow to study recent, short-term exposure, making it challenging to assess exposures that are long-term and to chemicals with short half-lives (Arbuckle, 2010). In consequence, the exposure assessment of several chemicals is conducted by studying their metabolites' concentrations in biological matrices such as blood or urine which are the most commonly used for population-based studies in environmental epidemiology (Calafat, 2016).

2.3 Developmental Windows of Vulnerability

Conception, early childhood and adolescence are important windows of vulnerability to chemical exposure (Robledo et al., 2019). Developmental windows of vulnerability are critical periods during which a child is overly susceptible to chemicals (Carroquino et al., 2012). Exposure to some environmental substances, such as tobacco smoke and alcohol, early pregnancy is considered a critical window of vulnerability for fetuses (Robledo et al., 2019). Indeed, infants exposed to these toxicants during this stage can develop adverse health effects, such as congenital abnormalities and low birth weight (Robledo et al., 2019). Although fetal development is an established major window of vulnerability, it is imperative to study exposures during later periods of childhood and during adolescence, as they may have varying impacts on developing youth.

2.3.1 Childhood

Childhood is an important period of growth during which a child's organs (including their function), metabolism, body, and behaviour are all undergoing growth and maturation. The exposure and metabolism of chemicals are different in children compared to adults (Etzel, 2020). For each unit of their body weight, children tend to have breathing, drinking, and ingestion rates

that are considerably higher than adults (Hauptman & Woolf, 2017). Due to this, children are more significantly exposed to environmental chemicals according to the weight of their bodies (Hauptman & Woolf, 2017). Also, it is common for young kids to have hand-to-mouth habit and play near the ground, which exposes them to chemicals present in their environment through routes different than those adults are exposed through (Carroquino et al., 2012; Xue et al., 2007). In addition, children are more susceptible to chemical exposures because their metabolic capacities are not fully developed .

2.3.2 Adolescence

Adolescence refers to the period of life beginning with puberty and ending with adulthood, characterized with a myriad of biological and behavioural changes (Jaworska & MacQueen, 2015). Therefore, adolescence is a vulnerable stage for EDC exposure. All through this period, the function and structure of the brain undergo significant development (Arain et al., 2013). New habits appear with puberty and the ongoing brain development leading to the modification of an individual's health behaviours through adolescence (Viner et al., 2012). Adolescence is known as a developmental window (Jaworska & MacQueen, 2015) and many have also suggested that it is a window of vulnerability to both environmental stressors and chemicals (Bullert et al., 2021; Gomes et al., 2016).

Adolescence is characterized by hormonal transformations and physical changes induced by puberty (Best & Ban, 2021; Sawyer et al., 2018). On average, puberty will begin around 11 years of age for girls and 12 years of age for boys (Blakemore et al., 2010). Pubertal hormonal phenomena consist of the adrenal stress hormones' stimulation, the growth spurt, and the gonadotrophin-induced transformations in the ovaries or testicles (Sawyer et al., 2018). During adolescence, neuroendocrine development takes place due to puberty, making adolescents susceptible to chemical substances that imitate or inhibit hormones (Moorman et al., 2000; Romeo, 2018). The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis are also activated during this period of life through processes known as adrenarche and gonadarche (Blakemore et al., 2010; Romeo, 2005). In both boys and girls, the hypothalamus synthesizes the gonadotrophin hormone (GnRH) which leads to the luteinizing hormone's (LH) and the follicle stimulating hormone's (FSH) release (Best & Ban, 2021). Throughout the maturation stimulated by LH and FSH, the gonads produce the steroidal sex hormones estrogen (ovaries) and testosterone (testes) and start producing gametes, hence reaching reproductive competency (Blakemore et al., 2010).

These hormonal changes lead to several physical and biological changes equally in young people entering adolescence, such as the appearance of pubic hair; the beginning of menstruations and the appearance of breasts in females; the transformation of testicles in males; changing voice; and acne (Best & Ban, 2021; Blakemore et al., 2010). Many neurological changes occur as well, such as brain maturation (Best & Ban, 2021). Estrogen, progesterone, and testosterone hormones influence brain maturation in adolescents (Arain et al., 2013). Modulated by the increased concentrations of steroid sex hormones, the development of myelin sheaths and the neurocircuitry of the brain – both processes taking place in the central nervous system (CNS) – continue maturing during puberty (Arain et al., 2013).

With the knowledge that endocrine-disrupting chemicals can perturb hormonal activities, it is understandable that exposure to such toxicants during this sensitive period of life may be detrimental to young peoples' health and development.

2.3.2.1 Sociocultural standards and PCP use

Throughout adolescence, the sociocultural standards related to appearance and the concept of social acceptance greatly influence youth (Gustafsson et al., 2011). Such preoccupations can shape adolescents' behaviour and preferences as they seek to define themselves (McCaleb & Cull, 2000). For example, one study showed that sociocultural standards help shape self-care practices in adolescents aged 15 and 16 years (McCaleb & Cull, 2000). Marcoux (1999) mentions that an adolescent starts caring about their looks following their thirteenth birthday. Sociocultural pressure can stem from various sources such as parents, peers, significant others, and the media (Anić et al., 2022).

A common behaviour among adolescents is the use of PCPs such as cosmetics to beautify their appearance (Marcoux, 1999). With the knowledge that adolescents commonly develop skin problems such as acne due to puberty, it was revealed in a study that 64% of adolescents suffering from acneic skin were self-conscious about this condition (Ritvo et al., 2011). Indeed, 48% of the teenagers surveyed in Ritvo et al.'s (2011) study reported using concealer or makeup products to hide their acne. Applying cosmetics to hide imperfections may help adolescents meet the

sociocultural standards concerning appearance. However, teenagers' behaviour in relation to PCP use to better their attractiveness contributes to their exposure to chemicals found in PCPs.

2.5 Relevance of a Review

As described in the present review of literature, many chemicals possess endocrine-disrupting properties that are detrimental to human health. Children and adolescents may be particularly susceptible to the adverse effects of EDCs due to the physiological changes and maturation of their metabolic capacities that take place during these periods. However, few studies investigate the extent to which PCP usage contributes to the exposure to chemicals, especially in children and adolescents. Most human studies assess exposure patterns among adults. Experimental studies conducted on animal models do not reflect chemical exposure pathways among humans as these can be: 1) exposures to a mixture of chemicals; 2) exposures that are irregular; 3) to our knowledge, no animal study has attempted to study PCP use that is reflective of real-life usage of these products, which is characterized by multiple different products with complex and varied chemical concentrations. To add, findings of studies conducted on laboratory animals cannot be applied to humans due to interspecies biological differences.

PCPs are consumer products used by a wide range of individuals and various population groups. PCPs harbour chemicals such as parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS, all potential EDCs. A myriad of scientific studies has shown that EDCs can mimic many endogenous hormones – thus negatively affecting the nervous system and the reproductive system, for instance – and may trigger the development of critical health disorders, such as cancer, in humans.

Chemical Structure and Common Name	PubChem CID	Other Names	Sources of Exposure	Properties
HO Methylparaben	7456	Methyl 4- hydroxybenzoate, methyl p-hydroxybenzoate, 4- hydroxybenzoic acid methyl ester, Nipagin (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022k)	Shampoo, sunscreen, mascara, hair products, creams, baby products, lotions, cleansers, foundation, shaving gel (Consumer Product Information Database, n.dg)	
HO Ethylparaben	8434	Ethyl 4-hydroxybenzoate, Ethyl p-hydroxybenzoate, 4-hydroxybenzoic acid ethyl ester, Nipagin A (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022l)	Shampoo, creams, cleansers, cleansing pads, lotions, sunscreen, shaving gel/balm, mascara, foundation, hair dye (Consumer Product Information Database, n.df)	Antimicrobial (Petric et al., 2021)
HO Propylparaben	7175	Propyl 4-hydroxybenzoate, propyl p-hydroxybenzoate, 4-hydroxybenzoic acid propyl ester, Nipasol (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022i)	Shampoo, sunscreen, mascara, creams, lotions, cleansers, cleansing pads, shower gel (Consumer Product Information Database, n.dh)	
HO Butylparaben	7184	Butyl 4-hydroxybenzoate, Butyl p-hydroxybenzoate, 4-hydroxybenzoic acid butyl ester, Nipabutyl (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022j)	Creams, cleansers, face wash, shaving gel/balm, lipstick, sunscreen, cleansing pads, shampoo (Consumer Product Information Database, n.db)	

Table II. Chemical structure and general characteristics of most common parabens

Table III. Chemical structure and general characteristics of common phenols				
Chemical Structure and Common Name	PubChem CID	Other Names	Sources of Exposure	Properties
CI CI Triclosan	5564	5-Chloro-2-(2,4-dichloro- phenoxy)-phenol, 2,4,4'-Trichloro- 2'-hydroxydiphenyl ether, Cloxifenol (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022d)	Hand soap, soap bar, deodorant, body spray, toothpaste, shaving gel, cleansers, lipcolor, body wash (Consumer Product Information Database, n.di)	Antimicrobial (Dodson et al., 2020; Nakiwala et al., 2020)
Benzophenone-3 (also known as Oxybenzone)	4632	Oxybenzone, 2-hydroxy-4- methoxybenzophenone, (2-hydroxy-4- methoxyphenyl)(phenyl)methanone (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022c)	Sunscreen, lipstick, cleansing scrub, perfume, body spray, cologne, lip balm, face wash, creams, lipcolor (Consumer Product Information Database, n.da)	Ultraviolet rays filter (Dodson et al., 2012; Nakiwala et al., 2020)
HO Bisphenol A	6623	2,2-bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)propane, 4,4'-isopropylidenediphenol (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022e)		
HO Bisphenol F	12111	4,4'-methylenediphenol, Bis(4- hydroxyphenyl)methane (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022o)	Bath gels, body lotions, face cleansers, hand lotions, lipsticks, masks, shampoos, sunscreens, toothpastes	Plasticizer (Nakiwala et al., 2020)
HO Bisphenol S	6626	4,4'-sulfonyldiphenol, Bis(4- hydroxyphenyl) sulfone (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022f)	(Lu et al., 2018)	

Chemical Structure and Common Name	PubChem CID	Other Names	Sources of Exposure	Properties
Dimethyl phthalate	8554	Methyl phthalate (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022m)	Fragrance, insect repellents (for skin), plastics, molding powders, pesticides, solvents (Consumer Product Information Database, n.de)	
Diethyl phthalate	6781	Ethyl phthalate, Di- <i>n</i> - ethyl phthalate (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022g)	Cleansers, fragrance oils, plastics, air deodorizing products, laundry and dishwashing products, cleaning products (Consumer Product Information Database, n.dd)	Plasticizar
Di- <i>n</i> -butyl phthalate	3026	Dibutyl phthalate (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022b)	Nail polish, fragrance, plastics, solvents, cleaning products, colorant products (Consumer Product Information Database, n.dc)	(Koniecki et al., 2011)
Diisobutyl phthalate	6782	Di(<i>i</i> -butyl)phthalate, di- <i>l</i> - butyl phthalate, isobutyl phthalate (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022h)	Nail polish, cosmetics, clothing treatments, lacquers, paint pigments (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022a)	

Table IV. Chemical structures and general characteristics of common phthalates

Chemical Structure and Common Name	PubChem CID	Other Names	Sources of Exposure	Properties
F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	74483	Perfluorooctane sulfonate, 1,1,2,2,3,3,4,4,5,5,6,6,7,7,8,8,8- heptadecafluorooctane-1-sulfonic acid, heptadecafluorooctanesulfonic acid (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022p)	Cosmetics, fire-fighting foams, lubricants, paper coatings, surfactant, textiles (Li et al., 2022)	
F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	9554	Perfluorooctanoic acid, 2,2,3,3,4,4,5,5,6,6,7,7,8,8,8- Pentadecafluorooctanoic acid, pentadecafluorooctanoic acid (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022n)	Foundation, liquid makeup base, manicure products, lip rouge, lip gloss, lip balm, sunscreen (Fujii et al., 2013; Thépaut et al., 2021)	Waterproof, greaseproof, non- stick (Pelch et al., 2019)
F F F F F F F F F F	114481	2,3,3,3-tetrafluoro-2- (heptafluoropropoxy)propanoic acid, ammonium 2,3,3,3- tetrafluoro-2- (heptafluoropropoxy)propopoxypro panoic acid, hexafluoropropylene oxide dimer acid (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022q)	Fluoropolymer resins, wire cables, coatings (Hale et al., 2020)	

Table V. Chemical structure and general characteristics of common PFAS

III *Objective*

The objective of the present research is to provide an overview of biomonitoring studies that describe the concentrations of parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS following PCP use among children and adolescents aged 5 to 19 years old. Another aim was to identify if there are any gaps in knowledge in this area of research.

IV Methods

4.1 Scoping Review

Scoping reviews are described as an approach aimed at synthesizing evidence and establish the scope of available scientific studies on a particular subject (Munn et al., 2018). Following, is a recommended definition for this type of review:

A scoping review or scoping study is a form of knowledge synthesis that addresses an exploratory research question aimed at mapping key concepts, types of evidence, and gaps in research related to a defined area or field by systematically searching, selecting, and synthesizing existing knowledge. (Colquhoun et al., 2014, pp. 1292-1294)

Another definition by Grant and Booth (2009) describes the scoping review as a "preliminary assessment of potential size and scope of available research literature. Aims to identify nature and extent of research evidence (usually including ongoing research)" (p. 95). The exhaustiveness of the research conducted for a scoping review is influenced by limits on the available time and the range of studies, in addition there is no formal evaluation of the review's quality (Grant & Booth, 2009). Indeed, the time needed to complete a scoping review fluctuated from 2 weeks to 20 months and quality evaluation was rarely accomplished for this type of review according to the findings of Pham et al. (2014).

Alternatives to conducting a scoping review would be the systematic review, for example, which also has a rigorous methodology and allows to assess the quality of retained studies, thus increasing the quality of the review itself. Combined with a meta-analysis, a systematic review can provide a more quantitative analysis based on findings reported by the included publications. However, due to not knowing how diverse the existing studies on this rather recent subject are in terms of their characteristics, a scoping review was deemed as the adequate type of review. A scoping review allows to grasp the scope and nature of literature on this fairly novel topic and is a valuable method to provide an overview on this subject, which suits our study objective.

4.1.1 Framework for the scoping review

Five steps inspired by the methodology proposed by Arksey and O'Malley (2005) were followed for this scoping review: (1) identifying the research question, (2) identifying relevant studies, (3) study selection, (4) charting the data, and (5) collating, summarizing, and reporting the results. A supplementary step was also suggested by the authors of this framework: consultation exercise (Arksey & O'Malley, 2005). Since this stage was defined as optional by the authors (Arksey & O'Malley, 2005), it was not included in our scoping review's framework.

4.2 Research Question

We based our aim on the question "What is the exposure to chemicals found in PCPs among children and adolescents?". The aim of our research was to identify biomonitoring studies that describe the PCP use patterns of children and adolescents ages 5 to 19 years and their exposure to chemicals found in such products. Supplementary aims were to describe the characteristics of identified publications and identify if there are gaps in knowledge in this area of research.

4.3 Search Strategy

We conducted a systematic literature search on the three following databases: MEDLINE, Embase, and Global Health. Our goal was to identify studies that investigated parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS exposure via PCPs in participants in the age range of 5 to 19 years old. The search on each database identified literature that was published prior to September 2022. No restriction criteria were applied for the location, and date. Results retrieved from the search – which included the reference, title and abstract for each article – were imported into a screening and data extraction tool for systematic reviews: Covidence (Veritas Health Innovation). This programme removes identical duplicates following the import of references. Non-identical duplicates may not be removed. Therefore, verification during screening was important.

4.4 Study Selection

4.4.1 Inclusion Criteria and Exclusion Criteria

The following *a priori* inclusion criteria were applied: human studies including nonpregnant and not severely ill (*e.g.*, cancer) participants of ages 5 to 19 years old; studies that contained biomonitoring data on parabens, phenols, phthalates, PFAS, and PCP use data. No limits were applied regarding the language of articles or study design.

Articles with focus on maternal exposures, as well as reviews, commentaries, and abstracts only (such as conference abstracts) were excluded.

4.4.3 Screening

Screening of titles and abstracts was conducted to select articles focusing on the mentioned *a priori* inclusion criteria. When an article could not be excluded with certitude based on the examination of the title and abstract, it was considered as part of the eligible articles and its full-text was thoroughly analyzed. Following this, the full-texts of each study were assessed to determine its eligibility. During this step, we carefully excluded articles according to the exclusion criteria.

4.5 Charting the Data

For this scoping study, data charting refers to the organization and summarization of the key findings and data reported following the review of the final selected studies. For each retained study, both general and key information was entered in a form created with Microsoft Excel®. General information consisted of the name of the authors, the title and date of the article, the country or region of the study, the aim of the study, and the study design. Key information included characteristics of participants of interest, the biological matrix used to collect biomonitoring data, data collection methods (*e.g.*, interview, questionnaires, 24-hour recall), the measured chemicals and/or their metabolites, the studied PCPs, and a summary of the key findings.



Scientific Article

Childhood and Adolescent Exposure to Chemicals Found in Personal Care Products

Nahiyan S. Khan^{1,2}, Jillian Ashley-Martin³, Maryse F. Bouchard^{1,2*}

- 1. Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, School of Public Health, University of Montreal, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.
- CHU Sainte-Justine Research Center, Sainte-Justine University Hospital Center, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.
- Environmental Health Science and Research Bureau, Health Canada, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.

* Corresponding author. Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, School of Public Health, University of Montreal, C.P. 6128 Succursale Centre-Ville, Montreal, Quebec, H3C 3J7, Canada. *E-mail addresses:* <u>nahiyan.khan@umontreal.ca</u> (N. S. Khan), <u>jillian.ashley-martin@hc-sc.gc.ca</u> (J. Ashley-Martin), <u>maryse.bouchard@umontreal.ca</u> (M. F. Bouchard).

Conflicts of interest:

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests.

Acknowledgements:

M.F. Bouchard holds the Canada Research Chair on Environmental Contaminants and Populations' Health.

*Article in preparation for publication

Abstract

Background: Personal care products (PCPs) contain a variety of chemicals including parabens, phenols, phthalates, and per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). Exposure to these chemicals are of concern for children and adolescents, as they are known possess an increased susceptibility to chemical exposures. To date, no published review has explored youth exposure to chemicals found in PCPs.

Objective: This scoping review aimed to provide an overview of biomonitoring studies that describe the concentrations of parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS following PCP use among children and adolescents of any age from 5 to 19 years old.

Methods: The search was conducted in MEDLINE, Embase, and Global Health. Articles were screened and assessed for eligibility. From eligible studies, data were extracted to summarize and describe the findings.

Results: Thirty-seven studies were included, the first of which appeared in 2013. The majority of studies were cross-sectional (n=35) and included more than 100 participants (n=27). The most frequently studied chemicals were phthalates (n=23), followed by parabens and phenols (each n=18), and then PFAS (n=1). The biological matrix mainly used was urine (n=36). Thirty-one studies reported at least one positive association between personal care products and certain chemical classes, such as between makeup and parabens; lotion and phenols; and perfume and phthalates.

Conclusion: More rigorous studies on the exposure to chemicals found in PCPs among youth are needed to document the relative importance of PCP use with regard to total chemical exposure.

Moreover, uniformity throughout data collection questionnaires may help to reduce heterogeneity between study findings.

Keywords: personal care products, parabens, phenols, phthalates, perfluoroalkyl substances, polyfluoroalkyl substances, children, adolescents, exposure

1. Introduction

Personal care products (PCPs) are household products used for beautifying purposes and maintaining personal hygiene (Lang et al., 2016; Montes-Grajales et al., 2017), these include products such as shampoo, cosmetics, fragrances, lotions, toothpaste, hair dyes, deodorants, and skin care products (*e.g.*, sunscreens). A wide range of chemicals are used as ingredients in PCPs including chemicals from the families of parabens, phenols, phthalates, and per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). Parabens and phenols are broad-spectrum antimicrobial phenolic compounds that are incorporated in various products, from cosmetics to food, to prevent bacterial and fungal growth (Murphy et al., 2021; Nowak et al., 2018). Phthalates are commonly used as plasticizers (Rael et al., 2009) but may be used as solvents that help scents and colour last longer (Cao, 2010). PFAS are generally used for their waterproof and greaseproof abilities (Pelch et al., 2019).

Children and adolescents are an important group of PCP users. For instance, in the United States, 80% of youth from 9 - 11 years were PCP and beauty product users in 2016 (Mintel Press Office, 2016). In total, 90% of American girls and 69% of American boys of ages 9 - 17 years were beauty product users (Mintel Press Office, 2016). Beauty products used by over 40% of 12 - 17-year-old American boys were face cleansing products, perfume and/or cologne, and lip care products (Mintel Press Office, 2016). Over 50% of American youth 12 - 14 years old use eyeliner, eyebrow pencils, eye shadow, and mascara (Mintel Press Office, 2016). Cologne, spray, and perfume were used by 39% of girls and 25% of boys of aged 6 - 8 years (Mintel Press Office, 2016). Among Swiss-German children and adolescents (n=397), a study that has investigated the usage patterns of leave-on PCPs reported that prevalent sunscreen use was the highest (100% for females, 99.0% for males) (Manová et al., 2013). Among female youth, 84.3% frequently used body lotion and

among male youth, 68.9% frequently used lip care products (Manová et al., 2013). Aftershave, hand cream, lip care, lip stick, and makeup foundation were more commonly used by adolescents 13 - 17 years (Manová et al., 2013). Among children aged 4 years or younger, face cream and body lotion were reported to have the highest prevalence of use (Manová et al., 2013).

The potential adverse effects of chemicals used in PCPs – such as parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS – creates concerns as it is suggested that they have a connection with a range of health problems in youth. Indeed, childhood and adolescent exposure to these chemicals have been linked with neurodevelopmental delays (Bennett et al., 2022); negative cognitive development (Ejaredar et al., 2015); behavioural changes and allergic illnesses, such as asthma and eczema (Braun et al., 2013); altered sex hormone (Boas et al., 2010; Hu et al., 2022) and thyroid hormone levels (Lopez-Espinosa et al., 2016); and hypertension and obesity (Averina et al., 2021) among many others. Since children and adolescents are particularly vulnerable to the chemical exposures due to their developing organ systems and metabolic capacities (Makri et al., 2004), exposure to chemicals found in PCPs is concerning.

To our knowledge, there is no existing review that highlights the exposure to chemicals following PCP use among young people. Thereby, we undertook the following review to provide an overview of existing biomonitoring studies that describe the concentrations of parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS following PCP use among children and adolescents aged 5 to 19 years old. As secondary objectives, we aimed to describe the characteristics of the selected studies and identify gaps in knowledge on this subject.

2. Methods

Framework

The framework for this review was inspired by the five key steps in the methodology proposed by Arksey and O'Malley (2005) for scoping reviews: (1) identifying the research question, (2) identifying relevant studies, (3) study selection, (4) charting the data, and (5) collating, summarizing, and reporting the results. This framework also proposed an additional step requesting to consult experts (Arksey & O'Malley, 2005). This sixth step is optional (Arksey & O'Malley, 2005) and, therefore, was not applied in our study.

Literature Search and Selection of Relevant Articles

A systematic literature search was conducted on three databases in Ovid: Medline, Embase, and Global Health. We intended to identify original studies that investigated concentrations of parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS in a biological matrix in relation with PCP use in participants of any age from 5 to 19 years old. The search was conducted on September 19th, 2022. Thus, papers available up until this date were included in the present review. We did not restrict results with respect to location, year of publication, or language. The search is provided in the Supplementary Material (Tables S1, S2, and S3).

We screened titles and abstracts to select articles that met the following *a priori* inclusion criteria: human studies including non-pregnant participants of any age ranging from 5 to 19 years old; studies that included biomonitoring data on parabens, phenols, phthalates, PFAS, and PCP use data. When it was not possible to exclude a study based on the title or abstract with certainty, the full-text was thoroughly analyzed. Exclusion criteria were the following: participants with severe

illness and focus on maternal exposures. We excluded reviews, commentaries, and abstracts only (conference abstracts or other).

3. Results

Characteristics of Retained Studies

The literature search has yielded 521 potentially pertinent studies. Following deduplication of 229 studies, inclusion criteria was applied and a total of 292 studies were screened by their title and abstract. 154 from these did not match the inclusion criteria resulting in full-text screening of 138 studies. In total, 37 studies were selected for this scoping review (Figure 1). All retained studies' general characteristics are presented in Table 2.



Figure 1. Study selection flow diagram representing the steps to select studies for inclusion in the scoping review, and the number of studies excluded at each step.

The retained studies were published between 2013 (Den Hond et al., 2013; Lewis et al., 2013) and 2022 (Huang et al., 2022; Jala et al., 2022; Stuchlík Fišerová et al., 2022), as shown in Figure 2. Studies were mostly conducted in Europe (n=19) followed by Asia (n=14) and North America (n=7) (Table 1). In Europe, studies were mostly carried out in Norway (n=3). In Asia and in North America, studies were mainly undertaken in China (n=9) and in the United States (n=6), respectively. One study was conducted in Czechia, Hungary, and Slovakia (Černá et al., 2015). One study focused on Flemish participants in the region of Flanders, in Europe (Den Hond et al., 2013). The majority of included studies had a cross-sectional design (n = 35). Of the remaining two studies, one had an interventional design (Berger et al., 2019) and the other was a case study (Černá et al., 2015). Some studies were conducted at a national level and included general population (Fillol et al., 2020; Huang et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2022; Lim, 2020), while others focused on a limited range of participants (e.g., mother and child pairs, children only, adolescents only, or young adults). Study sample size ranged from n=30 (Chen et al., 2015) to n=5962 (Lim, 2020). Ten studies included 100 participants or less, remaining studies included over 100 participants (n=27). Most studies included participants of both biological sexes (n=35). In one study (Fillol et al., 2020), the number of participants varied depending on the chemicals measured. For biomonitoring, thirty-six studies used urine as a matrix from which one study (Fillol et al., 2020) used serum as well. One study measured chemical concentrations in participants' fingernails (Li et al., 2020). The included studies measured concentrations of phthalates (n=23), concentrations of parabens (n=18), concentrations of phenols (n=18), and concentrations of PFAS (n=1) (Figure 3). Retained studies have investigated one class of chemicals (n=20), two classes of chemicals (n=11), and three classes of chemicals (n=6) (Figure 4).

Data Collection

The surveying methods applied by the included studies were traditional self-administered questionnaires (n=25), 24-hour recalls (n=2), and structured interviews with participants (n=11) to collect information on PCP use, such as the products used, number of products used, frequency of use, among other relevant information (e.g., age, gender, sociodemographic characteristics, residential environment, diet). One study (Fillol et al., 2020) used either a structured interview, and online questionnaire, or a self-administered questionnaire for data collection. One study used both a questionnaire and a 24-hour recall to collect participants' information (Šidlovská et al., 2017), while another study just used a 24-hour recall (Sakhi et al., 2018). Few studies applied novel data collection methods. Fillol et al. (2020) administered their questionnaire online as an option, Watkins et al. (2014) administered a computer-assisted questionnaire, and Zhang et al. (2018) offered their questionnaire in the option of a mobile phone application. In general, most of the included studies collected data on participants' product use frequency. However, certain studies uniquely assessed the use/no-use data of all studied PCPs (n=7). Some studies collected use/no-use data for certain products only (n=4). Four studies assessed the cumulative number of PCPs used by participants, instead of collecting PCP use data for products individually. Low, moderate/medium or high PCP use was assessed by three studies. Each retained study collected data differently; characteristics of each study's data collection methods are provided in Table III.

Region	Country				
Asia (n=14)	China ^a (n=9)	India (n=1)	Iran (n=1)		
	South Korea (n=3)				
Europe (n=19)	Belgium (n=1)	Czechia (n=1)	Czechia, Hungary, Slovakia ^b (n=1)		
	Denmark (n=1)	France (n=1)	Flanders ^c (n=1)		
	Germany (n=2)	Ireland (n=1)	Norway (n=3)		
	Slovakia (n=1)	Slovenia (n=2)	Spain (n=1)		
	Sweden (n=1)				
North America (n=7)	United States (n=6)	Mexico (n=1)			

Table I. Geographic provenance of included studies (n=37).

^a Also includes studies conducted in Taiwan (n=4)

^b One study (Cerna et al. (2014)) was conducted in Czechia, Hungary, and Slovakia

^c Flemish region in Europe



Figure 2. Number of included studies published from 2013 (earliest study published on the studied topic) to September 19th, 2022.



Figure 3. Number of included studies per each chemical family of interest studied.





Author (Year)	Title	Participants of Interest	Investigated Chemical Families ^a	Personal Care Products
Berger et al. (2019)	Personal care product use as a predictor of urinary concentrations of certain phthalates, parabens, and phenols in the HERMOSA study	Latina girls aged 14 to 18 years old (n=100)	- Parabens - Phthalates - Phenols	 Makeup products Other facial products Oral hygiene products Sunscreen Deodorants and perfumes Soaps Nail products Hair products
Černá et al. (2015)	Case study: Possible differences in phthalates exposure among the Czech, Hungarian, and Slovak populations identified based on the DEMOCOPHES pilot study results	Children 6 to 11 years old (n=120 for Czech Republic and Hungary, n=129 for Slovakia)	Phthalates	ShampooBody lotions and creams
Chen et al. (2017)	Exposure sources and their relative contributions to urinary phthalate metabolites among children in Taiwan	Children aged 1 to 11 years old (n=226 for Wave 1; n=181 for Wave 2)	Phthalates	 Shower gel Shampoo Lotion Face wash Hand wash Soap Skin makeup Essential oils Lip balm Nail polish
Chen et al. (2015)	Developing an intervention strategy to reduce phthalate exposure in Taiwanese girls	Girls aged 4 to 13 years old (n=30)	Phthalates	 Essential oils Perfumes Skin lotions Nail polish Shampoo Shower gel

Table II. General characteristics of included studies, and the investigated chemical families and personal care products.

Author (Year)	Title	Participants of Interest	Investigated Chemical Families ^a	Personal Care Products
Cullen et al. (2017)	Urinary Phthalate Concentrations in Mothers and Their Children in Ireland: Results of the DEMOCOPHES Human Biomonitoring Study	Children aged 5 to 11 years old (n=120)	Phthalates	 Makeup Eye makeup Shampoo Hair styling products Body lotion (e.g. hand creams, lip balsam etc.) Fragrances (perfume, eau de toilette etc.) Deodorants Massage oil Nail polish
Cutanda et al. (2014)	Urinary concentrations of eight phthalate metabolites and bisphenol A in mother-child pairs from two Spanish locations	Children aged 6 to 11 years old (n=120) and mothers aged 18 to 45 years old	Phthalates	 Makeup Eye makeup Shampoo Hair styling products Body lotion and crèmes Fragrances Deodorants Massage oil Nail polish (Supplementary Data, Table 1s)
Den Hond et al. (2013)	Biomarkers of human exposure to personal care products: results from the Flemish Environment and Health Study (FLEHS 2007-2011)	Flemish adolescents aged 14 to 15 years old (n=210)	- Parabens - Phenols	 Cream Lip balm Body lotion Hand cream Shampoo Hair care products (hair balm or conditioner) Makeup Bath or shower products Deodorant Perfume Eau de toilette
Ding et al. (2019)	Urinary concentrations of phthalate metabolites and their association with lifestyle behaviors in Chinese adolescents and young adults	Chinese adolescents and young adults aged 16 to 20 years old (n=478)	Phthalates	 Cleansing cosmetics Skin care cosmetics Color cosmetics Hair dye (Supplementary Data, Table S8)

Author (Year)	Title	Participants of Interest	Investigated Chemical Families ^a	Personal Care Products
Fillol et al. (2019)	Exposure to pollutants in the daily life of the French population in 2014-2016 from the esteban study	French population aged 6 to 74 years old <i>n varies with measured chemicals</i>	PhenolsPhthalatesPFAS	List of studied PCPs not provided in article. Listed are determinants identified for parabens (*) and phthalates (**): - Cream or body care products * - Nail polish and nail polish remover * - Cosmetic products ** - Hair products **
Hajizadeh et al. (2020)	Dietary Habits and Personal Care Product Use as Predictors of Urinary Concentrations of Parabens in Iranian Adolescents	Iranians aged 15 to 20 years old (n=100)	Parabens	 Liquid soap Toothpaste Shampoo Perfume/Cologne Sunscreen Lotion Deodorant Lip makeup Bar soap Body wash Eye makeup Hair care products Softener Makeup base Makeup remover Nail products Shaving cream Coloring products
Hammel et al. (2019)	Children's exposure to phthalates and non-phthalate plasticizers in the home: The TESIE study	Children aged 3 to 6 years old (n=203)	Phthalates	Baby wipes (scented, unscented)Nail polishLotion
Hong et al. (2021)	Urinary parabens and their potential sources of exposure among Korean children and adolescents: Korean National Environmental Health Survey 2015-2017	Children and adolescents aged 3 to 18 years old (n=2355)	Parabens	 Liquid soap Color cosmetics Fragrance products Nail polish Antiseptic products Hair care products

Author (Year)	Title	Participants of Interest	Investigated Chemical Families ^a	Personal Care Products
Huang et al. (2015)	Age and Gender Differences in Urinary Concentrations of Eleven Phthalate Metabolites in General Taiwanese Population after a DEHP Episode	Minors aged 7 to 17 years old (n=98) and adults aged 18 to >65 (n=296)	Phthalates	- Body wash - Lotion - Perfume - Nail polish
Huang et al. (2022)	Cumulative risk assessment and exposure characteristics of parabens in the general Taiwanese using multiple hazard indices approaches	Adults aged 18 to 97 years old (n=271) and minors aged 7 to 17 years old (n=95)	Parabens	 Body wash Lotion Perfume Nail polish
Jala et al. (2022)	Concentrations of parabens and bisphenols in personal care products and urinary concentrations in Indian young adult women: Implications for human exposure and health risk assessment	Young female adults aged 18 to 31 years old (n=52)	- Parabens - Phenols	 Body lotion Foundation Face water Face mask Toner Primer Face serum Face gel Sunscreen Lipstick Hair serum Face cream Shampoo Face wash Body wash Conditioner Bactericidal solution

Author (Year)	Title	Participants of Interest	Investigated Chemical Families ^a	Personal Care Products
Kim et al. (2018)	Urinary parabens and triclosan concentrations and associated exposure characteristics in a Korean population-A comparison between night-time and first-morning urine	 Toddlers aged 3 to 6 years old (n=45) Children aged 7 to 12 years old (n=48) Adolescents aged 13 to 18 years old (n=46) Adults aged 19 years and above (n=91) 	- Parabens - Phenols	 Skin care products Body lotion Fragrance Nail polish Colored products (facial makeup, eye makeup, lipsticks, etc.) Sunscreen Hand cream Bath products (shampoo, hair conditioner or body wash) Liquid soap Hair spray or hair gel Toothpaste Mouthwash.
Koppen et al. (2019)	Mothers and children are related, even in exposure to chemicals present in common consumer products	Children aged 6 to 11 years old (n=129)	- Phenols - Phthalates	 PCPs (makeup, shampoo, eye makeup, hair styling products, body lotion, creams, fragrances, deodorants, nail polish, massage oil) Skin bleaching Hair dye/tone Chemical hair structure treatment Anti-lice shampoo Sunscreens
Larsson et al. (2014)	Exposure determinants of phthalates, parabens, bisphenol A and triclosan in Swedish mothers and their children	Swedish children aged 6 - 11 years old (n=97)	- Parabens - Phenols - Phthalates	 Lotion Skin makeup Eye makeup Sunscreen Hair styling products Deodorant Fragrance Shampoo Mouthwash Hand or body disinfectant
Levasseur et al. (2021)	Young children's exposure to phenols in the home: Associations between house dust, hand wipes, silicone wristbands, and urinary biomarkers	Children aged 3 to 6 years old (n=203)	 Parabens (categorized as phenols) Phenols 	- Baby wipes - Nail polish - Lotion

Author (Year)	Title	Participants of Interest	Investigated Chemical Families ^a	Personal Care Products
Lewis et al. (2013)	Predictors of urinary bisphenol A and phthalate metabolite concentrations in Mexican children	Children aged 8 to 13 years old (n=108)	- Phenols - Phthalates	 Aftershave Bar soap Cologne/perfume Coloured cosmetics Conditioner Deodorant Fingernail polish Hair cream Hair spray/hair gel Laundry products Liquid soap Lotion Mouthwash Other hair products Other toiletries Shampoo Shaving cream
Li et al. (2020)	Paraben concentrations in human fingernail and its association with personal care product use	Chinese participants aged 4 - 62 years old (n=50) (n=11 for juvenile participants aged 4 to 18 years old)	Parabens	- Face cream (samples collected from participants) Participants reported using face cream 1 – 2 times/day.
Li et al. (2019)	Ultraviolet filters in the urine of preschool children and drinking water	Children aged 4 to 6 years old (n=53)	Phenols	 Sunscreen Face cream Body lotion Shampoo Bath cream Soap
Lim (2020)	The associations between personal care products use and urinary concentrations of phthalates, parabens, and triclosan in various age groups: The Korean National Environmental Health Survey Cycle 3 2015-2017	 Preschoolers aged 3 – 5 years old (n=557) School-aged children aged 6 – 11 years old (n = 839) Adolescents aged 12 – 17 years old (n = 807) Adults aged 19 – 86 years old (n=3759) 	ParabensPhenolsPhthalates	 Fragrance products Hair care products Body cleansers Makeup Nail polishes Antiseptic products Air fresheners

Author (Year)	Title	Participants of Interest	Investigated Chemical Families ^a	Personal Care Products
Murawski et al. (2021)	Parabens in urine of children and adolescents in Germany - human biomonitoring results of the german environmental survey 2014-2017 (GerES V)	German children and adolescents aged 3 – 17 years old (n=516; n=490 for measurement of methyl paraben only)	Parabens	 Shampoo Body wash or shower gel Sunscreen Body lotion and cream Deodorant Facial makeup Eye makeup
Overgaard et al. (2017)	Children with atopic dermatitis and frequent emollient use have increased urinary concentrations of low-molecular-weight phthalate metabolites and parabens	Danish children aged 4 to 9 years old (n=845)	- Parabens - Phthalates	- Emollient/moisturizer
Philippat et al. (2015)	Exposure to select phthalates and phenols through use of personal care products among Californian adults and their children	Children aged 3 to 7.9 years old and above (n=90)	 Parabens (categorized as phenols) Phenols Phthalates 	 Shampoo Other haircare products Bar soap Liquid soap Hand sanitizer Hand/body lotion Chapstick or lipbalm Suntan lotion
Runkel et al. (2020)	Urinary phthalate concentrations in the slovenian population: An attempt to exposure assessment of family units	Children aged 6 to 11 years old (n=155)	Phthalates	 Eye makeup Hair styling Lotions Fragrances Deodorant Nail polish Sunscreen Mouthwash Disinfectant

Author (Year)	Title	Participants of Interest	Investigated Chemical Families ^a	Personal Care Products
Sakhi et al. (2017)	Phthalate metabolites in Norwegian mothers and children: concentrations, diurnal variation and use of personal care products	Children aged 6 to 11 years old (n=56)	Phthalates	 Hand soap Hand cream Shower soap Face cream Deodorant Body lotion Perfume Shampoo Hair spray Hair gel Nail polish Nail polish remover (Supplementary Data, Table S2)
Sakhi et al. (2018)	Concentrations, variability and determinants of environmental phenols in pairs of Norwegian mothers and children	Children aged 6 to 12 years old (n=54)	- Parabens - Phenols	 Body and face creams: Hand cream, body lotion, face cream Soaps: Hand soap, shower soap, shampoo Hair products: Hair spray, hair gel, any hair product Nail products: Nail polish, nail polish remover, any nail product Others: deodorant, perfume
Sidlovska et al. (2017)	Exposure of children to phthalates and the impact of consumer practices in Slovakia	Children aged 10 – 12 years old (n=107)	Phthalates	Body lotionNail polish
Stacy et al. (2017)	Patterns, Variability, and Predictors of Urinary Triclosan Concentrations during Pregnancy and Childhood	Children aged 1 to 8 years old (n=389) (At 8-year visit, n=218 children provided a urine sample)	- Phenols - Phthalates	 Toothpaste Hand soap Bar soap Hand sanitizer Mouthwash Shampoo Lotion or sunscreen Liquid soap or body wash Deodorant Hair treatments Conditioner Hair spray or gel

Author (Year)	Title	Participants of Interest	Investigated Chemical Families ^a	Personal Care Products
Stuchlík Fišerová et al. (2022)	Personal care product use and lifestyle affect phthalate and DINCH metabolite concentrations in teenagers and young adults	Teenagers aged 12 to 17 years old (n=300) Young adults aged 18 to 37 years old (n=300)	Phthalates	 Shampoo Scented products (deodorants and perfumes) Lotions Nail polish Makeup/foundation creams Lip balms Eye makeup
Tkalec et al. (2021)	Exposure of Slovenian children and adolescents to bisphenols, parabens and triclosan: Urinary concentrations, exposure patterns, determinants of exposure and susceptibility	Slovenian children aged $6 - 9$ years old (n = 149) and adolescents aged $11 - 15$ years old (n = 97)	- Parabens - Phenols	 Lipstick Cream Hair balsam Hair styling products Perfume Deodorant Body oil Nail polish
Tschersich et al. (2021)	Bisphenol A and six other environmental phenols in urine of children and adolescents in Germany - human biomonitoring results of the German Environmental Survey 2014-2017 (GerES V)	Children and adolescents aged 3 to 17 years old (n=515 for bisphenol A and n=516 for other phenols)	Phenols	 Fragrances (fragrance lamps, incense sticks, fragrance spray, fragrance dispenser) Sunscreen Body lotion and cream Body wash and shower gel Deodorant Facial makeup Eye makeup
Vindenes et al. (2021)	Exposure to environmental phenols and parabens, and relation to body mass index, eczema and respiratory outcomes in the Norwegian RHINESSA study	Adults aged 18 to 47 years (n=496) and adolescents aged 10 to 17 years (n=90)	- Parabens - Phenols	 Perfume spray Perfume (not spray) Deo-spray Deostick Moisturizing cream Lotions Cleansing cream Makeup Nail-care Shaving-products After-shave Hairspray Hair-styling products Hair-color Hair-bleach

Author (Year)	Title	Participants of Interest	Investigated Chemical Families ^a	Personal Care Products
Watkins et al. (2014)	Variability and predictors of urinary concentrations of phthalate metabolites during early childhood	Children aged 1 to 5 years old (n=327) (At age 5, 190 children provided urine sample)	Phthalates	 Shampoo Conditioner Bar soap Liquid soap or body wash Hand sanitizer Hairspray or gel Sunscreen or lotion Makeup Nail polish
Zhang et al. (2018)	Urinary phthalate metabolites and environmental phenols in university students in South China	Students aged 19 to 34 years old (n=169) (Supplementary Data, Table S1)	- Parabens - Phenols - Phthalates	 Sunscreen Shower gel Shampoo Facial cleanser Body lotion Toner Face cream Facial mask Eye cream Hand creams Liquid makeup Nail polish Lipstick Perfume Feminine hygiene products

^a Including metabolites of investigated chemicals.

Table III. Included studies' data collection methods and characteristics

First Author (Year)	Data Collection Characteristics				
Berger et al.	• Interviewer guided questionnaire assessing PCPs used on hair, face, body, and teeth				
(2019)	Total number of PCPs used assessed.				
Černá et al.	• Questionnaire on sources of phthalate exposure: household equipment (PVC floor, renovation of home), nutrition (convenience or fast food, ice cream, local food, etc), use of PCPs, use				
(2014)	of plastic gloves, playing with plastic toys, lifestyle factors (smoking, alcohol consumption, sources of drinking water)				
Chen et al.	 Questionnaire on sources of phthalate exposure: food consumption, toys, PCPs, parents' working or neighbourhood living environment, eating out etc Whather shild lived to use real policy or particulation of the provided of the pr				
(2017)	 Frequency and amount of use (0.5 - 1.5ml) of various PCPs 				
	 Completed by parents/caregivers 				
Chen et al.	• Questionnaire to record frequency and use of PCPs, and compliance to intervention				
(2015)	• Amount used expressed in fraction of new Taiwan \$50 coin (less than ½ a coin, ¾ of a coin, etc.)				
Cullen et al.	Interviewer guided questionnaire on possible sources of phthalate exposure, socio-demographic information, and diet				
(2017)	• PCP use: high, moderate, low				
(2017)	 Only use of skin bleaching treatments assessed (Supplementary Material) Completed by mother and interviewer 				
Cutanda et al.					
(2014)	Interviewer guided questionnaire assessing environment, lifestyle, personal features, and others				
Den Hond et al	• Self-administered questionnaires assessing information about socioeconomic status, lifestyle, living conditions, food intake, tobacco smoke, diseases and medication, PCP use				
(2012)	• Short questionnaire assessing exposure during the previous three days				
(2013)	 Low, medium, and nigh use of PCPs assessed based on use frequency of certain products. Partly completed by parents for their adolescent 				
Ding et al.	Ouestionnaires assessing personal characteristics and lifestyle behaviors				
(2019)	 Frequency of cleansing cosmetics/skin care cosmetics, color cosmetics use (< 3 times/week or ≥ 3 times/week) and the use of hair dyes (yes or no) 				
Fillol et al.	• Ouestionnaires (face-to-face with interviewer, online or auto-administered questionnaire) assessing socio-demographic characteristics, diet, physical activity, sedentariness, residential				
(2019)	environment, professional exposure, general health, consumption of health care				
Haiizadeh et al	Questionnaire assessing PCP use, food consumption, demographic information and lifestyle variables				
(2020)	• User/non-user status for each product used in the past 24h				
(2020)	 I otal PCPS used assessed (for past 24n) Categorization of participants as low user (0-3 products) medium users (4-7 products) and high users (8-19 products) 				
Hammel et al.	 Questionnaires assessing housing characteristic, children's health and behavior, and children's PCPs use 				
(2019)	• Frequency of the child's product use (e.g., wipes, lotion)				
Hong et al	Use/no use assessed for baby wipes (scented and unscented) and nail polish.				
(2021)	• Questionnaire assessing demographic and socioeconomic information; other information on factors related to environmental chemical exposure				
(2021)	Completed by parents/guardians				
Huang et al.	• Interviewer guided questionnaire assessing demographic information, exposure, lifestyle (plastic products usage, personal care product) and other factors (disease history)				
(2015)	• Only participants reporting use of products once a day during past month considered users (Supplementary Data, Table S4)				
Huang et al.	Questionnaire assessing demographic information (anthropometry index, socioeconomic status, smoking and drinking habits, and habitation)				
(2022)	 Total number of PCPs used assessed Less than once a month and more/never use assessed for studied PCPs. (Sumplementary Data, Table S1) 				
	\bullet Less man once a month once a month and mote/lievel use assessed for sudict for s (supplementally Data, radie sr)				
First Author (Year)	Data Collection Characteristics				
---------------------	---				
Jala et al.	Interviewer guided questionnaires assessing demographic characteristics and PCP use				
(2022)	• Face-to-face interviews				
(2022)	Estimated daily intake calculated for parabens and bisphenols from the use of PCPs.				
Kim et al.	Questionnaire (self-administered) assessing demographic information, frequency of PCP use during the last 1-2 months, and food consumption frequency within a year				
(2018)	• Only use/no use assessed for fragrance, nail polish, hair spray or hair gel, and mouthwash				
	Completed by parents/guardians for infants, toddlers, and children				
	 Interviewer guided questionnaire assessing mothers' and children's environment at home and residence, smoking behaviour, alcohol consumption, professional occupation, household income putrition during part 4 works 				
Koppen et al.	Income, numbro during past 4 weeks				
(2019)	Face-to-tace metrices Low moderate and high use of PCPs assessed				
(2019)	 Low, inductate, and ingli use of 1 of sassessed Use/no use of kin bleaching, hair dye/tone in past 6 months, anti-lice shampoo in past 6 months, and sunscreen assessed (Supplementary Data, Table SI-2) 				
	 Completed by mothers for their children Completed by mothers for their children 				
Larsson et al.	 Ouestionnaire answered face-to face with a field worker or online assessing living environment, food consumption, personal care products use, smoking, lifestyle and sociodemographic 				
(2014)	information				
(2014)	Completed by mothers				
Louissour et al	• Questionnaires assessing housing characteristics, children's health and behavior, use of PCPs at home (assessed the frequency of child's product use such as the use of nail polish, baby				
Levasseur et al.	wipes, and lotion)				
(2021)	Only use/no use assessed for baby wipes (scented and unscented) and nail polish				
	Completed by parents/guardians				
Lewis et al.	Questionnaire assessing information on participants' external environment, use of water, use of containers for food and use of personal care products				
(2013)	 Personal care product section contained yes/no questions about the use of 17 different products in the past 48h and frequency of use of each product (not at all, < once/month, 1-3 times/month, once/week, few times/week, every day) 				
Li et al.	Questionnaires to assess demographic information, age height, and weight and face cream use				
(2020)	Collection of face creams sample				
(2020)	Children's questionnaire completed by parents				
Li et al.	• Questionnaire assessing personal information (name, age, gender, weight, height), water consumption, frequency of hand washing, application of sunscreen, face cream, body lotion,				
(2019)	shampoo, bath cream, and soap on the children every day				
	Family income and parents education included in questionnaire				
	• Household questionnaire and individual questionnaire				
	• Individual questionnaire: personal information, transportation, food intake, and lifestyle nabits including PCP use, nealth related information				
I im	• 4 versions of questionnaires were developed for each age group (preschool, school-age, adolescent, addit)				
Lim	• Survey questionnaires for clinicities and set-administered questionnaires for addressents assessing personal care products inequency of use during the past time e monitors				
(2020)	• Fragmency of use assisted in this study: not used less than once a week once a week and once				
	Parents or guardians completed questionnaire for inschoolers and school-age children				
	Parents or guardians completed household section of questionnaire for adolescents				
	Adolescents completed individual questionnaire themselves				
Murawski et al.	• Interviewer guided questionnaires given to parents/guardians and children if 11 years or older assessing practices relevant to exposure, habits, and behaviours (dietary habits, use of				
(2021)	cosmetics and consumer products, residential environment information)				
(2021)	Only use/no use assessed for sunscreen				
	Questionnaires assessing medical history, psychomotor development, diet, and lifestyle				
Overgaard et al.	• PCP use frequency assessed for emollient/moisturizer (daily, several times a week, several times a month, rarely, never				
(2017)	• Dichotomization of trequency of use: "Frequent application" for <i>daily</i> or <i>several times a week</i> application of emollients; "Uncommon application" for <i>several times a month</i> , <i>rarely</i> ,				
	or never application of emolifients				
	Completice by parents Outstionnairs assessing PCDs use in the past 24b before urine collection in adults and their shildren				
Philippat et al.	 Questionnance assessing runs use in the past 24th before unne concertion in adults and their children Only use/no use assessed for all DCDs 				
(2015)	 Only used no use assessed for last 101 at 1 C1 5 Total number of PCPs used in past 24b assessed for each individual 				
(====)	 Total number of scented PCP in past 24h used assessed for each individual 				

First Author (Year)	Data Collection Characteristics
	Completed by parents for their child and themselves
Runkel et al.	• Interviewer guided questionnaire assessing residential environment, diet, smoking habits, occupation, sociodemographic information, exposure-related lifestyle factors (questions on
(2020)	PCP use, presence of PVC in indoor environment)
Sakhi et al.	• Questionnaire assessing use of 12 different PCPs during the 24h sampling period
(2017)	Completed by both mothers and children
Sakhi et al.	• 24-hour recall conducted by an expert registering food consumption and use of 12 different PCPs during study period
(2018)	Only users/non-users assessed for studied PCPs (Supplementary Data, Table S9)
Sidlovska et al.	Questionnaire assessing eating and drinking habits, and PCPs use
(2017)	Only use/no use assessed for studied PCPs 24 hour recall assessing diatery inteles
(2017)	Completed by parents/guardians
Stacy et al.	 Questionnaire administered during children's 8-year visit assessing children's PCP use during the last 24 hours and children's handwashing frequency Only use/no use assessed for studied PCPs
(2017)	• Frequency of handwashing assessed (Supplementary Data, Table S6)
	Completed by mothers for their children
Stuchlík Fišerová et al.	• Questionnaire assessing information such as age, gender, number of siblings, education, household income, time spent indoors, home environment, diet, smoking (active and passive),
(2022)	PCP use, chronic illnesses
Tkalec et al.	 Interviewer guided guestionnaires assessing living environment, food consumption, nutritional habits, lifestyle, socioeconomic status, PCP use
(2021)	• Only use/no use assessed for studied PCPs
(2021)	Completed by the participants and their families
Tschersich et al.	Interviewer guided questionnaires to collect exposure relevant behavior
(2021)	• Only use/no use assessed for fragrances and sunscreen (Supplementary Data, Tables S1 – S6)
Vindenes et al.	 Questionnaires, interviews, and clinical examination History of diseases, smoking habits, and home environment information collected
(2021)	 Separate questionnaire answered by participants about frequency of use of 15 PCPs
	Completed by participants
Watkins et al.	• Questionnaire (computer-assisted) assessing demographic characteristics
(2014)	 At 5-year follow-up visit : questions asked to mothers on child's use of plastic-food packaging and use of PCPs in the past 48n prior visit Only users/non-users assessed (Supplementary Data, Tables S4)
Zhang et al.	Ouestionnaire assessing daily lifestyle of students
(2018)	 Similar questionnaire also answered on hard copy by students in classrooms or via mobile application

Overview of Results

Among all retained studies, thirty-one have reported at least one positive association between PCP use and chemical concentrations (Summarized in Table IV). Among these, two studies reported at least one positive correlation between PCP use and chemical concentrations (Cullen et al., 2017; Larsson et al., 2014). Positive correlations were also found between face cream and paraben concentrations in human fingernails (Li et al., 2020). To determine the risks of exposure to chemicals found in PCPs, one study used logistic regression models to obtain odds ratios (Lim, 2020). This study reported associations between the use of certain PCPs and the exposure risk to some of the studied chemicals (Lim, 2020). Among children, PCP use frequency and mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations were associated (Černá et al., 2015). PCP use was also associated with higher urinary concentrations of two phthalate metabolites in children: mono-benzyl phthalate and mono-isobutyl phthalate (Koppen et al., 2019). This study equally reported an association between use of PCPs and higher triclosan concentrations in children (Koppen et al., 2019). One study reported on the determinants that influence chemical concentrations and it was the only article to have investigated PFAS concentrations (Fillol et al., 2020). However, in this study, PCP use or the use of particular PCPs was not listed as determinants that influence PFAS concentrations (Fillol et al., 2020). Six studies reported a negative association (Berger et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2022; Philippat et al., 2015; Sakhi et al., 2017; Sakhi et al., 2018).

Three studies found no associations between the use of PCPs and chemical concentrations (Hammel et al., 2019; Huang et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2018). One of these studies investigated use frequency of various PCPs among its participants but did not find any significant associations between parabens, phenols, bisphenol A, and triclosan concentrations and PCPs (Zhang et al., 2018). However, they did observe greater urinary phthalate concentrations in female students than

male students and the authors have stated that this result corroborates that phthalate concentrations are affected by PCP use which is greater in females (Zhang et al., 2018).

	\sim ·	C C 1'	. 1 •	.1 *	•	•
I able I V.	()verview	of findings	presented 11	n this so	coning	review
	0,01,10,0	or mangs	presented in		oping	10,10,10

First Author (Year)	Overview of Findings
· · ·	Greater urinary methyl and propyl paraben concentrations among participants who were everyday users of makeup than in non-users and rare users
	Positive association between use of foundation, blush, mascara and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations
Berger et al.	• Positive association between sunscreen and benzophenone-3
(2019)	Positive association between deodorant use and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations
	Positive association between use of Colgate Total® toothpaste and urinary concentrations of triclosan
	Negative association between bar soap use and urinary mono-isobutyl phthalate concentration
Černá et al.	Association between PCP use frequency and urinary phthalate concentrations in children of Czechia, Hungary, and Slovakia
(2014)	Slovak children had the highest body lotion and cream use
Chen et al. (2017)	Positive association between nail polish use and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate concentration
	Association between lower shampoo use and lower urinary mono-n-butyl phthalate concentrations
(2015)	Negative association between regular handwashing and urinary mono-n-butyl phthalate concentrations
(2013)	Decreased shower gel use led to lower urinary mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations
Cullen et al. (2017)	Positive correlation between PCP use and urinary concentration of methyl paraben
Cutanda at al	Positive associations between body lotion and creams use and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations
(2014)	Association between fragrance use and urinary mono-2-ethylhexyl phthalate, mono-ethyl phthalate, mono-n-butyl phthalate, 7-carboxy-(mono-methylheptyl) phthalate
(2014)	concentrations
Den Hond et al. (2013)	• Positive associations between lip balm, makeup, shampoo, hair care products, bath products, day or night cream, and perfume use and urinary triclosan concentrations
Ding et al. (2019)	Positive association between skin care cosmetics use and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations
F :U-1 -4 -1	PCP use reported to be a determinant of paraben concentrations
(2019)	Use of cosmetics and of hair products reported to be determinants of phthalate concentrations in children
(2013)	PCP use or use of particular PCPs not listed as determinants that influence PFAS concentrations
	Positive associations between makeup base, eye makeup, and lip makeup use and urinary methyl paraben concentrations
Hajizadeh et al.	 Participants who used a high cumulative number of PCPs had higher paraben concentrations
(2020)	 Positive associations between body wash, shaving gel, bar soap, and shampoo use and urinary methyl and propyl paraben concentrations
	Positive associations between lotion, toothpaste, and sunscreen use and urinary propyl paraben concentrations
Hammel et al. (2019)	No associations found between PCP use and chemical concentrations
Hong et al.	Positive associations between liquid soaps use (e.g., shampoo and shower gel) and urinary ethyl paraben concentrations
(2021)	Positive associations between fragrance use and urinary propyl paraben concentrations
Huang et al. (2015)	No associations found between PCP use and chemical concentrations
	 Participants who used a high cumulative number of PCPs had higher paraben concentrations
Huang et al.	Negative association between frequent body wash use and methyl and propyl paraben concentrations
(2022)	Positive association between lotion use and urinary butyl paraben concentrations
	Positive associations between perfume use and urinary ethyl paraben concentrations
Jala et al. (2022)	• Paraben exposure among young female adults mostly occurred through the use of body lotion, face cream, foundation and sunscreen
Kim et al.	Positive association between coloured cosmetics use and urinary propyl paraben concentrations
(2018)	Positive association between bath products use and methyl, ethyl, and propyl paraben concentrations

First Author (Year)	Overview of Findings			
•	Positive association between bath products use and urinary triclosan concentrations			
•	• Positive association between toothpaste use and urinary methyl, ethyl, and propyl paraben concentrations			
•	Positive association between fragrance use and urinary propyl paraben concentrations			
Koppen et al.	Positive association between PCP use and urinary concentrations of mono-benzyl phthalate, mono-isobutyl phthalate, and triclosan in children			
(2019) •	Urinary triclosan concentrations in participants aged 6 – 11 years were affected by sunscreen use			
•	Positive correlation between use of eye makeup and urinary propyl paraben concentrations in participants 6 – 11 years			
Larsson et al. (2014)	Positive correlation between eye makeup use and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations			
•	Positive correlations found between lotion use and urinary concentrations of methyl paraben and propyl paraben			
Levasseur et al. (2021)	Positive association between lotion use and urinary methyl, ethyl, and propyl paraben concentrations			
•	Positive association between coloured cosmetics use and urinary mono-n-butyl phthalate, mono(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate, mono(2-ethyl-5-hydroxyhexyl) phthalate, mono(2-ethyl-			
	5-oxohexyl) phthalate, and mono(2-ethyl-5-carboxypentyl) concentrations in girls			
•	Positive association between use of hair products different from hair cream, hair spray or gel, or shampoo and concentrations of mono-n-butyl phthalate, mono-isobutyl phthalate, and mono(3-carboxypropyl) phthalate in girls			
Lewis et al.	Positive association between use of conditioner and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations in girls			
(2013)	Positive association between lotion use and urinary mono(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate concentrations in boys			
•	Positive association between perfume use and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate, mono(3-carboxypropyl) phthalate, mono(2-ethyl-5-hydroxyhexyl) phthalate, mono(2-ethyl-5-			
	oxohexyl) phthalate concentrations in boys			
•	Positive association between use of deodorant and mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations in girls			
Li et al. (2020)	Positive correlations between face cream use and fingernail concentrations of ethyl and butyl paraben			
Li et al. (2019)	Positive association between body lotion use and urinary benzophenone-2 concentrations			
Lim •	Positive association between nail polish use and the risk of exposure to mono(3-carboxypropyl) phthalate			
(2020) •	Risk of exposure to ethyl paraben was enhanced by the use of fragrance			
Murawski et al. •	Positive associations between eye makeup and facial makeup use and urinary methyl and ethyl paraben concentrations			
(2021) •	Positive associations between lotion and cream use and urinary methyl, ethyl, n-propyl paraben concentrations			
Overgaard et al.	Positive association between emollient use and methyl, ethyl, propyl, and butyl paraben concentrations			
(2017) •	Positive association between emollient use and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate and mono-butyl phthalate concentrations			
•	Negative association between bar soap use and methyl, propyl, and butyl paraben concentrations			
Dhiling of stal	Positive association between liquid soap use and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations			
(2015)	Positive association between sunscreen use and benzopheone-3 concentrations			
•	Positive association between use of Colgate Total® toothpaste and urinary concentrations of triclosan			
•	Positive association between sunscreen use and urinary mono-n-butyl phthalate concentrations			
• Dunkal et al	Positive associations between styling products and nail polish use and urinary phthalate concentrations			
(2020)	Positive associations between lotion and sunscreen use and urinary phthalate concentrations			
•	Positive association between fragrance and deodorant use and urinary phthalate concentrations			
• Sakhi at al	Positive association between hairspray and hair gel use and urinary mono-ethyl and mono-n-butyl phthalate concentrations			
(2017)	Negative association between hand soap use and urinary di-(2-ethyl-5-hexyl) phthalate concentrations			
•	Positive association between face cream use and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate, mono-n-butyl phthalate, di(2-ethyl-5-hexyl) phthalate, di-iso-nonyl phthalate concentrations			
•	Positive associations between hair products use and urinary benzophenone-3 concentrations			
Sakhi et al. •	Negative association between hand soap use and urinary bisphenol A concentrations			
(2018) •	Positive association between face cream use and urinary ethyl paraben concentrations			
•	Positive association between cream use and urinary benzophenone-3 concentrations			

First Author (Year)	Overview of Findings
Sidlovska et al.	Positive association between nail polish use and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations
(2017)	Positive association between body lotion use and urinary mono(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate concentrations
Stacy et al. (2017)	Positive association between hand soap and toothpaste use and urinary triclosan concentrations
Stuchlík Fišerováet al. (2022)	• Positive association between nail polish use and urinary mono(2-ethyl-5-carboxy-pentyl) phthalate and 7-hydroxy(monomethyl-octyl) phthalate concentrations
Tkalec et al. (2021)	Positive association between lipstick and perfume use and urinary methyl paraben concentrations
Tschersich et al. (2021)	• Positive association between fragrance use and urinary benzophenone-1 and benzophenone-3 concentrations
Vindenes et al. (2021)	Positive association between use frequency of moisturizer use and methyl paraben concentrations
Watkins et al. (2014)	• Positive association between hairspray or hair gel use and urinary mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations
Zhang et al. (2018)	No associations found between PCP use and chemical concentrations

Makeup and Cosmetic Products

Several included studies have reported a positive association between makeup and cosmetic products such as coloured cosmetics, foundation (Kim et al., 2018), makeup base (Hajizadeh et al., 2020), eye makeup (Hajizadeh et al., 2020; Murawski et al., 2021), facial makeup (Murawski et al., 2021), lip makeup (Hajizadeh et al., 2020), and lipstick (Tkalec et al., 2021) and urinary paraben concentrations. Lip makeup and lipstick were not grouped together in this summary of findings, as lip makeup may also include lip products other than lipstick. One study reported greater urinary methyl and propyl paraben concentrations among participants who were everyday users of makeup than in non-users and rare users (Berger et al., 2019). According to two studies, participants who used a high cumulative number of PCPs had higher paraben concentrations (Hajizadeh et al., 2020; Huang et al., 2022). One study reported that the use of eye makeup was correlated to urinary propyl paraben concentrations in participants 6 - 11 years (Larsson et al., 2014) and another study reported that PCP use was correlated with participants' urinary concentration of methyl paraben (Cullen et al., 2017). Use of foundation was reported as an important source for paraben exposures (Jala et al., 2022). PCP use was reported to be a determinant of paraben concentration in one study (Fillol et al., 2020). Regarding phenol concentrations, use of lip balm and makeup was positively associated with urinary concentrations of triclosan according to one study (Den Hond et al., 2013).

The use of foundation, blush, mascara (Berger et al., 2019), colour cosmetics (Ding et al., 2019; Lewis et al., 2013), skin care cosmetics (Ding et al., 2019), styling products (Runkel et al., 2020), and nail polish (Chen et al., 2017; Runkel et al., 2020; Šidlovská et al., 2017; Stuchlík Fišerová et al., 2022) was positively associated with phthalate concentrations in urine. One study found an association between nail polish use among adults and preschoolers and the risk of exposure to mono(3-carboxypropyl) phthalate (Lim, 2020). In girls, use of coloured cosmetics led to higher levels of certain phthalate metabolites (Lewis et al., 2013). Another study reported a correlation between eye makeup use in children and mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations (Larsson et al., 2014). The use of cosmetics and of hair products were reported to be determinants of phthalate concentrations in children in a study by Fillol et al. (2020).

Bath, Shower, Hair and Soap Products

Positive associations have been reported between body wash, shaving gel, bar soap, and shampoo (Hajizadeh et al., 2020) and urinary paraben concentrations. Bath products (Kim et al., 2018) and liquid soaps (*e.g.*, shampoo, shower gel) (Hong et al., 2021) as PCP categories were equally positively associated with paraben concentrations. Negative associations between body wash (Huang et al., 2022) and bar soap (Philippat et al., 2015) use and paraben concentrations have also been reported. One study measured lower methyl and propyl paraben concentrations among frequent users of body wash (Huang et al., 2022). Similarly, another study reported that children who used bar soaps had lower urinary concentrations of methyl, propyl, and butyl paraben (Philippat et al., 2015).

Participants' use of shampoo (Den Hond et al., 2013), hand soap (Stacy et al., 2017), hair care products (Den Hond et al., 2013), and hair products (Sakhi et al., 2018) were also positively associated with urinary concentrations of phenols. For instance, higher urinary concentrations of triclosan have been measured in regular bath product users (Den Hond et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2018). One study reported that a high frequency of handwashing led to increased concentrations of triclosan in children (Stacy et al., 2017). In contrast, another study reported that hand soap use among children lowered the urinary concentrations of bisphenol A (Sakhi et al., 2018).

The use of hairspray and hair gel (Sakhi et al., 2017), as well as liquid soap (Philippat et al., 2015), was positively associated with urinary concentrations of phthalates. In one study, an association was found between the use of hairspray or hair gel among 5 year-old participants and high concentrations of mono-ethyl phthalate (Watkins et al., 2014). In girls, the use of conditioner was associated with increased mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations (Lewis et al., 2013). To add, the use of other hair products – different from hair cream, hair spray or gel, or shampoo – led to higher concentrations of mono-n-butyl phthalate, mono-isobutyl phthalate, and mono(3-carboxypropyl) phthalate in girls (Lewis et al., 2013). Different from these findings, one study reported an association between hand soap use among children and a 40% decrease in di-(2-ethyl-5-hexyl) phthalate concentrations in urine (Sakhi et al., 2017). Another study found that regular handwashing and lower use of shampoo were associated with lower concentrations of urinary mono-n-butyl phthalate (Chen et al., 2015). This study also found that decreased shower gel use lowered urinary concentrations of mono-ethyl phthalate (Chen et al., 2015). One study reported a negative association between bar soap use and urinary mono-isobutyl phthalate concentration (Berger et al., 2019).

Lotions, Creams, Sunscreen, and Toothpaste

Several retained studies reported a positive association between emollient (Overgaard et al., 2017), lotion (Hajizadeh et al., 2020; Huang et al., 2022; Levasseur et al., 2021; Murawski et al., 2021), cream (Murawski et al., 2021), face cream (Li et al., 2020; Sakhi et al., 2018), toothpaste (Hajizadeh et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2018), and sunscreen (Hajizadeh et al., 2020) use and paraben concentrations. One study reported that paraben exposure among young female adults mostly occurred through the use of body lotion, face cream, and sunscreen (Jala et al., 2022). Among children, a positive correlation has been reported between lotion use and concentrations of methyl

paraben and propyl paraben (Larsson et al., 2014). One study reported that face cream use is a principal exposure pathway for humans (Li et al., 2020). In this study, face cream samples were correlated with fingernail concentrations of ethyl and butyl paraben (Li et al., 2020). Another study found that the use frequency of leave-on PCPs – such as moisturizer and lotions – were positively associated with paraben concentrations (Vindenes et al., 2021). The same study reported that participants' methyl paraben concentrations increased with the frequency of moisturizer use (Vindenes et al., 2021).

The use of body lotion (Li et al., 2019), creams (Sakhi et al., 2018), day or night cream (Den Hond et al., 2013), sunscreen (Berger et al., 2019; Philippat et al., 2015), and toothpaste (Berger et al., 2019; Stacy et al., 2017) were positively associated with urinary phenol concentrations. One study found an association between the use of Colgate Total® toothpaste and elevated urinary concentrations of triclosan (Berger et al., 2019). Similarly, another study reported that children who used Colgate® toothpaste had greater triclosan concentrations in their urine than those who used different brands of toothpaste (Philippat et al., 2015). Urinary triclosan concentrations in participants aged 6 - 11 years were affected by sunscreen use (Koppen et al., 2019).

Additionally, findings showed that the use of emollient (Overgaard et al., 2017), lotion (Lewis et al., 2013; Runkel et al., 2020), body lotion (Cutanda et al., 2015; Šidlovská et al., 2017), face cream (Sakhi et al., 2017), and sunscreen (Philippat et al., 2015; Runkel et al., 2020) were associated with urinary phthalate concentrations.

Fragrances, Perfumes, and Deodorant

The use of fragrance or perfume (Hong et al., 2021; Huang et al., 2022; Kim et al., 2018; Tkalec et al., 2021) was associated with higher urinary paraben concentrations. More precisely, studies

found that perfume and fragrance use was associated with concentrations of ethyl paraben (Huang et al., 2022) and propyl paraben (Hong et al., 2021; Kim et al., 2018), respectively. One study measured higher methyl paraben concentrations in perfume users (Tkalec et al., 2021). Another included study also stated that the risk of exposure to ethyl paraben was enhanced by the use of fragrance (Lim, 2020).

Use of perfume was associated with higher urinary concentrations of triclosan according to one study (Den Hond et al., 2013) and deodorant use was associated with higher urinary concentrations of benzophenone-3 according to another study (Sakhi et al., 2018). One study reported higher concentrations of benzophenone-1 and benzophenone-3 in participants who used fragrances (Tschersich et al., 2021).

Fragrance (Cutanda et al., 2015; Runkel et al., 2020), deodorant (Berger et al., 2019; Runkel et al., 2020), and perfume (Lewis et al., 2013; Sakhi et al., 2017) use was also associated with urinary phthalate concentrations. Indeed, one study has reported that boys had greater phthalate concentrations following the use of perfume or cologne during the 48 hours preceding urine collection (Lewis et al., 2013). The same study found that the use of deodorant was associated with higher monoethyl phthalate concentrations in girls (Lewis et al., 2013). In contrast, spray-on deodorant use had a negative association with mono-ethyl phthalate concentrations in urine (Berger et al., 2019).

Frequently Used Personal Care Products Among Children and Adolescents

Overall, everyday products, such as shower or bath products, soaps, fragrances, and lotions or creams, were most frequently used by children and adolescents. Included studies reported that lotion is a commonly used product among children. One study determined that above 50% of

participating parents' children used lotion or baby wipes (Hammel et al., 2019). Among Slovak children, body lotions and creams usage frequency were the highest (Černá et al., 2015). Another study also reported that minors aged 7 – 11 years used more lotion than participants 12 - 17 years (Huang et al., 2022).

Bath and soap products are another category of PCPs that are commonly used by youth. For instance, PCPs with the most frequent usage were liquid soap and toothpaste among young Iranians (Hajizadeh et al., 2020). One study reported that, among Korean preschoolers 3 - 5 years, body cleansers were the most frequently used PCP (Lim, 2020). Furthermore, Californian children of ages 3 - 8 years most frequently used toothpaste, liquid soap, and shampoo (Philippat et al., 2015). In another study, during the 48 hours dedicated to collecting urine, the majority of 5 year-old children had used shampoo and different soaps (Watkins et al., 2014). Another study found that 73% of Taiwanese children and adolescents used body wash daily (Huang et al., 2015). A different study by the same principal author revealed that body wash was the most frequently used product among all age groups (Huang et al., 2022). Among Chinese students aged 19 years and above, shower gels, facial cleansers, and face toner were used quotidianly among 70 - 80% of females (Zhang et al., 2018). For male students, daily use of shower gels and shampoo was practised by 65 to 80% according to this study (Zhang et al., 2018).

Among older youth, popular products were fragrance, perfume, makeup, and nail polish. Indeed, participants who were 18 and 19 years of age (categorized as adults) were reported to have higher perfume and nail polish use compared to children (Huang et al., 2022). In Korean adolescents aged 12 – 17 years, fragrance and makeup were among the most commonly used PCPs (Lim, 2020). This being said, for female participants in general, use of nail polish was high, and for female adolescents, all types of PCPs were used more substantially (Lim, 2020).

4. Discussion

Through our review, we provided an overview of childhood and adolescent exposure to chemicals found in PCPs through the synthesis of findings reported by 37 studies, allowing us to gain insight on this fairly novel topic. We documented relevant information and key findings relative to the use of PCPs and chemical concentrations. To our knowledge, this is the first scoping review on the emerging subject of childhood and adolescent exposure to chemicals found in PCPs. Findings of the studies included in our review have shown that PCP use among children and adolescents Information on the limitations of this scoping review and knowledge gaps arising from this review are presented below.

Concentrations of chemicals resulting from chemical exposure may be influenced by multiple factors. Human biomonitoring data represents chemical exposure from all sources of exposure and not only from PCP use. For instance, occupational exposure to bisphenol A among cashiers through contact with thermal paper receipts – a source of bisphenol A – may result in higher concentrations of this chemical among these workers (Lv et al., 2017; Ndaw et al., 2016). This type of exposure will be captured by human biomonitoring. Chemical exposure may also occur through a primary or secondary source. A product and the ingredients it contains, including chemical compounds, is considered as a primary source. The product's packaging can be a secondary source, as chemicals found in the package may leach into the main product. For instance, bisphenols may be found in PCPs due to contamination from the plastic packaging of the product (Vandenberg et al., 2007). Therefore, there is a possibility that some reported chemical exposures may originate from a secondary source. There is a difficulty in differentiating chemical exposure sources. Indeed, sources of chemical exposures are various and may also be foods (Błędzka et al., 2014; Soni et al., 2001), clothes (Rodgers et al., 2022), pharmaceuticals (Soni et al., 2001), or

items in people's surrounding environment (*e.g.*, carpets, furniture) (Rodgers et al., 2022; Wu et al., 2020). Thus, the included studies cannot unequivocally determine the precise source of a chemical exposure. Together, these elements may act as confounding factors that influence the association between PCP use and measured chemical concentrations. Furthermore, it is difficult to assess the duration of the exposure to a chemical, which is variable from an individual to another. Thus, duration of exposure is a factor that influences chemical concentrations.

Most of the chemical classes investigated in the retained studies are recognized to have short halflives. Parabens, phenols, and phthalates have half-lives of less than 24 hours in the human body (Leppert et al., 2020; Sandborgh-Englund et al., 2006; Y. Wang et al., 2019). Short half-lives imply that measured biological concentrations of chemicals reflect recent exposure only, due to the chemical's rapid metabolism. Moreover, most of the studies that have used urine as a biological matrix only included a single sample of spot urine, which may lead to exposure misclassification due to the short half-lives of the studied non-persistent chemicals. The collection of several spot urine samples in the same day may decrease exposure misclassification (Bastiaensen et al., 2021). In contrast to non-persistent chemicals, PFAS have longer half-lives that are in the range of 2 to 4 years (Y. Li et al., 2018). Despite their long half-lives and their presence in PCPs, we have retrieved only one study that measured the serum concentrations of PFAS in relation with PCP use.

Most studies in this scoping review were cross-sectional. First, cross-sectional studies do not allow to infer causal relations. In fact, the temporal link between outcome and exposure cannot be determined precisely since both elements are studied concurrently. Furthermore, cross-sectional studies do not allow to track changes over time, as they are designed to analyze collected data at a designated point in time. In this scoping review, a heterogeneity in the results provided by the retained studies was noticed. First, different questionnaires were used to collect participants' self-reported responses on PCP, which made it unfeasible to compare findings between studies and may have contributed to the heterogeneity of the results. Second, the different populations studied in each study and their different patterns of PCP use may also explain this heterogeneity in the results. Third, sources of exposure other than PCP use may be another explanation for heterogeneous results. Last, differences in regulations on chemical use in PCPs between countries may contribute to this heterogeneity in findings. Such regulations may also vary within a country. For example, there is no regulation at the national level regarding PFAS use in PCPs in the United States, but the state of California banned the use of 13 PFAS in PCPs - including PFOA and PFOS - through the Toxic-Free Cosmetic Act in 2020 and the act will be effective from January 1, 2025 (California Legislative Information, 2020; Little, 2020). The Toxic-Free Cosmetic Act also bans the use of dibutyl phthalate, di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate, isobutyl paraben, and isopropyl paraben (California Legislative Information, 2020). Another example is the state of Maryland which also passed a similar bill prohibiting the use of 24 ingredients, including certain PFAS, in PCPs (Backhaus, 2021; Myers, 2021).

Strengths and Limitations of This Scoping Review

For the present review, we followed a methodology based on a detailed framework proposed specifically for scoping reviews. A rigorous search strategy combining subject headings and keywords was employed to retrieve pertinent publications. Moreover, restrictions were not applied to publication language and date, allowing us to retrieve one French-language study (Fillol et al., 2020). The retained studies were carried out in various countries which allowed to provide an overview that also includes findings from regions outside of the North-American continent.

Information found in the grey literature was not assessed for this scoping review as only original research articles were considered. This limits our findings only to evidence reported by publications of scientific journals. Additionally, a scoping review is helpful in providing knowledge on emergent subjects. Although, it is an exploratory type of review that provides only a summary of a subject.

5. Conclusion

This scoping review is the first to synthesize findings from existing scientific publications on children and adolescents' exposure to chemicals found in PCPs. Our review has shown that the study of PCP use in relation with chemical exposure is recent, as studies were published only 10 years ago. The compilation of findings indicates that PCP use was associated with higher concentrations of parabens, phenols, and phthalates. On the other hand, use of soaps and other hygiene products was associated with lower urinary levels of these chemicals. Methods to assess PCP use and the products used were heterogenous, which contributed to complicating the comparison of findings between individual studies. Our review indicates that further studies are necessary to better assess PFAS exposure in relation with PCP use, since only one study investigating this class of chemicals was found, despite their presence in PCPs. Finally, more studies on this topic are needed to further document the relative importance of personal care product use to total chemical exposure.

Supplementary Material

Table S1. Search strategy and criteria for MEDLINE database

1	adolescent/ or exp child/
2	exp Environmental Exposure/
3	exp Cosmetics/
4	Parabens/
5	exp Phenols/
6	exp Phthalic Acids/
7	exp Plasticizers/
8	Biological Monitoring/
9	Biomarkers/
10	(kid* or child or children or preschool child or school child or boy or girl or adolescen* or teenager* or teens or youth
	or young adult).ab,kf,ti.
11	"expos*".ab,kf,ti.
10	(personal care product* or cosmetic* or skin care or skin-care or make up or make-up or beauty products or self care
12	products or self-care products or fragrances or cosmeceutical*).ab,kf,ti.
	(chemical* or parabens or 4 hydroxybenzoic acids or 4-hydroxybenzoic acids or 4 hydroxybenzoic acid esters or 4-
13	hydroxybenzoic acid esters or para hydroxybenzoic acids or para-hydroxybenzoic acids or phthalates or phthalic acids
	or plasticizer* or phenols or perfluoroalkyl substances or polyfluoroalkyl substances or PFAS or PFASs).ab,kf,ti.
	(((bio or biologic*) adj1 (monitoring or marker)) or bio-monitoring or bio-marker or exposure biomarker or blood or
14	urin*).ab,kf,ti.
15	1 or 10
16	2 or 11
17	3 or 12
18	4 or 5 or 6 or 7
19	13 or 18
20	8 or 9
21	14 or 20
22	15 and 16 and 17 and 19 and 21

The search was executed on September 19th, 2022, on Ovid MEDLINE (1946 to September 19, 2022).

1	child/ or juvenile/ or boy/ or girl/ or preschool child/ or school child/
2	exposure/ or environmental exposure/ or exp exposure science/
3	exp cosmetic/
4	exp 4 hydroxybenzoic acid ester/
5	phenol derivative/
6	phthalic acid/
7	perfluorooctanesulfonic acid/ or perfluorooctanoic acid/
8	biological marker/
9	biological monitoring/
10	(kid* or child or children or preschool child or school child or boy or girl or adolescen* or teenager* or teens or youth
	or young adult).ab,kf,ti.
11	"expos*".ab,kf,ti.
12	(personal care product* or cosmetic* or skin care or skin-care or make up or make-up or beauty products or self care
	products or self-care products or fragrances or cosmeceutical*).ab,kf,ti.
13	(chemical* or parabens or 4 hydroxybenzoic acids or 4-hydroxybenzoic acids or 4 hydroxybenzoic acid esters or 4-
	hydroxybenzoic acid esters or para hydroxybenzoic acids or para-hydroxybenzoic acids or phthalates or phthalic acids
	or plasticizer* or phenols or perfluoroalkyl substances or polyfluoroalkyl substances or PFAS or PFASs).ab,kf,ti.
14	(((bio or biologic*) adj1 (monitoring or marker)) or bio-monitoring or bio-marker or exposure biomarker or blood or
	urin*).ab,kf,ti.
15	1 or 10
16	2 or 11
17	3 or 12
18	4 or 5 or 6 or 7
19	13 or 18
20	8 or 9
21	14 or 20
22	15 and 16 and 17 and 19 and 21

Table S2. Search strategy and criteria for Embase database

The search was executed on September 19th, 2022, on Embase (1974 to 2022 September 19).

1	(kid* or child or children or preschool child or school child or boy or girl or adolescen* or teenager* or teens or youth or
	young adult).ab,hw,ti.
2	"expos*".ab,hw,ti.
3	(personal care product* or cosmetic* or skin care or skin-care or make up or make-up or beauty products or self care
	products or self-care products or fragrances or cosmeceutical*).ab,hw,ti.
4	(chemical* or parabens or 4 hydroxybenzoic acids or 4-hydroxybenzoic acids or 4 hydroxybenzoic acid esters or 4-
	hydroxybenzoic acid esters or para hydroxybenzoic acids or para-hydroxybenzoic acids or phthalates or phthalic acids or
	plasticizer* or phenols or perfluoroalkyl substances or polyfluoroalkyl substances or PFAS or PFASs).ab,hw,ti.
5	(((bio or biologic*) adj1 (monitoring or marker)) or bio-monitoring or bio-marker or exposure biomarker or blood or
	urin*).ab,hw,ti.
6	children/ or boys/ or girls/ or preschool children/ or school children/
7	exposure/
8	cosmetics/
9	exp parabens/
10	exp phenols/
11	exp phthalates/
12	biological markers/
13	1 or 6
14	2 or 7
15	3 or 8
16	9 or 10 or 11
17	4 or 16
18	5 or 12
19	13 and 14 and 15 and 17 and 18

Table S3. Search strategy and criteria for Global Health database

The search was executed on September 19th, 2022, on Global Health (1910 to 2022 Week 37).

Authors' Contribution

Nahiyan S. Khan

- Executed the scoping review;
- Drafted the manuscript;
- Edited the manuscript according to the corrections deemed necessary by their supervisors.

Jillian Ashley-Martin:

- Developed the research question;
- Edited the manuscript;
- Supervised the drafting of the manuscript.

Maryse F. Bouchard:

- Developed the research question;
- Edited the manuscript;
- Supervised the drafting of the manuscript.

References

- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 8(1), 19-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616
- Averina, M., Brox, J., Huber, S., & Furberg, A.-S. (2021). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances
(PFAS) and dyslipidemia, hypertension and obesity in adolescents. The Fit Futures study.

- Backhaus, O. (2021). New EPA data show banning 'forever chemicals' in cosmetics is overdue. Environmental Working Group. Accessed 10 March 2023 from <u>https://www.ewg.org/news-insights/news/2021/11/new-epa-data-show-banning-forever-chemicals-cosmetics-overdue</u>
- Bastiaensen, M., Gys, C., Malarvannan, G., Fotache, M., Bombeke, J., Ait Bamai, Y., Araki, A., & Covaci, A. (2021). Short-term temporal variability of urinary biomarkers of organophosphate flame retardants and plasticizers. *Environment International*, 146, 106147. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106147</u>
- Bennett, D. H., Busgang, S. A., Kannan, K., Parsons, P. J., Takazawa, M., Palmer, C. D., Schmidt, R. J., Doucette, J. T., Schweitzer, J. B., Gennings, C., & Hertz-Picciotto, I. (2022). Environmental exposures to pesticides, phthalates, phenols and trace elements are associated with neurodevelopment in the CHARGE study. *Environment International*, 161, 107075. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.107075</u>
- Berger, K. P., Kogut, K. R., Bradman, A., She, J., Gavin, Q., Zahedi, R., Parra, K. L., & Harley, K. G. (2019). Personal care product use as a predictor of urinary concentrations of certain phthalates, parabens, and phenols in the HERMOSA study. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, 29(1), 21-32. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41370-017-0003-z</u>
- Błędzka, D., Gromadzińska, J., & Wąsowicz, W. (2014). Parabens. From environmental studies to human health. *Environment International*, 67, 27-42. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.02.007
- Boas, M., Frederiksen, H., Feldt-Rasmussen, U., Skakkebæk, N. E., Hegedüs, L., Hilsted, L., Juul, A., & Main, K. M. (2010). Childhood exposure to phthalates: associations with thyroid function, insulin-like growth factor I, and growth. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 118(10), 1458-1464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0901331</u>

- Braun, J. M., Sathyanarayana, S., & Hauser, R. (2013). Phthalate exposure and children's health. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics, 25*(2), 247-254. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOP.0b013e32835e1eb6
- California Legislative Information. (2020, October 02). AB-2762 Cosmetic products: safety. Accessed 10 March 2023 from https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201920200AB2762
- Cao, X. L. (2010). Phthalate Esters in Foods: Sources, Occurrence, and Analytical Methods. *Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf, 9*(1), 21-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-4337.2009.00093.x</u>
- Černá, M., Maly, M., Rudnai, P., Kozepesy, S., Naray, M., Halzlova, K., Jajcaj, M., Grafnetterova, A., Krskova, A., Antosova, D., Forysova, K., Den Hond, E., Schoeters, G., Joas, R., Casteleyn, L., Joas, A., Biot, P., Aerts, D., Angerer, J., Bloemen, L., Castano, A., Esteban, M., Koch, H. M., Kolossa-Gehring, M., Gutleb, A. C., Pavlouskova, J., & Vrbik, K. (2015). Case study: Possible differences in phthalates exposure among the Czech, Hungarian, and Slovak populations identified based on the DEMOCOPHES pilot study results. *Environmental Research, 141*(ei2, 0147621), 118-124. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.10.025</u>
- Chen, C.-C., Wang, Y.-H., Wang, S.-L., Huang, P.-C., Chuang, S.-C., Chen, M.-H., Chen, B.-H., Sun, C.-W., Fu, H.-C., Lee, C.-C., Wu, M.-T., Chen, M.-L., & Hsiung, C. A. (2017). Exposure sources and their relative contributions to urinary phthalate metabolites among children in Taiwan. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 220(5), 869-879. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2017.04.002</u>
- Chen, C.-Y., Chou, Y.-Y., Lin, S.-J., & Lee, C.-C. (2015). Developing an intervention strategy to reduce phthalate exposure in Taiwanese girls. *The Science of the total environment*, 517(uj0, 0330500), 125-131. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.02.021
- Cullen, E., Evans, D., Griffin, C., Burke, P., Mannion, R., Burns, D., Flanagan, A., Kellegher, A., Schoeters, G., Govarts, E., Biot, P., Casteleyn, L., Castano, A., Kolossa-Gehring, M., Esteban, M., Schwedler, G., Koch, H. M., Angerer, J., Knudsen, L. E., Joas, R., Joas, A., Dumez, B., Sepai, O., Exley, K., & Aerts, D. (2017). Urinary Phthalate Concentrations in Mothers and Their Children in Ireland: Results of the DEMOCOPHES Human Biomonitoring Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(12). <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14121456</u>
- Cutanda, F., Koch, H. M., Esteban, M., Sanchez, J., Angerer, J., & Castano, A. (2015). Urinary levels of eight phthalate metabolites and bisphenol A in mother-child pairs from two Spanish locations. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 218(1), 47-57. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2014.07.005</u>

- Den Hond, E., Paulussen, M., Geens, T., Bruckers, L., Baeyens, W., David, F., Dumont, E., Loots, I., Morrens, B., de Bellevaux, B. N., Nelen, V., Schoeters, G., Van Larebeke, N., & Covaci, A. (2013). Biomarkers of human exposure to personal care products: results from the Flemish Environment and Health Study (FLEHS 2007-2011). *The Science of the total environment, 463-464*(uj0, 0330500), 102-110. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.05.087
- Ding, S., Zhang, Z., Chen, Y., Qi, W., Zhang, Y., Xu, Q., Liu, H., Zhang, T., Zhao, Y., Han, X., Song, X., Zhao, T., & Ye, L. (2019). Urinary levels of phthalate metabolites and their association with lifestyle behaviors in Chinese adolescents and young adults. *Ecotoxicology* and Environmental Safety, 183(edk, 7805381), 109541. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.109541
- Ejaredar, M., Nyanza, E. C., Ten Eycke, K., & Dewey, D. (2015). Phthalate exposure and childrens neurodevelopment: A systematic review. *Environmental Research*, 142, 51-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.06.014</u>
- Fillol, C., Balicco, A., Oleko, A., Bidondo, M. L., Gane, J., Saoudi, A., Zeghnoun, A., & Denys, S. (2020). Exposure to pollutants in the daily life of the French population in 2014-2016 from the esteban study. *Bulletin Epidemiologique Hebdomadaire*(18/19), 361-369.
- Hajizadeh, Y., Kiani Feizabadi, G., & Feizi, A. (2020). Dietary Habits and Personal Care Product Use as Predictors of Urinary Concentrations of Parabens in Iranian Adolescents. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 39(12), 2378-2388. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/etc.4861</u>
- Hammel, S. C., Levasseur, J. L., Hoffman, K., Phillips, A. L., Lorenzo, A. M., Calafat, A. M., Webster, T. F., & Stapleton, H. M. (2019). Children's exposure to phthalates and nonphthalate plasticizers in the home: The TESIE study. *Environment International*, 132(du1, 7807270), 105061. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105061</u>
- Hong, S., Jeon, H. L., Lee, J., Kim, S., Lee, C., Lee, S., Cho, Y. H., Choi, K., & Yoo, J. (2021). Urinary parabens and their potential sources of exposure among Korean children and adolescents: Korean National Environmental Health Survey 2015-2017. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 236(do6, 100898843), 113781. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2021.113781</u>
- Hu, P., Pan, C., Su, W., Vinturache, A., Hu, Y., Dong, X., & Ding, G. (2022). Associations between exposure to a mixture of phenols, parabens, and phthalates and sex steroid hormones in children 6–19 years from NHANES, 2013–2016. Science of the Total Environment, 822, 153548. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.153548</u>

- Huang, P.-C., Tsai, C.-H., Liang, W.-Y., Li, S.-S., Pan, W.-H., & Chiang, H.-C. (2015). Age and Gender Differences in Urinary Levels of Eleven Phthalate Metabolites in General Taiwanese Population after a DEHP Episode. *PloS One, 10*(7), e0133782. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133782</u>
- Huang, P. C., Chen, H. C., Chou, W. C., Lin, H. W., Chang, W. T., & Chang, J. W. (2022).
 Cumulative risk assessment and exposure characteristics of parabens in the general Taiwanese using multiple hazard indices approaches. *Science of the Total Environment*, 843((Huang, Chang) National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, National Health Research Institutes, Miaoli, Taiwan (Republic of China)(Huang) Department of Medical Research, China Medical University Hospital, China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwa), 156821. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.156821
- Jala, A., Varghese, B., Dutta, R., Adela, R., & Borkar, R. M. (2022). Levels of parabens and bisphenols in personal care products and urinary concentrations in Indian young adult women: Implications for human exposure and health risk assessment. *Chemosphere*, 297(b4d, 0320657), 134028. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.134028
- Kim, S., Lee, S., Shin, C., Lee, J., Kim, S., Lee, A., Park, J., Kho, Y., Moos, R. K., Koch, H. M., Kim, S., & Choi, K. (2018). Urinary parabens and triclosan concentrations and associated exposure characteristics in a Korean population-A comparison between night-time and first-morning urine. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 221(4), 632-641. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2018.03.009</u>
- Koppen, G., Govarts, E., Vanermen, G., Voorspoels, S., Govindan, M., Dewolf, M.-C., Den Hond, E., Biot, P., Casteleyn, L., Kolossa-Gehring, M., Schwedler, G., Angerer, J., Koch, H. M., Schindler, B. K., Castano, A., Lopez, M. E., Sepai, O., Exley, K., Bloemen, L., Knudsen, L. E., Joas, R., Joas, A., Schoeters, G., & Covaci, A. (2019). Mothers and children are related, even in exposure to chemicals present in common consumer products. *Environmental Research, 175*(ei2, 0147621), 297-307. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.05.023
- Lang, C., Fisher, M., Neisa, A., MacKinnon, L., Kuchta, S., MacPherson, S., Probert, A., & Arbuckle, T. E. (2016). Personal Care Product Use in Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period: Implications for Exposure Assessment. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 13(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13010105</u>
- Larsson, K., Ljung Bjorklund, K., Palm, B., Wennberg, M., Kaj, L., Lindh, C. H., Jonsson, B. A. G., & Berglund, M. (2014). Exposure determinants of phthalates, parabens, bisphenol A and triclosan in Swedish mothers and their children. *Environment International*, 73(du1, 7807270), 323-333. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.08.014</u>

- Leppert, B., Strunz, S., Seiwert, B., Schlittenbauer, L., Schlichting, R., Pfeiffer, C., Röder, S., Bauer, M., Borte, M., Stangl, G. I., Schöneberg, T., Schulz, A., Karkossa, I., Rolle-Kampczyk, U. E., Thürmann, L., von Bergen, M., Escher, B. I., Junge, K. M., Reemtsma, T., Lehmann, I., & Polte, T. (2020). Maternal paraben exposure triggers childhood overweight development. *Nature Communications, 11*(1), 561. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-14202-1
- Levasseur, J. L., Hammel, S. C., Hoffman, K., Phillips, A. L., Zhang, S., Ye, X., Calafat, A. M., Webster, T. F., & Stapleton, H. M. (2021). Young children's exposure to phenols in the home: Associations between house dust, hand wipes, silicone wristbands, and urinary biomarkers. *Environment International*, 147(du1, 7807270), 106317. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106317
- Lewis, R. C., Meeker, J. D., Peterson, K. E., Lee, J. M., Pace, G. G., Cantoral, A., & Tellez-Rojo, M. M. (2013). Predictors of urinary bisphenol A and phthalate metabolite concentrations in Mexican children. *Chemosphere*, 93(10), 2390-2398. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.08.038</u>
- Li, C., Cui, X., Chen, Y., & Liao, C. (2020). Paraben concentrations in human fingernail and its association with personal care product use. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 202*(edk, 7805381), 110933. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.110933
- Li, N., Ho, W., Wu, R. S. S., Tsang, E. P. K., Ying, G.-G., & Deng, W.-J. (2019). Ultra violet filters in the urine of preschool children and drinking water. *Environment International*, 133(Pt B), 105246. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105246</u>
- Li, Y., Fletcher, T., Mucs, D., Scott, K., Lindh, C. H., Tallving, P., & Jakobsson, K. (2018). Halflives of PFOS, PFHxS and PFOA after end of exposure to contaminated drinking water. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 75(1), 46-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2017-104651</u>
- Lim, S. (2020). The associations between personal care products use and urinary concentrations of phthalates, parabens, and triclosan in various age groups: The Korean National Environmental Health Survey Cycle 3 2015-2017. *The Science of the total environment*, 742(uj0, 0330500), 140640. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140640
- Little, S. (2020). Everything You Need to Know About California's Toxic-Free Cosmetics Act. Environmental Working Group. Accessed 10 March 2023 from <u>https://www.ewg.org/news-insights/news/2020/06/everything-you-need-know-about-californias-toxic-free-cosmetics-act</u>

- Lopez-Espinosa, M.-J., Mondal, D., Armstrong, B. G., Eskenazi, B., & Fletcher, T. (2016). Perfluoroalkyl Substances, Sex Hormones, and Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 at 6–9 Years of Age: A Cross-Sectional Analysis within the C8 Health Project. *Environmental Health Perspectives, 124*(8), 1269-1275. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1289/ehp.1509869</u>
- Lv, Y., Lu, S., Dai, Y., Rui, C., Wang, Y., Zhou, Y., Li, Y., Pang, Q., & Fan, R. (2017). Higher dermal exposure of cashiers to BPA and its association with DNA oxidative damage. *Environment International*, 98, 69-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.10.001</u>
- Makri, A., Goveia, M., Balbus, J., & Parkin, R. (2004). CHILDREN's SUSCEPTIBILITY TO CHEMICALS: A REVIEW BY DEVELOPMENTAL STAGE. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part B, 7*(6), 417-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10937400490512465</u>
- Manová, E., von Goetz, N., Keller, C., Siegrist, M., & Hungerbühler, K. (2013). Use patterns of leave-on personal care products among Swiss-German children, adolescents, and adults. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(7), 2778-2798. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10072778</u>
- Mintel Press Office. (2016, July 28). Beauty is child's play: 80% of US tweens use beauty and personal care products. Mintel Group Ltd. <u>https://www.mintel.com/press-centre/beauty-and-personal-care/beauty-is-childs-play-80-of-us-tweens-use-beauty-and-personal-care-products</u>
- Montes-Grajales, D., Fennix-Agudelo, M., & Miranda-Castro, W. (2017). Occurrence of personal care products as emerging chemicals of concern in water resources: A review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 595, 601-614. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.03.286</u>
- Murawski, A., Tschersich, C., Rucic, E., Schwedler, G., Moos, R. K., Kasper-Sonnenberg, M., Bruning, T., Koch, H. M., & Kolossa-Gehring, M. (2021). Parabens in urine of children and adolescents in Germany - human biomonitoring results of the german environmental survey 2014-2017 (GerES V). *Environmental Research*, 194(ei2, 0147621), 110502. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110502</u>
- Murphy, B., Hoptroff, M., Arnold, D., Eccles, R., & Campbell-Lee, S. (2021). In-vivo impact of common cosmetic preservative systems in full formulation on the skin microbiome. *PloS One, 16*(7), e0254172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254172</u>
- Myers, I. (2021). *Maryland consumer protection bill becomes law*. Environmental Working Group. Accessed 10 March 2023 from <u>https://www.ewg.org/news-insights/news-release/maryland-consumer-protection-bill-becomes-law</u>

- Ndaw, S., Remy, A., Jargot, D., & Robert, A. (2016). Occupational exposure of cashiers to Bisphenol A via thermal paper: urinary biomonitoring study. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 89(6), 935-946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-016-1132-8</u>
- Nowak, K., Ratajczak–Wrona, W., Górska, M., & Jabłońska, E. (2018). Parabens and their effects on the endocrine system. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 474, 238-251. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2018.03.014</u>
- Overgaard, L. E. K., Main, K. M., Frederiksen, H., Stender, S., Szecsi, P. B., Williams, H. C., & Thyssen, J. P. (2017). Children with atopic dermatitis and frequent emollient use have increased urinary levels of low-molecular-weight phthalate metabolites and parabens. *Allergy*, 72(11), 1768-1777. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/all.13157</u>
- Pelch, K. E., Reade, A., Wolffe, T. A. M., & Kwiatkowski, C. F. (2019). PFAS health effects database: Protocol for a systematic evidence map. *Environment International*, 130, 104851. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.05.045</u>
- Philippat, C., Bennett, D., Calafat, A. M., & Picciotto, I. H. (2015). Exposure to select phthalates and phenols through use of personal care products among Californian adults and their children. *Environmental Research*, 140(ei2, 0147621), 369-376. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.04.009</u>
- Rael, L. T., Bar-Or, R., Ambruso, D. R., Mains, C. W., Slone, D. S., Craun, M. L., & Bar-Or, D. (2009). Phthalate esters used as plasticizers in packed red blood cell storage bags may lead to progressive toxin exposure and the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2(3), 166-171. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/oxim.2.3.8608</u>
- Rodgers, K. M., Swartz, C. H., Occhialini, J., Bassignani, P., McCurdy, M., & Schaider, L. A. (2022). How Well Do Product Labels Indicate the Presence of PFAS in Consumer Items Used by Children and Adolescents? *Environmental Science & Technology*, 56(10), 6294-6304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c05175</u>
- Runkel, A. A., Snoj-Tratnik, J., Mazej, D., & Horvat, M. (2020). Urinary phthalate concentrations in the slovenian population: An attempt to exposure assessment of family units. *Environmental Research, 186*(ei2, 0147621), 109548. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109548</u>
- Sakhi, A. K., Sabaredzovic, A., Cequier, E., & Thomsen, C. (2017). Phthalate metabolites in Norwegian mothers and children: levels, diurnal variation and use of personal care products. Science of the Total Environment, 599/600(Sakhi, A. K.: Department of

Environmental Exposure and Epidemiology, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, P.O. Box 4404, Nydalen, 0403 Oslo, Norway), 1984-1992. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.05.109

- Sakhi, A. K., Sabaredzovic, A., Papadopoulou, E., Cequier, E., & Thomsen, C. (2018). Levels, variability and determinants of environmental phenols in pairs of Norwegian mothers and children. *Environment International*, 114(du1, 7807270), 242-251. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.02.037</u>
- Sandborgh-Englund, G., Adolfsson-Erici, M., Odham, G., & Ekstrand, J. (2006). Pharmacokinetics of triclosan following oral ingestion in humans. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Part A*, 69(20), 1861-1873. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390600631706</u>
- Šidlovská, M., Petrovicova, I., Kolena, B., Pilka, T., Sovcikova, E., & Trnovec, T. (2017). Exposure of children to phthalates and the impact of consumer practices in Slovakia. *Reviews on Environmental Health*, 32(1-2), 211-214. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1515/reveh-2016-0028
- Soni, M. G., Burdock, G. A., Taylor, S. L., & Greenberg, N. A. (2001). Safety assessment of propyl paraben: a review of the published literature. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 39(6), 513-532. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0278-6915(00)00162-9</u>
- Stacy, S. L., Eliot, M., Etzel, T., Papandonatos, G., Calafat, A. M., Chen, A., Hauser, R., Lanphear, B. P., Sathyanarayana, S., Ye, X., Yolton, K., & Braun, J. M. (2017). Patterns, Variability, and Predictors of Urinary Triclosan Concentrations during Pregnancy and Childhood. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(11), 6404-6413. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b00325</u>
- Stuchlík Fišerová, P., Melymuk, L., Komprdova, K., Dominguez-Romero, E., Scheringer, M., Kohoutek, J., Pribylova, P., Andryskova, L., Piler, P., Koch, H. M., Zvonar, M., Esteban-Lopez, M., Castano, A., & Klanova, J. (2022). Personal care product use and lifestyle affect phthalate and DINCH metabolite levels in teenagers and young adults. *Environmental Research*, 213(ei2, 0147621), 113675. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.113675
- Tkalec, Z., Kosjek, T., Snoj Tratnik, J., Stajnko, A., Runkel, A. A., Sykiotou, M., Mazej, D., & Horvat, M. (2021). Exposure of Slovenian children and adolescents to bisphenols, parabens and triclosan: Urinary levels, exposure patterns, determinants of exposure and susceptibility. *Environment International*, 146(du1, 7807270), 106172. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106172</u>

- Tschersich, C., Murawski, A., Schwedler, G., Rucic, E., Moos, R. K., Kasper-Sonnenberg, M., Koch, H. M., Bruning, T., & Kolossa-Gehring, M. (2021). Bisphenol A and six other environmental phenols in urine of children and adolescents in Germany - human biomonitoring results of the German Environmental Survey 2014-2017 (GerES V). *The Science of the total environment*, 763(uj0, 0330500), 144615. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144615</u>
- Vandenberg, L. N., Hauser, R., Marcus, M., Olea, N., & Welshons, W. V. (2007). Human exposure to bisphenol A (BPA). *Reproductive Toxicology*, 24(2), 139-177. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.07.010
- Vindenes, H. K., Svanes, C., Lygre, S. H. L., Real, F. G., Ringel-Kulka, T., & Bertelsen, R. J. (2021). Exposure to environmental phenols and parabens, and relation to body mass index, eczema and respiratory outcomes in the Norwegian RHINESSA study. *Environmental Health*, 20(1), 81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-021-00767-2</u>
- Wang, Y., Zhu, H., & Kannan, K. (2019). A Review of Biomonitoring of Phthalate Exposures. *Toxics*, 7(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics7020021</u>
- Watkins, D. J., Eliot, M., Sathyanarayana, S., Calafat, A. M., Yolton, K., Lanphear, B. P., & Braun, J. M. (2014). Variability and predictors of urinary concentrations of phthalate metabolites during early childhood. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(15), 8881-8890. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es501744v</u>
- Wu, Y., Romanak, K., Bruton, T., Blum, A., & Venier, M. (2020). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in paired dust and carpets from childcare centers. *Chemosphere*, 251, 126771. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126771</u>
- Zhang, X.-M., Lou, X.-Y., Wu, L.-H., Huang, C., Chen, D., & Guo, Y. (2018). Urinary phthalate metabolites and environmental phenols in university students in South China. *Environmental Research*, 165(ei2, 0147621), 32-39. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.04.006</u>

VI General Discussion

For this thesis, the conducted scoping review aimed to synthesize findings of available scientific literature on childhood and adolescent exposure to four primary chemical families – parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS – found in PCPs. The biomonitoring results associated with the use of PCPs among youth with an age ranging from 5 - 19 years old were compiled and presented. In this chapter, the findings from our scoping review are rapidly revisited. The regulation of PCPs and implications of our scoping study are also discussed.

6.1 General Summary of Findings

The findings of the studies included in our scoping review frequently reported positive associations between PCP use and chemical concentrations in participants. For instance, nail polish use was associated with higher phthalate concentrations (Chen et al., 2017; Runkel et al., 2020; Šidlovská et al., 2017; Stuchlík Fišerová et al., 2022). Other products such as lotion (Hajizadeh et al., 2020; Huang et al., 2022; Levasseur et al., 2021; Murawski et al., 2021), fragrance and perfume (Hong et al., 2021; Huang et al., 2022; Kim et al., 2018; Tkalec et al., 2021) were associated with higher paraben concentrations. Sunscreen (Berger et al., 2019; Philippat et al., 2015) and toothpaste (Berger et al., 2019; Stacy et al., 2017) were associated with higher phenol concentrations. Interestingly, inverse associations between body wash (Huang et al., 2022) and bar soap (Philippat et al., 2015) use, and paraben concentrations have been reported. For instance, hand soap use was associated with lower di-(2-ethyl-5-hexyl) phthalate concentrations in urine Sakhi et al. (2017). Likewise, regular handwashing was associated with lower concentrations of urinary mono-n-butyl phthalate Chen et al. (2015). Some studies did not report any association between PCPs and chemical concentrations. Nevertheless, PCPs as a source of exposure should not be omitted because of such findings, as they are products typically used on a daily basis by youth.

6.2 Use of Personal Care Products: Why Regulation Matters

As reported in our scoping review, children and adolescents use various PCPs, many of which are commonly used on a daily basis, such as body wash, lotion, soap, shampoo, or toothpaste. Since each product contains its own set of ingredients, it is essential to understand that using several PCPs simultaneously exposes the consumer to a wide range of chemicals. Furthermore, certain PCPs such as toothpaste may be used several times daily. In such cases, exposure to chemicals can occur repeatedly. The use of numerous PCPs and repeated use of certain products may cause cumulative exposure to different chemicals. Many of the chemicals contained in PCPs are suspected to have endocrine-disrupting properties and have been linked to health issues such as behavioural problems, fertility problems, and cancer among several others. The health risks posed by these chemical exposures are concerning for youth because of their greater vulnerability to potential adverse effects. Thus, the regulation of PCPs and chemicals used as ingredients in these products is important for reducing chemical exposure.

To help improve existing regulations targeting PCPs, it is necessary to expand our knowledge on children and adolescents' exposure to chemicals found in PCPs by continuing to investigate these chemical exposures. Furthermore, it is important for future studies to address the exposure to PFAS relative to PCP use among youth; which is a gap in knowledge identified in our review. These studies could also encourage countries and regions lacking regulations targeting PCPs to create effective regulations concerning the use of chemicals that are potentially harmful to children and adolescents' health.

6.3 Alternatives to Regulation

While policies and regulations are being improved or created, companies manufacturing PCPs can reduce consumers' exposure to potentially toxic chemicals by reducing or removing them from their products. Some major companies have already stopped incorporating certain chemicals in their products. In 2012, Johnson & Johnson eliminated parabens, triclosan, and phthalates from their baby products, and eliminated triclosan and phthalates from their adult products (Cheadle, 2013; Kay, 2013). In 2014, another PCP manufacturing company, Proctor and Gamble, stopped incorporating triclosan and phthalates in their PCPs (Cheadle, 2013). Such initiatives help consumers lower unwanted chemical exposure.

Since it is not feasible to stop using PCPs, consumers can follow advice shared by non-profit or advocacy organizations that advocate for stricter guidelines for chemicals found in PCPs. Two Canadian organizations, the David Suzuki Foundation and Environmental Defence, have websites that list chemicals found in cosmetics (David Suzuki Foundation, n.d.) or skincare (Environmental Defence, n.d.) products, and also provide information on suspected adverse health effects. In the United States, the Environmental Working Group also offers a short list of twelve potentially harmful chemicals and contaminants that are commonly found in cosmetics (Faber, 2020). Hence, consumers can be informed about which chemicals to avoid in the ingredient list when choosing their PCPs. These organizations also provide information on safer PCP alternatives.

6.4 Implications for Future Research

Presented in this thesis is an original scoping study that is the first to synthesize knowledge on childhood and adolescent exposure to four major classes of chemicals found in PCPs. To the best of our knowledge, this type of study has not been conducted in adults either. Our review showed a lack of Canadian studies assessing chemical exposure through PCP use among youth. It also highlights the absence of studies investigating exposure to persistent chemicals, such as PFAS, in youth. In Canada, currently available studies investigating chemical exposure did not consider the exposure among youth. An example of such study is the Plastics and personal care product use in pregnancy study conducted in 2009-2010 among 80 pregnant women (Arbuckle et al., 2016; Government of Canada, 2009). Bisphenol A, phthalates, triclosan, and triclocarban were the chemicals of interest in this study (Government of Canada, 2009). The exposure to persistent chemicals was not studied.

Our literature search yielded only one study investigating PFAS exposure. Thus, our review may encourage researchers to conduct further studies on the contribution of PCP use to PFAS exposure among youth and the sources of this exposure, to address this gap in knowledge.

Further research on childhood and adolescent exposure to chemicals found in PCPs may prove important for scientific knowledge and policy. Indeed, data from such studies may progressively contribute to the knowledge on the sources of chemical exposure that may result in adverse health effects among youth.

VII Conclusion

The scoping review conducted in the context of the present thesis aimed to grasp the scope of the available scientific literature and deliver a synthesis of children and adolescents' exposure to parabens, phenols, phthalates, and PFAS following PCP use. Our review has shown that interest in this topic is quite recent, as the first studies were published about 10 years ago. Most of the included studies revealed that PCP use appears to increase the concentrations of parabens, phenols, and phthalates. The findings reported by the studies mostly had a cross-sectional design, thus not allowing to determine if a causal relationship exists between PCP use and urinary chemical concentrations. Furthermore, only one study investigated PCPs in relation to PFAS exposure. Given that PFAS were found in PCPs (Whitehead et al., 2021), future studies could address youth exposure to this class of chemicals, especially since they tend to persist longer in the body and youth are more susceptible to the potential adverse effects of chemical exposures. To conclude, further studies on this topic are needed to document the relative importance of personal care product use to the total exposure to chemicals.

Bibliography

- Abbas, S., Greige-Gerges, H., Karam, N., Piet, M.-H., Netter, P., & Magdalou, J. (2010). Metabolism of Parabens (4-Hydroxybenzoic Acid Esters) by Hepatic Esterases and UDP-Glucuronosyltransferases in Man. *Drug Metabolism and Pharmacokinetics*, 25(6), 568-577. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2133/dmpk.DMPK-10-RG-013
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. (2021). *Toxicological Profile for Perfluoroalkyls*. <u>https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp200.pdf</u>
- Ahsan, N., Ullah, H., Ullah, W., & Jahan, S. (2018). Comparative effects of Bisphenol S and Bisphenol A on the development of female reproductive system in rats; a neonatal exposure study. *Chemosphere*, 197, 336-343. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.12.118
- Aker, A. M., Johns, L., McElrath, T. F., Cantonwine, D. E., Mukherjee, B., & Meeker, J. D. (2018). Associations between maternal phenol and paraben urinary biomarkers and maternal hormones during pregnancy: A repeated measures study. *Environment International*, 113, 341-349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.01.006</u>
- Aker, A. M., Watkins, D. J., Johns, L. E., Ferguson, K. K., Soldin, O. P., Anzalota Del Toro, L. V., Alshawabkeh, A. N., Cordero, J. F., & Meeker, J. D. (2016). Phenols and parabens in relation to reproductive and thyroid hormones in pregnant women. *Environmental Research*, 151, 30-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.07.002</u>
- Akingbemi, B. T., Ge, R., Klinefelter, G. R., Zirkin, B. R., & Hardy, M. P. (2004). Phthalateinduced Leydig cell hyperplasia is associated with multiple endocrine disturbances. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(3), 775-780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0305977101</u>
- Alberga, A. S., Sigal, R. J., Goldfield, G., Prud'homme, D., & Kenny, G. P. (2012). Overweight and obese teenagers: why is adolescence a critical period? *Pediatric Obesity*, 7(4), 261-273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2047-6310.2011.00046.x</u>
- Anić, P., Pokrajac-Bulian, A., & Mohorić, T. (2022). Role of Sociocultural Pressures and Internalization of Appearance Ideals in the Motivation for Exercise. *Psychological Reports*, 125(3), 1628-1647. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00332941211000659</u>
- Arain, M., Haque, M., Johal, L., Mathur, P., Nel, W., Rais, A., Sandhu, R., & Sharma, S. (2013). Maturation of the adolescent brain. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 9, 449-461. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/ndt.S39776</u>
- Arbuckle, T. E. (2010). Maternal-infant biomonitoring of environmental chemicals: The epidemiologic challenges. *Birth Defects Research Part A: Clinical and Molecular Teratology*, 88(10), 931-937. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/bdra.20694</u>
- Arbuckle, T. E., Fisher, M., MacPherson, S., Lang, C., Provencher, G., LeBlanc, A., Hauser, R., Feeley, M., Ayotte, P., Neisa, A., Ramsay, T., & Tawagi, G. (2016). Maternal and early life exposure to phthalates: The Plastics and Personal-care Products use in Pregnancy (P4) study. Science of the Total Environment, 551-552, 344-356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.02.022
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 8(1), 19-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616
- Askari, S. K., & Warshaw, E. M. (2006). Parabens. *Dermatitis*®, 17(4). <u>https://journals.lww.com/dermatitis/Fulltext/2006/12000/Parabens.12.aspx</u>
- Averina, M., Brox, J., Huber, S., & Furberg, A.-S. (2021). Exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and dyslipidemia, hypertension and obesity in adolescents. The Fit Futures study. *Environmental Research*, 195, 110740. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.110740
- Backhaus, O. (2021). New EPA data show banning 'forever chemicals' in cosmetics is overdue. Environmental Working Group. Accessed 10 March 2023 from <u>https://www.ewg.org/news-insights/news/2021/11/new-epa-data-show-banning-forever-chemicals-cosmetics-overdue</u>
- Bando, H., Mohri, S., Yamashita, F., Takakura, Y., & Hashida, M. (1997). Effects of Skin Metabolism on Percutaneous Penetration of Lipophilic Drugs. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 86(6), 759-761. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1021/js960408n</u>
- Bassler, J., Ducatman, A., Elliott, M., Wen, S., Wahlang, B., Barnett, J., & Cave, M. C. (2019). Environmental perfluoroalkyl acid exposures are associated with liver disease characterized by apoptosis and altered serum adipocytokines. *Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex:* 1987), 247, 1055-1063. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.01.064</u>
- Basso, C. G., de Araújo-Ramos, A. T., & Martino-Andrade, A. J. (2022). Exposure to phthalates and female reproductive health: A literature review. *Reproductive Toxicology*, *109*, 61-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2022.02.006</u>

- Bastiaensen, M., Gys, C., Malarvannan, G., Fotache, M., Bombeke, J., Ait Bamai, Y., Araki, A., & Covaci, A. (2021). Short-term temporal variability of urinary biomarkers of organophosphate flame retardants and plasticizers. *Environment International*, 146, 106147. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106147</u>
- Bennett, D. H., Busgang, S. A., Kannan, K., Parsons, P. J., Takazawa, M., Palmer, C. D., Schmidt, R. J., Doucette, J. T., Schweitzer, J. B., Gennings, C., & Hertz-Picciotto, I. (2022). Environmental exposures to pesticides, phthalates, phenols and trace elements are associated with neurodevelopment in the CHARGE study. *Environment International*, 161, 107075. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.107075</u>
- Berger, K., Gunier, R. B., Chevrier, J., Calafat, A. M., Ye, X., Eskenazi, B., & Harley, K. G. (2018). Associations of maternal exposure to triclosan, parabens, and other phenols with prenatal maternal and neonatal thyroid hormone levels. *Environmental Research*, 165, 379-386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.05.005
- Berger, K. P., Kogut, K. R., Bradman, A., She, J., Gavin, Q., Zahedi, R., Parra, K. L., & Harley, K. G. (2019). Personal care product use as a predictor of urinary concentrations of certain phthalates, parabens, and phenols in the HERMOSA study. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, 29(1), 21-32. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41370-017-0003-z
- Best, O., & Ban, S. (2021). Adolescence: physical changes and neurological development. *British Journal of Nursing*, 30(5), 272-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2021.30.5.272</u>
- Blakemore, S. J., Burnett, S., & Dahl, R. E. (2010). The role of puberty in the developing adolescent brain. *Human Brain Mapping*, *31*(6), 926-933. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21052</u>
- Błędzka, D., Gromadzińska, J., & Wąsowicz, W. (2014). Parabens. From environmental studies to human health. *Environment International*, 67, 27-42. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.02.007
- Boas, M., Frederiksen, H., Feldt-Rasmussen, U., Skakkebæk, N. E., Hegedüs, L., Hilsted, L., Juul, A., & Main, K. M. (2010). Childhood exposure to phthalates: associations with thyroid function, insulin-like growth factor I, and growth. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 118(10), 1458-1464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0901331</u>
- Boberg, J., Taxvig, C., Christiansen, S., & Hass, U. (2010). Possible endocrine disrupting effects of parabens and their metabolites. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 30(2), 301-312. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2010.03.011

- Brase, R. A., Mullin, E. J., & Spink, D. C. (2021). Legacy and Emerging Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances: Analytical Techniques, Environmental Fate, and Health Effects. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22030995</u>
- Braun, J. M., Sathyanarayana, S., & Hauser, R. (2013). Phthalate exposure and children's health. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics, 25*(2), 247-254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MOP.0b013e32835e1eb6</u>
- Breous, E., Wenzel, A., & Loos, U. (2005). The promoter of the human sodium/iodide symporter responds to certain phthalate plasticisers. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology, 244*(1), 75-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2005.06.009</u>
- Bullert, A. J., Doorn, J. A., Stevens, H. E., & Lehmler, H. J. (2021). The Effects of Polychlorinated Biphenyl Exposure During Adolescence on the Nervous System: A Comprehensive Review. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 34(9), 1948-1952. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrestox.1c00226</u>
- Butenhoff, J., Costa, G., Elcombe, C., Farrar, D., Hansen, K., Iwai, H., Jung, R., Kennedy, G., Jr., Lieder, P., Olsen, G., & Thomford, P. (2002). Toxicity of Ammonium Perfluorooctanoate in Male Cynomolgus Monkeys after Oral Dosing for 6 Months. *Toxicological Sciences*, 69(1), 244-257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/69.1.244</u>
- Calafat, A. M. (2016). Contemporary Issues in Exposure Assessment Using Biomonitoring. *Curr Epidemiol Rep, 3*(2), 145-153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40471-016-0075-7</u>
- California Legislative Information. (2020, October 02). AB-2762 Cosmetic products: safety. Accessed 10 March 2023 from https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201920200AB2762
- Cao, X. L. (2010). Phthalate Esters in Foods: Sources, Occurrence, and Analytical Methods. *Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf, 9*(1), 21-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-4337.2009.00093.x</u>
- Cao, Y., & Ng, C. (2021). Absorption, distribution, and toxicity of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in the brain: a review. *Environ Sci Process Impacts*, 23(11), 1623-1640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/d1em00228g</u>
- Carroquino, M. J., Posada, M., & Landrigan, P. J. (2012). Environmental Toxicology: Children at Risk. *Environmental Toxicology*, 239-291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5764-0_11</u>
- Černá, M., Maly, M., Rudnai, P., Kozepesy, S., Naray, M., Halzlova, K., Jajcaj, M., Grafnetterova, A., Krskova, A., Antosova, D., Forysova, K., Den Hond, E., Schoeters, G., Joas, R.,

Casteleyn, L., Joas, A., Biot, P., Aerts, D., Angerer, J., Bloemen, L., Castano, A., Esteban, M., Koch, H. M., Kolossa-Gehring, M., Gutleb, A. C., Pavlouskova, J., & Vrbik, K. (2015). Case study: Possible differences in phthalates exposure among the Czech, Hungarian, and Slovak populations identified based on the DEMOCOPHES pilot study results. *Environmental Research*, *141*(ei2, 0147621), 118-124. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.10.025

- Cheadle, B. (2013, December 4). Consumers push more than cosmetic changes to chemical makeup of toiletries. *The Canadian Press*. <u>https://globalnews.ca/news/1008136/consumers-push-more-than-cosmetic-changes-to-chemical-makeup-of-toiletries/</u>
- Chen, C.-C., Wang, Y.-H., Wang, S.-L., Huang, P.-C., Chuang, S.-C., Chen, M.-H., Chen, B.-H., Sun, C.-W., Fu, H.-C., Lee, C.-C., Wu, M.-T., Chen, M.-L., & Hsiung, C. A. (2017). Exposure sources and their relative contributions to urinary phthalate metabolites among children in Taiwan. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 220(5), 869-879. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2017.04.002
- Chen, C.-Y., Chou, Y.-Y., Lin, S.-J., & Lee, C.-C. (2015). Developing an intervention strategy to reduce phthalate exposure in Taiwanese girls. *The Science of the total environment,* 517(uj0, 0330500), 125-131. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.02.021</u>
- Chen, X., Xu, S., Tan, T., Lee, S. T., Cheng, S. H., Lee, F. W., Xu, S. J., & Ho, K. C. (2014). Toxicity and estrogenic endocrine disrupting activity of phthalates and their mixtures. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 11(3), 3156-3168. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110303156</u>
- Colquhoun, H. L., Levac, D., O'Brien, K. K., Straus, S., Tricco, A. C., Perrier, L., Kastner, M., & Moher, D. (2014). Scoping reviews: time for clarity in definition, methods, and reporting. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 67(12), 1291-1294. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2014.03.013
- Consumer Product Information Database. (n.d.-a). *Benzophenone-3 (Oxybenzone)*. <u>https://www.whatsinproducts.com/chemicals/view/1/240/000131-57-7</u>
- Consumer Product Information Database. (n.d.-b). *Butylparaben*. <u>https://www.whatsinproducts.com/chemicals/view/1/1460/000094-26-8</u>
- Consumer Product Information Database. (n.d.-c). *Dibutyl phthalate*. <u>https://www.whatsinproducts.com/chemicals/view/1/461/000084-74-2</u>

Consumer	Product	Information	Database.	(n.dd).	Diethyl	phthalate.
<u>https:</u>	//www.whats	inproducts.com/c	hemicals/viev	v/1/1131/0000)84-66-2	
Consumer	Product	Information	Database.	(n.de).	Dimethyl	phthalate.
https://	//www.whats	inproducts.com/c	hemicals/viev	v/1/505/00013	31-11-3	
Consumer	Product	Information	n Datab	base. (n	.df).	Ethylparaben.
https://	//www.whats	inproducts.com/c	hemicals/viev	v/1/1039/0001	20-47-8	v 1
		2				

- Consumer Product Information Database. (n.d.-g). *Methylparaben*. <u>https://www.whatsinproducts.com/chemicals/view/1/773/000099-76-3</u>
- Consumer Product Information Database. (n.d.-h). *Propylparaben*. <u>https://www.whatsinproducts.com/chemicals/view/1/777/000094-13-3</u>
- Consumer Product Information Database. (n.d.-i). *Triclosan*. <u>https://www.whatsinproducts.com/chemicals/view/1/95/003380-34-5</u>
- Coperchini, F., Awwad, O., Rotondi, M., Santini, F., Imbriani, M., & Chiovato, L. (2017). Thyroid disruption by perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoate (PFOA). *Journal of Endocrinological Investigation*, 40(2), 105-121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-016-0572-z</u>
- Coperchini, F., Croce, L., Ricci, G., Magri, F., Rotondi, M., Imbriani, M., & Chiovato, L. (2020). Thyroid Disrupting Effects of Old and New Generation PFAS. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 11, 612320. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2020.612320</u>
- Cui, Q., Pan, Y., Wang, J., Liu, H., Yao, B., & Dai, J. (2020). Exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in serum versus semen and their association with male reproductive hormones. *Environmental Pollution*, 266, 115330. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115330</u>
- Cullen, E., Evans, D., Griffin, C., Burke, P., Mannion, R., Burns, D., Flanagan, A., Kellegher, A., Schoeters, G., Govarts, E., Biot, P., Casteleyn, L., Castano, A., Kolossa-Gehring, M., Esteban, M., Schwedler, G., Koch, H. M., Angerer, J., Knudsen, L. E., Joas, R., Joas, A., Dumez, B., Sepai, O., Exley, K., & Aerts, D. (2017). Urinary Phthalate Concentrations in Mothers and Their Children in Ireland: Results of the DEMOCOPHES Human Biomonitoring Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *14*(12). <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14121456</u>

- Cutanda, F., Koch, H. M., Esteban, M., Sanchez, J., Angerer, J., & Castano, A. (2015). Urinary levels of eight phthalate metabolites and bisphenol A in mother-child pairs from two Spanish locations. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 218(1), 47-57. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2014.07.005</u>
- David Suzuki Foundation. (n.d.). "The Dirty Dozen" cosmetic chemicals to avoid. https://davidsuzuki.org/living-green/dirty-dozen-cosmetic-chemicals-avoid/
- Davidsen, N., Ramhøj, L., Lykkebo, C. A., Kugathas, I., Poulsen, R., Rosenmai, A. K., Evrard, B., Darde, T. A., Axelstad, M., Bahl, M. I., Hansen, M., Chalmel, F., Licht, T. R., & Svingen, T. (2022). PFOS-induced thyroid hormone system disrupted rats display organ-specific changes in their transcriptomes. *Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex: 1987), 305*, 119340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119340</u>
- De Coster, S., & van Larebeke, N. (2012). Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: associated disorders and mechanisms of action. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health, 2012*, 713696. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/713696
- De Falco, M., Forte, M., & Laforgia, V. (2015). Estrogenic and anti-androgenic endocrine disrupting chemicals and their impact on the male reproductive system [Review]. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2015.00003</u>
- Demierre, A.-L., Peter, R., Oberli, A., & Bourqui-Pittet, M. (2012). Dermal penetration of bisphenol A in human skin contributes marginally to total exposure. *Toxicology Letters*, 213(3), 305-308. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2012.07.001</u>
- Den Hond, E., Paulussen, M., Geens, T., Bruckers, L., Baeyens, W., David, F., Dumont, E., Loots, I., Morrens, B., de Bellevaux, B. N., Nelen, V., Schoeters, G., Van Larebeke, N., & Covaci, A. (2013). Biomarkers of human exposure to personal care products: results from the Flemish Environment and Health Study (FLEHS 2007-2011). *The Science of the total environment, 463-464*(uj0, 0330500), 102-110. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.05.087</u>
- Di Nisio, A., Sabovic, I., Valente, U., Tescari, S., Rocca, M. S., Guidolin, D., Dall'Acqua, S., Acquasaliente, L., Pozzi, N., Plebani, M., Garolla, A., & Foresta, C. (2018). Endocrine Disruption of Androgenic Activity by Perfluoroalkyl Substances: Clinical and Experimental Evidence. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 104(4), 1259-1271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2018-01855</u>
- Ding, S., Zhang, Z., Chen, Y., Qi, W., Zhang, Y., Xu, Q., Liu, H., Zhang, T., Zhao, Y., Han, X., Song, X., Zhao, T., & Ye, L. (2019). Urinary levels of phthalate metabolites and their association with lifestyle behaviors in Chinese adolescents and young adults. *Ecotoxicology*

and Environmental Safety, 183(edk, 7805381), 109541. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.109541</u>

- Doan, K., Bronaugh, R. L., & Yourick, J. J. (2010). In vivo and in vitro skin absorption of lipophilic compounds, dibutyl phthalate, farnesol and geraniol in the hairless guinea pig. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 48(1), 18-23. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2009.09.002
- Dodson, R. E., Boronow, K. E., Susmann, H., Udesky, J. O., Rodgers, K. M., Weller, D., Woudneh, M., Brody, J. G., & Rudel, R. A. (2020). Consumer behavior and exposure to parabens, bisphenols, triclosan, dichlorophenols, and benzophenone-3: Results from a crowdsourced biomonitoring study. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 230, 113624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113624</u>
- Dodson, R. E., Nishioka, M., Standley, L. J., Perovich, L. J., Brody, J. G., & Rudel, R. A. (2012).
 Endocrine Disruptors and Asthma-Associated Chemicals in Consumer Products.
 Environmental Health Perspectives, 120(7), 935-943.
 https://doi.org/doi:10.1289/ehp.1104052
- Du, G., Hu, J., Huang, H., Qin, Y., Han, X., Wu, D., Song, L., Xia, Y., & Wang, X. (2013). Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) affects hormone receptor activity, steroidogenesis, and expression of endocrine-related genes in vitro and in vivo. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 32(2), 353-360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.2034</u>
- Durcik, M., Gramec Skledar, D., Tomašič, T., Trontelj, J., & Peterlin Mašič, L. (2022). Last piece in the puzzle of bisphenols BPA, BPS and BPF metabolism: Kinetics of the in vitro sulfation reaction. *Chemosphere*, 303(Pt 2), 135133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.135133</u>
- Ehrlich, S., Williams, P. L., Missmer, S. A., Flaws, J. A., Ye, X., Calafat, A. M., Petrozza, J. C., Wright, D., & Hauser, R. (2012). Urinary bisphenol A concentrations and early reproductive health outcomes among women undergoing IVF. *Human Reproduction*, 27(12), 3583-3592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/des328</u>
- Ejaredar, M., Nyanza, E. C., Ten Eycke, K., & Dewey, D. (2015). Phthalate exposure and childrens neurodevelopment: A systematic review. *Environmental Research*, 142, 51-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.06.014</u>
- El Hussein, S., Muret, P., Berard, M., Makki, S., & Humbert, P. (2007). Assessment of principal parabens used in cosmetics after their passage through human epidermis–dermis layers (exvivo study). *Experimental Dermatology, 16*(10), 830-836. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.2007.00625.x</u>

- Emmett, E. A., Zhang, H., Shofer, F. S., Freeman, D., Rodway, N. V., Desai, C., & Shaw, L. M. (2006). Community exposure to perfluorooctanoate: relationships between serum levels and certain health parameters. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 48(8), 771-779. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.jom.0000233380.13087.37</u>
- Engel, A., Buhrke, T., Imber, F., Jessel, S., Seidel, A., Völkel, W., & Lampen, A. (2017). Agonistic and antagonistic effects of phthalates and their urinary metabolites on the steroid hormone receptors ERα, ERβ, and AR. *Toxicology Letters*, 277, 54-63. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2017.05.028</u>
- Engel, S. M., Miodovnik, A., Canfield, R. L., Zhu, C., Silva, M. J., Calafat, A. M., & Wolff, M. S. (2010). Prenatal phthalate exposure is associated with childhood behavior and executive functioning. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 118(4), 565-571. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0901470
- Engeli, R. T., Rohrer, S. R., Vuorinen, A., Herdlinger, S., Kaserer, T., Leugger, S., Schuster, D., & Odermatt, A. (2017). Interference of Paraben Compounds with Estrogen Metabolism by Inhibition of 17β-Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenases. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18(9). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18092007</u>
- Environmental Defence. (n.d.). *Toxic Ten: Skincare Guide*. <u>https://environmentaldefence.ca/toxicten/</u>
- Etzel, R. A. (2020). The special vulnerability of children. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 227, 113516. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113516</u>
- Faber, S. (2020). *The Toxic Twelve Chemicals and Contaminants in Cosmetics*. Environmental Working Group. <u>https://www.ewg.org/the-toxic-twelve-chemicals-and-contaminants-in-cosmetics</u>
- Fenton, S. E., Ducatman, A., Boobis, A., DeWitt, J. C., Lau, C., Ng, C., Smith, J. S., & Roberts, S. M. (2021). Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substance Toxicity and Human Health Review: Current State of Knowledge and Strategies for Informing Future Research. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 40(3), 606-630. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.4890</u>
- Fiandanese, N., Borromeo, V., Berrini, A., Fischer, B., Schaedlich, K., Schmidt, J. S., Secchi, C., & Pocar, P. (2016). Maternal exposure to a mixture of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) causes reproductive dysfunction in adult male mouse offspring. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 65, 123-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2016.07.004</u>

- Fillol, C., Balicco, A., Oleko, A., Bidondo, M. L., Gane, J., Saoudi, A., Zeghnoun, A., & Denys, S. (2020). Exposure to pollutants in the daily life of the French population in 2014-2016 from the esteban study. *Bulletin Epidemiologique Hebdomadaire*(18/19), 361-369.
- Fisher, M., Arbuckle, T. E., MacPherson, S., Braun, J. M., Feeley, M., & Gaudreau, É. (2019). Phthalate and BPA Exposure in Women and Newborns through Personal Care Product Use and Food Packaging. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 53(18), 10813-10826. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b02372</u>
- Floris, B., Galloni, P., Conte, V., & Sabuzi, F. (2021). Tailored Functionalization of Natural Phenols to Improve Biological Activity. *Biomolecules, 11*(9). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11091325</u>
- Franko, J., Meade, B. J., Frasch, H. F., Barbero, A. M., & Anderson, S. E. (2012). Dermal Penetration Potential of Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) in Human and Mouse Skin. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A*, 75(1), 50-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2011.615108</u>
- Frederiksen, H., Skakkebaek, N. E., & Andersson, A.-M. (2007). Metabolism of phthalates in humans. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 51(7), 899-911. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.200600243</u>
- Fujii, Y., Harada, K. H., & Koizumi, A. (2013). Occurrence of perfluorinated carboxylic acids (PFCAs) in personal care products and compounding agents. *Chemosphere*, 93(3), 538-544. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.06.049</u>
- Garcia, A. (2019, May 10). The skincare industry is booming, fueled by informed consumers and social media. *CNN Business*. <u>https://www.cnn.com/2019/05/10/business/skincare-industry-trends-beauty-social-media</u>
- Genuis, S. J., Birkholz, D., Curtis, L., & Sandau, C. (2013). Paraben levels in an urban community of Western Canada. *ISRN Toxicol*, 2013, 507897. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/507897</u>
- Ghisari, M., & Bonefeld-Jorgensen, E. C. (2009). Effects of plasticizers and their mixtures on estrogen receptor and thyroid hormone functions. *Toxicology Letters*, 189(1), 67-77. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2009.05.004
- Gildner, T. E. (2021). Reproductive hormone measurement from minimally invasive sample types: Methodological considerations and anthropological importance. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 33(1), e23535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.23535</u>

- Gomes, F. V., Rincón-Cortés, M., & Grace, A. A. (2016). Adolescence as a period of vulnerability and intervention in schizophrenia: Insights from the MAM model. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 70, 260-270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.05.030</u>
- Government of Canada. (2009, July 13). *Targeted population biomonitoring initiatives*. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/chemical-substances/chemicals-management-plan/monitoring-surveillance/targeted-population-biomonitoring-initiatives.html</u>
- Government of Canada. (2016, March 14). About Natural Health Products. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/natural-nonprescription/regulation/about-products.html
- Government of Canada. (2020, September 24). *Consulting Canadians on the regulation of selfcare products in Canada*. Accessed 22 August 2022 from <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-</u> <u>canada/programs/consultation-regulation-self-care-products/consulting-canadians-</u> <u>regulation-self-care-products-canada.html</u>
- Government of Canada. (2021, February 16). Regulatory information for cosmetics. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/consumer-product-safety/cosmetics/regulatory-information.html</u>
- Government of Canada. (2022a, November 03). Cosmetic Ingredient Hotlist: Prohibited and Restricted Ingredients <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/consumer-product-safety/cosmetics/cosmetic-ingredient-hotlist-prohibited-restricted-ingredients.html#a1</u>
- Government of Canada. (2022b, March 02). *Drug products*. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/drug-products.html</u>
- Government of Canada. (2022c, January 16). *Guidance Document: Classification of Products at the Cosmetic-Drug Interface*. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/consumer-product-safety/reports-publications/industry-professionals/guidance-document-classification-products-cosmetic-drug-interface.html</u>
- Government of Canada. (2022d, March 22). Self-care products and Health Canada. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/publications/drugs-health-products/self-care-products-and-health-canada-what-you-need-know.html</u>

- Grant, M. J., & Booth, A. (2009). A typology of reviews: an analysis of 14 review types and associated methodologies. *Health Information & Libraries Journal, 26*(2), 91-108. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-1842.2009.00848.x
- Gray, L. E., Jr., Laskey, J., & Ostby, J. (2006). Chronic Di-n-butyl Phthalate Exposure in Rats Reduces Fertility and Alters Ovarian Function During Pregnancy in Female Long Evans Hooded Rats. *Toxicological Sciences*, 93(1), 189-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfl035</u>
- Grignard, E., Lapenna, S., & Bremer, S. (2012). Weak estrogenic transcriptional activities of Bisphenol A and Bisphenol S. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 26(5), 727-731. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2012.03.013</u>
- Gustafsson, S. A., Edlund, B., Davén, J., Kjellin, L., & Norring, C. (2011). How to deal with sociocultural pressures in daily life: reflections of adolescent girls suffering from eating disorders. *J Multidiscip Healthc*, *4*, 103-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/jmdh.S17319</u>
- Hadero, H., & D'innocenzio, A. (2022, September 4). Americans splurge on beauty, despite pullbacks elsewhere. *CTV News*. <u>https://www.ctvnews.ca/business/americans-splurge-on-beauty-despite-pullbacks-elsewhere-1.6055276</u>
- Hajizadeh, Y., Kiani Feizabadi, G., & Feizi, A. (2020). Dietary Habits and Personal Care Product Use as Predictors of Urinary Concentrations of Parabens in Iranian Adolescents. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 39(12), 2378-2388. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/etc.4861</u>
- Hale, S. E., Arp, H. P. H., Schliebner, I., & Neumann, M. (2020). Persistent, mobile and toxic (PMT) and very persistent and very mobile (vPvM) substances pose an equivalent level of concern to persistent, bioaccumulative and toxic (PBT) and very persistent and very bioaccumulative (vPvB) substances under REACH. *Environmental Sciences Europe*, 32(1), 155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-020-00440-4</u>
- Hammel, S. C., Levasseur, J. L., Hoffman, K., Phillips, A. L., Lorenzo, A. M., Calafat, A. M., Webster, T. F., & Stapleton, H. M. (2019). Children's exposure to phthalates and nonphthalate plasticizers in the home: The TESIE study. *Environment International*, 132(du1, 7807270), 105061. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105061</u>
- Han, J., Gu, W., Barrett, H., Yang, D., Tang, S., Sun, J., Liu, J., Krause, H. M., Houck, K. A., & Peng, H. (2021). A Roadmap to the Structure-Related Metabolism Pathways of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in the Early Life Stages of Zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 129(7), 77004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp7169</u>

- Harikishore Kumar Reddy, D. (2017). Water Pollution Control Technologies. In M. A. Abraham (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Sustainable Technologies* (pp. 3-22). Elsevier. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.10163-0
- Hauptman, M., & Woolf, A. D. (2017). Childhood Ingestions of Environmental Toxins: What Are the Risks? *Pediatric Annals, 46*(12), e466-e471. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/19382359-20171116-01</u>
- Health Canada. (2008). Guidance Document: Classification of Products at the Cosmetic-Drug Interface. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/migration/hc-sc/cpsspc/alt_formats/hecs-sesc/pdf/pubs/indust/cosmet_drug_guidedrogue_ref/cosmet_drug_guide-drogue_ref-eng.pdf
- Health Canada. (2015). Results of the Canadian Health Measures Survey Cycle 3 (2012–2013). https://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ewh-semt/alt_formats/pdf/pubs/contaminants/chms-ecmscycle3/chms-ecms-cycle3-eng.pdf
- Heffernan, A. L., Cunningham, T. K., Drage, D. S., Aylward, L. L., Thompson, K., Vijayasarathy, S., Mueller, J. F., Atkin, S. L., & Sathyapalan, T. (2018). Perfluorinated alkyl acids in the serum and follicular fluid of UK women with and without polycystic ovarian syndrome undergoing fertility treatment and associations with hormonal and metabolic parameters. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 221(7), 1068-1075. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2018.07.009
- Heidari, H., Abbas, T., Ok, Y. S., Tsang, D. C. W., Bhatnagar, A., & Khan, E. (2021). GenX is not always a better fluorinated organic compound than PFOA: A critical review on aqueous phase treatability by adsorption and its associated cost. *Water Research*, 205, 117683. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117683</u>
- Henry, N. D., & Fair, P. A. (2013). Comparison of in vitro cytotoxicity, estrogenicity and antiestrogenicity of triclosan, perfluorooctane sulfonate and perfluorooctanoic acid. *Journal of Applied Toxicology*, 33(4), 265-272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.1736</u>
- Higashihara, N., Shiraishi, K., Miyata, K., Oshima, Y., Minobe, Y., & Yamasaki, K. (2007). Subacute oral toxicity study of bisphenol F based on the draft protocol for the "Enhanced OECD Test Guideline no. 407". Archives of Toxicology, 81(12), 825-832. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-007-0223-4</u>
- Hlisníková, H., Petrovičová, I., Kolena, B., Šidlovská, M., & Sirotkin, A. (2020). Effects and Mechanisms of Phthalates' Action on Reproductive Processes and Reproductive Health: A

Literature Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(18). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17186811</u>

- Hong, S., Jeon, H. L., Lee, J., Kim, S., Lee, C., Lee, S., Cho, Y. H., Choi, K., & Yoo, J. (2021). Urinary parabens and their potential sources of exposure among Korean children and adolescents: Korean National Environmental Health Survey 2015-2017. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 236(do6, 100898843), 113781. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2021.113781
- Hoppin, J. A., Brock, J. W., Davis, B. J., & Baird, D. D. (2002). Reproducibility of urinary phthalate metabolites in first morning urine samples. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 110(5), 515-518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.02110515</u>
- Hu, P., Chen, X., Whitener, R. J., Boder, E. T., Jones, J. O., Porollo, A., Chen, J., & Zhao, L. (2013). Effects of parabens on adipocyte differentiation. *Toxicological Sciences*, 131(1), 56-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfs262</u>
- Hu, P., Pan, C., Su, W., Vinturache, A., Hu, Y., Dong, X., & Ding, G. (2022). Associations between exposure to a mixture of phenols, parabens, and phthalates and sex steroid hormones in children 6–19 years from NHANES, 2013–2016. Science of the Total Environment, 822, 153548. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.153548</u>
- Huang, H., Du, G., Zhang, W., Hu, J., Wu, D., Song, L., Xia, Y., & Wang, X. (2014). The in vitro estrogenic activities of triclosan and triclocarban. *Journal of Applied Toxicology*, 34(9), 1060-1067. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.3012</u>
- Huang, P.-C., Kuo, P.-L., Guo, Y.-L., Liao, P.-C., & Lee, C.-C. (2007). Associations between urinary phthalate monoesters and thyroid hormones in pregnant women. *Human Reproduction*, 22(10), 2715-2722. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dem205</u>
- Huang, P.-C., Tsai, C.-H., Liang, W.-Y., Li, S.-S., Pan, W.-H., & Chiang, H.-C. (2015). Age and Gender Differences in Urinary Levels of Eleven Phthalate Metabolites in General Taiwanese Population after a DEHP Episode. *PloS One*, 10(7), e0133782. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133782</u>
- Huang, P. C., Chen, H. C., Chou, W. C., Lin, H. W., Chang, W. T., & Chang, J. W. (2022). Cumulative risk assessment and exposure characteristics of parabens in the general Taiwanese using multiple hazard indices approaches. *Science of the Total Environment*, 843((Huang, Chang) National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, National Health Research Institutes, Miaoli, Taiwan (Republic of China)(Huang) Department of Medical Research, China Medical University Hospital, China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwa), 156821. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.156821</u>

- Huang, W. Y., Cai, Y. Z., & Zhang, Y. (2010). Natural phenolic compounds from medicinal herbs and dietary plants: potential use for cancer prevention. *Nutrition and Cancer*, 62(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/01635580903191585
- Issaoui, M., Delgado, A. M., Caruso, G., Micali, M., Barbera, M., Atrous, H., Ouslati, A., & Chammen, N. (2020). Phenols, Flavors, and the Mediterranean Diet. *Journal of AOAC International*, 103(4), 915-924. https://doi.org/10.1093/jaocint/qsz018
- Jala, A., Varghese, B., Dutta, R., Adela, R., & Borkar, R. M. (2022). Levels of parabens and bisphenols in personal care products and urinary concentrations in Indian young adult women: Implications for human exposure and health risk assessment. *Chemosphere, 297*(b4d, 0320657), 134028. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.134028
- Jalal, N., Surendranath, A. R., Pathak, J. L., Yu, S., & Chung, C. Y. (2018). Bisphenol A (BPA) the mighty and the mutagenic. *Toxicol Rep, 5*, 76-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxrep.2017.12.013</u>
- Janjua, N. R., Frederiksen, H., Skakkebaek, N. E., Wulf, H. C., & Andersson, A. M. (2008). Urinary excretion of phthalates and paraben after repeated whole-body topical application in humans. *International Journal of Andrology*, 31(2), 118-130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2605.2007.00841.x</u>
- Jaworska, N., & MacQueen, G. (2015). Adolescence as a unique developmental period. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience, 40*(5), 291-293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/jpn.150268</u>
- Jeddi, M. Z., Soltanmohammadi, R., Barbieri, G., Fabricio, A. S. C., Pitter, G., Zuanna, T. D., & Canova, C. (2022). To which extent are per-and poly-fluorinated substances associated to metabolic syndrome? *Reviews on Environmental Health*, 37(2), 211-228. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1515/reveh-2020-0144</u>
- Ji, K., Hong, S., Kho, Y., & Choi, K. (2013). Effects of bisphenol s exposure on endocrine functions and reproduction of zebrafish. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(15), 8793-8800. https://doi.org/10.1021/es400329t
- Jurewicz, J., Radwan, M., Wielgomas, B., Kałużny, P., Klimowska, A., Radwan, P., & Hanke, W. (2018). Environmental levels of triclosan and male fertility. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 25(6), 5484-5490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-0866-5</u>

- Jurewicz, J., Radwan, M., Wielgomas, B., Karwacka, A., Klimowska, A., Kałużny, P., Radwan, P., & Hanke, W. (2020). Parameters of ovarian reserve in relation to urinary concentrations of parabens. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source, 19*(1), 26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-020-00580-3</u>
- Jurewicz, J., Radwan, M., Wielgomas, B., Klimowska, A., Kałużny, P., Radwan, P., Jakubowski, L., & Hanke, W. (2017). Environmental exposure to parabens and sperm chromosome disomy. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, 27(5), 332-343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09603123.2017.1339784</u>
- Kabir, E. R., Rahman, M. S., & Rahman, I. (2015). A review on endocrine disruptors and their possible impacts on human health. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 40(1), 241-258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2015.06.009</u>
- Kar, S., Sepúlveda, M. S., Roy, K., & Leszczynski, J. (2017). Endocrine-disrupting activity of perand polyfluoroalkyl substances: Exploring combined approaches of ligand and structure based modeling. *Chemosphere*, 184, 514-523. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.06.024</u>
- Karačonji, I. B., Jurica, S. A., Lasić, D., & Jurica, K. (2017). Facts about phthalate toxicity in humans and their occurrence in alcoholic beverages. Arhiv Za Higijenu Rada i Toksikologiju, 68(2), 81-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/aiht-2017-68-2951</u>
- Kay, J. (2013, May 6). Johnson & Johnson Removes Some Chemicals from Baby Shampoo, Other Products. *Scientific American*. <u>https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/johnson-and-johnson-removes-some-chemicals-from-baby-shampoo-other-products/</u>
- Khalid, M., & Abdollahi, M. (2021). Environmental Distribution of Personal Care Products and Their Effects on Human Health. *Iran J Pharm Res, 20*(1), 216-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.22037/ijpr.2021.114891.15088</u>
- Kim, M. J., & Park, Y. J. (2019). Bisphenols and Thyroid Hormone. *Endocrinol Metab (Seoul)*, 34(4), 340-348. <u>https://doi.org/10.3803/EnM.2019.34.4.340</u>
- Kim, S., Lee, S., Shin, C., Lee, J., Kim, S., Lee, A., Park, J., Kho, Y., Moos, R. K., Koch, H. M., Kim, S., & Choi, K. (2018). Urinary parabens and triclosan concentrations and associated exposure characteristics in a Korean population-A comparison between night-time and first-morning urine. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 221(4), 632-641. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2018.03.009</u>

- Kim, S. Y., Hong, Y. P., & Yang, Y. J. (2021). The Impairment of Thyroid Hormones Homeostasis after Short-Term Exposure to Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate in Adolescent Male Rats. *Dev Reprod*, 25(4), 293-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.12717/dr.2021.25.4.293</u>
- Kirchhof, M. G., & de Gannes, G. C. (2013). The health controversies of parabens. *Skin Therapy Letter*, *18*(2), 5-7.
- Kjeldsen, L. S., & Bonefeld-Jørgensen, E. C. (2013). Perfluorinated compounds affect the function of sex hormone receptors. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 20(11), 8031-8044. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-1753-3</u>
- Koeppe, E. S., Ferguson, K. K., Colacino, J. A., & Meeker, J. D. (2013). Relationship between urinary triclosan and paraben concentrations and serum thyroid measures in NHANES 2007-2008. Science of the Total Environment, 445-446, 299-305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.12.052</u>
- Koniecki, D., Wang, R., Moody, R. P., & Zhu, J. (2011). Phthalates in cosmetic and personal care products: Concentrations and possible dermal exposure. *Environmental Research*, 111(3), 329-336. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2011.01.013</u>
- Koppen, G., Govarts, E., Vanermen, G., Voorspoels, S., Govindan, M., Dewolf, M.-C., Den Hond, E., Biot, P., Casteleyn, L., Kolossa-Gehring, M., Schwedler, G., Angerer, J., Koch, H. M., Schindler, B. K., Castano, A., Lopez, M. E., Sepai, O., Exley, K., Bloemen, L., Knudsen, L. E., Joas, R., Joas, A., Schoeters, G., & Covaci, A. (2019). Mothers and children are related, even in exposure to chemicals present in common consumer products. *Environmental Research, 175*(ei2, 0147621), 297-307. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.05.023
- Lang, C., Fisher, M., Neisa, A., MacKinnon, L., Kuchta, S., MacPherson, S., Probert, A., & Arbuckle, T. E. (2016). Personal Care Product Use in Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period: Implications for Exposure Assessment. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 13(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13010105</u>
- Larsson, K., Ljung Bjorklund, K., Palm, B., Wennberg, M., Kaj, L., Lindh, C. H., Jonsson, B. A. G., & Berglund, M. (2014). Exposure determinants of phthalates, parabens, bisphenol A and triclosan in Swedish mothers and their children. *Environment International*, 73(du1, 7807270), 323-333. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.08.014</u>
- Lauretta, R., Sansone, A., Sansone, M., Romanelli, F., & Appetecchia, M. (2019). Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals: Effects on Endocrine Glands [Review]. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00178</u>

- Le Fol, V., Aït-Aïssa, S., Sonavane, M., Porcher, J.-M., Balaguer, P., Cravedi, J.-P., Zalko, D., & Brion, F. (2017). In vitro and in vivo estrogenic activity of BPA, BPF and BPS in zebrafishspecific assays. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 142, 150-156. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.04.009</u>
- Lee, H., Lee, J., Choi, K., & Kim, K.-T. (2019). Comparative analysis of endocrine disrupting effects of major phthalates in employed two cell lines (MVLN and H295R) and embryonic zebrafish assay. *Environmental Research*, *172*, 319-325. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.02.033</u>
- Lee, S., Kim, C., Shin, H., Kho, Y., & Choi, K. (2019). Comparison of thyroid hormone disruption potentials by bisphenols A, S, F, and Z in embryo-larval zebrafish. *Chemosphere*, 221, 115-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.01.019
- Leppert, B., Strunz, S., Seiwert, B., Schlittenbauer, L., Schlichting, R., Pfeiffer, C., Röder, S., Bauer, M., Borte, M., Stangl, G. I., Schöneberg, T., Schulz, A., Karkossa, I., Rolle-Kampczyk, U. E., Thürmann, L., von Bergen, M., Escher, B. I., Junge, K. M., Reemtsma, T., Lehmann, I., & Polte, T. (2020). Maternal paraben exposure triggers childhood overweight development. *Nature Communications, 11*(1), 561. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-14202-1
- Levasseur, J. L., Hammel, S. C., Hoffman, K., Phillips, A. L., Zhang, S., Ye, X., Calafat, A. M., Webster, T. F., & Stapleton, H. M. (2021). Young children's exposure to phenols in the home: Associations between house dust, hand wipes, silicone wristbands, and urinary biomarkers. *Environment International*, 147(du1, 7807270), 106317. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106317</u>
- Lewis, R. C., Meeker, J. D., Peterson, K. E., Lee, J. M., Pace, G. G., Cantoral, A., & Tellez-Rojo, M. M. (2013). Predictors of urinary bisphenol A and phthalate metabolite concentrations in Mexican children. *Chemosphere*, 93(10), 2390-2398. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.08.038</u>
- Li, C., Cui, X., Chen, Y., & Liao, C. (2020). Paraben concentrations in human fingernail and its association with personal care product use. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 202*(edk, 7805381), 110933. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.110933</u>
- Li, J., Ma, M., & Wang, Z. (2010). In vitro profiling of endocrine disrupting effects of phenols. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 24(1), 201-207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2009.09.008

- Li, L., Li, X., Chen, X., Chen, Y., Liu, J., Chen, F., Ge, F., Ye, L., Lian, Q., & Ge, R. S. (2018). Perfluorooctane sulfonate impairs rat Leydig cell development during puberty. *Chemosphere, 190*, 43-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.09.116</u>
- Li, M., Jin, Y.-T., Yan, J.-F., Liu, Z., Feng, N.-X., Han, W., Huang, L.-W., Li, Q.-K., Yeung, K.-L., Zhou, S.-Q., & Mo, C.-H. (2022). Exploration of perfluorooctane sulfonate degradation properties and mechanism via electron-transfer dominated radical process. *Water Research*, 215, 118259. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2022.118259</u>
- Li, N., Ho, W., Wu, R. S. S., Tsang, E. P. K., Ying, G.-G., & Deng, W.-J. (2019). Ultra violet filters in the urine of preschool children and drinking water. *Environment International*, 133(Pt B), 105246. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105246
- Li, Y., Fletcher, T., Mucs, D., Scott, K., Lindh, C. H., Tallving, P., & Jakobsson, K. (2018). Halflives of PFOS, PFHxS and PFOA after end of exposure to contaminated drinking water. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 75(1), 46-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2017-104651</u>
- Liang, J., Yang, X., Liu, Q. S., Sun, Z., Ren, Z., Wang, X., Zhang, Q., Ren, X., Liu, X., Zhou, Q., & Jiang, G. (2022). Assessment of Thyroid Endocrine Disruption Effects of Parabens Using In Vivo, In Vitro, and In Silico Approaches. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 56(1), 460-469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c06562</u>
- Liao, C., & Kannan, K. (2014). A Survey of Alkylphenols, Bisphenols, and Triclosan in Personal Care Products from China and the United States. *Archives of Environmental Contamination* and Toxicology, 67(1), 50-59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-014-0016-8</u>
- Lim, S. (2020). The associations between personal care products use and urinary concentrations of phthalates, parabens, and triclosan in various age groups: The Korean National Environmental Health Survey Cycle 3 2015-2017. *The Science of the total environment,* 742(uj0, 0330500), 140640. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140640
- Lin, H., Wu, H., Liu, F., Yang, H., Shen, L., Chen, J., Zhang, X., Zhong, Y., Zhang, H., & Liu, Z. (2022). Assessing the hepatotoxicity of PFOA, PFOS, and 6:2 Cl-PFESA in black-spotted frogs (Rana nigromaculata) and elucidating potential association with gut microbiota. *Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex: 1987), 312*, 120029. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.120029
- Little, S. (2020). Everything You Need to Know About California's Toxic-Free Cosmetics Act. Environmental Working Group. Accessed 10 March 2023 from

https://www.ewg.org/news-insights/news/2020/06/everything-you-need-know-aboutcalifornias-toxic-free-cosmetics-act

- Liu, C., Zhao, L., Wei, L., & Li, L. (2015). DEHP reduces thyroid hormones via interacting with hormone synthesis-related proteins, deiodinases, transthyretin, receptors, and hepatic enzymes in rats. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 22(16), 12711-12719. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-4567-7
- Liu, J., & Martin, J. W. (2017). Prolonged Exposure to Bisphenol A from Single Dermal Contact Events. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(17), 9940-9949. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b03093</u>
- Liu, W., Yang, B., Wu, L., Zou, W., Pan, X., Zou, T., Liu, F., Xia, L., Wang, X., & Zhang, D. (2015). Involvement of NRF2 in Perfluorooctanoic Acid-Induced Testicular Damage in Male Mice. *Biology of Reproduction*, 93(2), 41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.115.128819</u>
- Long, S. E., Kahn, L. G., Trasande, L., & Jacobson, M. H. (2021). Urinary phthalate metabolites and alternatives and serum sex steroid hormones among pre- and postmenopausal women from NHANES, 2013-16. Science of the Total Environment, 769, 144560. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144560
- López-Doval, S., Salgado, R., Pereiro, N., Moyano, R., & Lafuente, A. (2014). Perfluorooctane sulfonate effects on the reproductive axis in adult male rats. *Environmental Research*, 134, 158-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.07.006</u>
- Lopez-Espinosa, M.-J., Mondal, D., Armstrong, B. G., Eskenazi, B., & Fletcher, T. (2016). Perfluoroalkyl Substances, Sex Hormones, and Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 at 6–9 Years of Age: A Cross-Sectional Analysis within the C8 Health Project. Environmental Health Perspectives, 124(8), 1269-1275. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1289/ehp.1509869</u>
- Lu, S., Yu, Y., Ren, L., Zhang, X., Liu, G., & Yu, Y. (2018). Estimation of intake and uptake of bisphenols and triclosan from personal care products by dermal contact. *Science of the Total Environment,* 621, 1389-1396. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.088
- Lucaccioni, L., Trevisani, V., Marrozzini, L., Bertoncelli, N., Predieri, B., Lugli, L., Berardi, A., & Iughetti, L. (2020). Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals and Their Effects during Female Puberty: A Review of Current Evidence. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(6). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21062078</u>

- Lv, J., Li, Y., Chen, J., Li, R., Bao, C., Ding, Z., Ren, W., Du, Z., Wang, S., Huang, Y., & Wang, Q.-n. (2022). Maternal exposure to bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate during the thyroid hormonedependent stage induces persistent emotional and cognitive impairment in middle-aged offspring mice. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 163, 112967. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2022.112967</u>
- Lv, Y., Lu, S., Dai, Y., Rui, C., Wang, Y., Zhou, Y., Li, Y., Pang, Q., & Fan, R. (2017). Higher dermal exposure of cashiers to BPA and its association with DNA oxidative damage. *Environment International*, 98, 69-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.10.001</u>
- Mahood, I. K., Scott, H. M., Brown, R., Hallmark, N., Walker, M., & Sharpe, R. M. (2007). In Utero Exposure to Di(n-butyl) Phthalate and Testicular Dysgenesis: Comparison of Fetal and Adult End Points and Their Dose Sensitivity. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 115(Suppl 1), 55-61. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1289/ehp.9366</u>
- Makri, A., Goveia, M., Balbus, J., & Parkin, R. (2004). CHILDREN's SUSCEPTIBILITY TO CHEMICALS: A REVIEW BY DEVELOPMENTAL STAGE. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part B, 7*(6), 417-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10937400490512465</u>
- Manová, E., von Goetz, N., Keller, C., Siegrist, M., & Hungerbühler, K. (2013). Use patterns of leave-on personal care products among Swiss-German children, adolescents, and adults. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(7), 2778-2798. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10072778</u>
- Marcoux, D. (1999). Cosmetics, skin care, and appearance in teenagers. *Seminars in Cutaneous Medicine and Surgery*, 18(3), 244-249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1085-5629(99)80022-4</u>
- Martín-Pozo, L., Gómez-Regalado, M. D. C., Moscoso-Ruiz, I., & Zafra-Gómez, A. (2021). Analytical methods for the determination of endocrine disrupting chemicals in cosmetics and personal care products: A review. *Talanta*, 234, 122642. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2021.122642</u>
- McCaleb, A., & Cull, V. V. (2000). Sociocultural influences and self-care practices of middle adolescents. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 15(1), 30-35. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0882-5963(00)80021-4
- McDermott, M. T. (2020). Hypothyroidism. Annals of Internal Medicine, 173(1), Itc1-itc16. https://doi.org/10.7326/aitc202007070

- Meegoda, J. N., Kewalramani, J. A., Li, B., & Marsh, R. W. (2020). A Review of the Applications, Environmental Release, and Remediation Technologies of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(21). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17218117</u>
- Meeker, J. D., Calafat, A. M., & Hauser, R. (2007). Di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate metabolites may alter thyroid hormone levels in men. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 115(7), 1029-1034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.9852</u>
- Meeker, J. D., Calafat, A. M., & Hauser, R. (2009). Urinary metabolites of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate are associated with decreased steroid hormone levels in adult men. *Journal of Andrology*, 30(3), 287-297. <u>https://doi.org/10.2164/jandrol.108.006403</u>
- Meeker, J. D., Calafat, A. M., & Hauser, R. (2012). Urinary phthalate metabolites and their biotransformation products: predictors and temporal variability among men and women. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, 22(4), 376-385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2012.7</u>
- Meeker, J. D., & Ferguson, K. K. (2011). Relationship between Urinary Phthalate and Bisphenol A Concentrations and Serum Thyroid Measures in U.S. Adults and Adolescents from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2007–2008. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 119(10), 1396-1402. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1289/ehp.1103582</u>
- Meeker, J. D., & Ferguson, K. K. (2014). Urinary phthalate metabolites are associated with decreased serum testosterone in men, women, and children from NHANES 2011-2012. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 99(11), 4346-4352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-2555</u>
- Merola, C., Lai, O., Conte, A., Crescenzo, G., Torelli, T., Alloro, M., & Perugini, M. (2020). Toxicological assessment and developmental abnormalities induced by butylparaben and ethylparaben exposure in zebrafish early-life stages. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 80, 103504. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2020.103504</u>
- Miller, W. L., & Auchus, R. J. (2011). The molecular biology, biochemistry, and physiology of human steroidogenesis and its disorders. *Endocrine Reviews*, 32(1), 81-151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2010-0013</u>
- Mint, A., Hotchkiss, S. A. M., & Caldwell, J. (1994). Percutaneous absorption of diethyl phthalate through rat and human skin in vitro. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 8(2), 251-256. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0887-2333(94)90190-2</u>

- Mintel Press Office. (2016, July 28). *Beauty is child's play: 80% of US tweens use beauty and personal care products*. Mintel Group Ltd. <u>https://www.mintel.com/press-centre/beauty-and-personal-care/beauty-is-childs-play-80-of-us-tweens-use-beauty-and-personal-care-products</u>
- Miodovnik, A., Engel, S. M., Zhu, C., Ye, X., Soorya, L. V., Silva, M. J., Calafat, A. M., & Wolff, M. S. (2011). Endocrine disruptors and childhood social impairment. *Neurotoxicology*, 32(2), 261-267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuro.2010.12.009</u>
- Mohatarem, K. F. (2021, January 17). How TikTok 'skinfluencers' are boosting the bottom line of the beauty business. *CBC News*. <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/edmonton/how-tiktok-skinfluencers-are-boosting-the-bottom-line-of-the-beauty-business-1.5803196</u>
- Molina-Molina, J.-M., Amaya, E., Grimaldi, M., Sáenz, J.-M., Real, M., Fernández, M. F., Balaguer, P., & Olea, N. (2013). In vitro study on the agonistic and antagonistic activities of bisphenol-S and other bisphenol-A congeners and derivatives via nuclear receptors. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 272(1), 127-136. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2013.05.015</u>
- Molina-Molina, J.-M., Escande, A., Pillon, A., Gomez, E., Pakdel, F., Cavaillès, V., Olea, N., Aït-Aïssa, S., & Balaguer, P. (2008). Profiling of benzophenone derivatives using fish and human estrogen receptor-specific in vitro bioassays. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 232(3), 384-395. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2008.07.017</u>
- Mondal, S., Raja, K., Schweizer, U., & Mugesh, G. (2016). Chemistry and Biology in the Biosynthesis and Action of Thyroid Hormones. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 55(27), 7606-7630. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201601116</u>
- Montes-Grajales, D., Fennix-Agudelo, M., & Miranda-Castro, W. (2017). Occurrence of personal care products as emerging chemicals of concern in water resources: A review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 595, 601-614. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.03.286</u>
- Moorman, W. J., Cheever, K. L., Skaggs, S. R., Clark, J. C., Turner, T. W., Marlow, K. L., & Schrader, S. M. (2000). Male adolescent exposure to endocrine-disrupting pesticides: vinclozolin exposure in peripubertal rabbits. *Andrologia*, 32(4-5), 285-293. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0272.2000.00400.x</u>
- Moos, R. K., Angerer, J., Dierkes, G., Brüning, T., & Koch, H. M. (2016). Metabolism and elimination of methyl, iso- and n-butyl paraben in human urine after single oral dosage. *Archives of Toxicology*, *90*(11), 2699-2709. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-015-1636-0</u>

- Morgan, M., Deoraj, A., Felty, Q., & Roy, D. (2017). Environmental estrogen-like endocrine disrupting chemicals and breast cancer. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 457, 89-102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2016.10.003</u>
- Munn, Z., Peters, M. D. J., Stern, C., Tufanaru, C., McArthur, A., & Aromataris, E. (2018). Systematic review or scoping review? Guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0611-x</u>
- Murawski, A., Tschersich, C., Rucic, E., Schwedler, G., Moos, R. K., Kasper-Sonnenberg, M., Bruning, T., Koch, H. M., & Kolossa-Gehring, M. (2021). Parabens in urine of children and adolescents in Germany - human biomonitoring results of the german environmental survey 2014-2017 (GerES V). *Environmental Research*, 194(ei2, 0147621), 110502. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110502</u>
- Murphy, B., Hoptroff, M., Arnold, D., Eccles, R., & Campbell-Lee, S. (2021). In-vivo impact of common cosmetic preservative systems in full formulation on the skin microbiome. *PloS One, 16*(7), e0254172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254172</u>
- Myers, I. (2021). *Maryland consumer protection bill becomes law*. Environmental Working Group. Accessed 10 March 2023 from <u>https://www.ewg.org/news-insights/news-release/maryland-consumer-protection-bill-becomes-law</u>
- Mylchreest, E., Sar, M., Wallace, D. G., & Foster, P. M. D. (2002). Fetal testosterone insufficiency and abnormal proliferation of Leydig cells and gonocytes in rats exposed to di(n-butyl) phthalate. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 16(1), 19-28. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0890-6238(01)00201-5</u>
- Nakiwala, D., Vernet, C., Lyon-Caen, S., Lavorel, A., Rolland, M., Cracowski, C., Pin, I., Calafat, A. M., Slama, R., & Philippat, C. (2020). Use of personal care products during pregnancy in relation to urinary concentrations of select phenols: A longitudinal analysis from the SEPAGES feasibility study. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 227, 113518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113518</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022a). PubChem Annotation Record for DIISOBUTYL PHTHALATE, Source: Hazardous Substances Data Bank (HSDB). https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/source/hsdb/5247#section=Uses-(Complete)
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022b). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 3026, *Dibutyl phthalate*. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/3026</u>

- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022c). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 4632, *Oxybenzone*. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/4632</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022d). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 5564, *Triclosan*. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/5564</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022e). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 6623, *Bisphenol A*. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/6623</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022f). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 6626, 4,4'-Sulfonyldiphenol. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/6626</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022g). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 6781, *Diethyl phthalate*. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/6781</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022h). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 6782, Diisobutyl phthalate. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/6782</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022i). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 7175, *Propylparaben*. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/7175</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022j). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 7184, *Butylparaben*. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/7184</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022k). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 7456, *Methylparaben*. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Methylparaben</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (20221). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 8434, *Ethylparaben*. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/8434</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022m). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 8554, *Dimethyl phthalate*. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/8554</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022n). *PubChem Compound Summary for CID* 9554, *Perfluorooctanoic acid*. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/9554</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022o). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 12111, 4,4'-Methylenediphenol. https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/12111

- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022p). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 74483, Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/74483</u>
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022q). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 114481. <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/114481</u>
- Ndaw, S., Remy, A., Jargot, D., & Robert, A. (2016). Occupational exposure of cashiers to Bisphenol A via thermal paper: urinary biomonitoring study. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 89(6), 935-946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-016-1132-8</u>
- Nian, M., Zhou, W., Feng, Y., Wang, Y., Chen, Q., & Zhang, J. (2022). Emerging and legacy PFAS and cytokine homeostasis in women of childbearing age. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 6517. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-10501-8
- Nicole, W. (2020). Breaking It Down: Estimating Short-Chain PFAS Half-Lives in a Human Population. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 128(11), 114002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp7853</u>
- Nishihama, Y., Yoshinaga, J., Iida, A., Konishi, S., Imai, H., Yoneyama, M., Nakajima, D., & Shiraishi, H. (2016). Association between paraben exposure and menstrual cycle in female university students in Japan. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 63, 107-113. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2016.05.010
- Nowak, K., Jabłońska, E., Garley, M., Iwaniuk, A., Radziwon, P., Wołczyński, S., & Ratajczak-Wrona, W. (2022). Investigation of estrogen-like effects of parabens on human neutrophils. *Environmental Research*, *214*, 113893. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.113893</u>
- Nowak, K., Ratajczak–Wrona, W., Górska, M., & Jabłońska, E. (2018). Parabens and their effects on the endocrine system. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 474, 238-251. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2018.03.014
- Oh, J., Choi, J. W., Ahn, Y.-A., & Kim, S. (2018). Pharmacokinetics of bisphenol S in humans after single oral administration. *Environment International*, 112, 127-133. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.11.020
- Oishi, S. (2001). Effects of butylparaben on the male reproductive system in rats. *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, 17(1), 31-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/0748233701th0930a</u>

- Oishi, S. (2002). Effects of propyl paraben on the male reproductive system. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 40(12), 1807-1813. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0278-6915(02)00204-1</u>
- Okubo, T., Yokoyama, Y., Kano, K., & Kano, I. (2001). ER-dependent estrogenic activity of parabens assessed by proliferation of human breast cancer MCF-7 cells and expression of ERα and PR. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 39(12), 1225-1232. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0278-6915(01)00073-4</u>
- Olsen, G. W., Burris, J. M., Burlew, M. M., & Mandel, J. H. (2003). Epidemiologic Assessment of Worker Serum Perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) and Perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) Concentrations and Medical Surveillance Examinations. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 45(3). <u>https://journals.lww.com/joem/Fulltext/2003/03000/Epidemiologic_Assessment_of_Work</u> <u>er_Serum.8.aspx</u>
- Olsen, G. W., & Zobel, L. R. (2007). Assessment of lipid, hepatic, and thyroid parameters with serum perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) concentrations in fluorochemical production workers. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 81(2), 231-246. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-007-0213-0
- Overgaard, L. E. K., Main, K. M., Frederiksen, H., Stender, S., Szecsi, P. B., Williams, H. C., & Thyssen, J. P. (2017). Children with atopic dermatitis and frequent emollient use have increased urinary levels of low-molecular-weight phthalate metabolites and parabens. *Allergy*, 72(11), 1768-1777. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/all.13157</u>
- Özdemir, E., Barlas, N., & Çetinkaya, M. A. (2018). Assessing the antiandrogenic properties of propyl paraben using the Hershberger bioassay. *Toxicol Res (Camb)*, 7(2), 235-243. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7tx00319f
- Pagoni, A., Arvaniti, O. S., & Kalantzi, O.-I. (2022). Exposure to phthalates from personal care products: Urinary levels and predictors of exposure. *Environmental Research*, 212, 113194. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.113194</u>
- Pan, Y., Cui, Q., Wang, J., Sheng, N., Jing, J., Yao, B., & Dai, J. (2019). Profiles of Emerging and Legacy Per-/Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Matched Serum and Semen Samples: New Implications for Human Semen Quality. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 127(12), 127005. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp4431</u>
- Panieri, E., Baralic, K., Djukic-Cosic, D., Buha Djordjevic, A., & Saso, L. (2022). PFAS Molecules: A Major Concern for the Human Health and the Environment. *Toxics*, 10(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics10020044</u>

- Parlett, L. E., Calafat, A. M., & Swan, S. H. (2013). Women's exposure to phthalates in relation to use of personal care products. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, 23(2), 197-206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2012.105</u>
- Pedersen, S., Marra, F., Nicoli, S., & Santi, P. (2007). In vitro skin permeation and retention of parabens from cosmetic formulations. *International Journal of Cosmetic Science*, 29(5), 361-367. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2494.2007.00388.x</u>
- Pelch, K. E., Reade, A., Wolffe, T. A. M., & Kwiatkowski, C. F. (2019). PFAS health effects database: Protocol for a systematic evidence map. *Environment International*, 130, 104851. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.05.045</u>
- Petric, Z., Ružić, J., & Žuntar, I. (2021). The controversies of parabens an overview nowadays. *Acta Pharmaceutica (Zagreb, Croatia), 71*(1), 17-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/acph-2021-0001</u>
- Pham, M. T., Rajić, A., Greig, J. D., Sargeant, J. M., Papadopoulos, A., & McEwen, S. A. (2014). A scoping review of scoping reviews: advancing the approach and enhancing the consistency. *Res Synth Methods*, 5(4), 371-385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jrsm.1123</u>
- Philippat, C., Bennett, D., Calafat, A. M., & Picciotto, I. H. (2015). Exposure to select phthalates and phenols through use of personal care products among Californian adults and their children. *Environmental Research*, 140(ei2, 0147621), 369-376. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.04.009</u>
- Predieri, B., Alves, C. A. D., & Iughetti, L. (2022). New insights on the effects of endocrinedisrupting chemicals on children. *Jornal de Pediatría*, 98, S73-S85. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jped.2021.11.003</u>
- Prusakiewicz, J. J., Harville, H. M., Zhang, Y., Ackermann, C., & Voorman, R. L. (2007). Parabens inhibit human skin estrogen sulfotransferase activity: Possible link to paraben estrogenic effects. *Toxicology*, 232(3), 248-256. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2007.01.010</u>
- Rachoń, D. (2015). Endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) and female cancer: Informing the patients. *Reviews in Endocrine & Metabolic Disorders, 16*(4), 359-364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11154-016-9332-9</u>
- Rael, L. T., Bar-Or, R., Ambruso, D. R., Mains, C. W., Slone, D. S., Craun, M. L., & Bar-Or, D. (2009). Phthalate esters used as plasticizers in packed red blood cell storage bags may lead

to progressive toxin exposure and the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2(3), 166-171. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/oxim.2.3.8608</u>

- Ragnarsdóttir, O., Abdallah, M. A., & Harrad, S. (2022). Dermal uptake: An important pathway of human exposure to perfluoroalkyl substances? *Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex:* 1987), 307, 119478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119478</u>
- Rahman, M. S., Kwon, W. S., Karmakar, P. C., Yoon, S. J., Ryu, B. Y., & Pang, M. G. (2017). Gestational Exposure to Bisphenol A Affects the Function and Proteome Profile of F1 Spermatozoa in Adult Mice. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 125(2), 238-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp378</u>
- Raley, E., Quirós-Alcalá, L., & Matsui, E. C. (2021). Chemical Exposures via Personal Care Products and the Disproportionate Asthma Burden Among the U.S. Black Population. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, 9(9), 3290-3292. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2021.04.063</u>
- Ramadan, M., Cooper, B., & Posnack, N. G. (2020). Bisphenols and phthalates: Plastic chemical exposures can contribute to adverse cardiovascular health outcomes. *Birth Defects Res*, *112*(17), 1362-1385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bdr2.1752</u>
- Ramhøj, L., Hass, U., Gilbert, M. E., Wood, C., Svingen, T., Usai, D., Vinggaard, A. M., Mandrup, K., & Axelstad, M. (2020). Evaluating thyroid hormone disruption: investigations of long-term neurodevelopmental effects in rats after perinatal exposure to perfluorohexane sulfonate (PFHxS). *Scientific Reports, 10*(1), 2672. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59354-z</u>
- Ramírez Carnero, A., Lestido-Cardama, A., Vazquez Loureiro, P., Barbosa-Pereira, L., Rodríguez Bernaldo de Quirós, A., & Sendón, R. (2021). Presence of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in Food Contact Materials (FCM) and Its Migration to Food. *Foods*, 10(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods10071443</u>
- Rickard, B. P., Rizvi, I., & Fenton, S. E. (2022). Per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) and female reproductive outcomes: PFAS elimination, endocrine-mediated effects, and disease. *Toxicology*, *465*, 153031. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2021.153031</u>
- Ritvo, E., Del Rosso, J. Q., Stillman, M. A., & La Riche, C. (2011). Psychosocial judgements and perceptions of adolescents with acne vulgaris: A blinded, controlled comparison of adult and peer evaluations. *Biopsychosocial Medicine*, 5(1), 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1751-0759-5-11</u>

- Robledo, C. A., Mendola, P., & Selevan, S. G. (2019). Critical Windows of Children's Development and Susceptibility to Environmental Toxins☆☆☆. In J. Nriagu (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Environmental Health (Second Edition)* (pp. 767-780). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.11506-4</u>
- Rodgers, K. M., Swartz, C. H., Occhialini, J., Bassignani, P., McCurdy, M., & Schaider, L. A. (2022). How Well Do Product Labels Indicate the Presence of PFAS in Consumer Items Used by Children and Adolescents? *Environmental Science & Technology*, 56(10), 6294-6304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c05175</u>
- Romeo, R. D. (2005). Neuroendocrine and Behavioral Development during Puberty: A Tale of Two Axes. In *Vitamins and Hormones* (Vol. 71, pp. 1-25). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0083-6729(05)71001-3</u>
- Romeo, R. D. (2018). The metamorphosis of adolescent hormonal stress reactivity: A focus on animal models. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology, 49*, 43-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2017.12.003
- Rosenmai, A. K., Dybdahl, M., Pedersen, M., Alice van Vugt-Lussenburg, B. M., Wedebye, E. B., Taxvig, C., & Vinggaard, A. M. (2014). Are structural analogues to bisphenol a safe alternatives? *Toxicological Sciences*, 139(1), 35-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfu030</u>
- Routledge, E. J., Parker, J., Odum, J., Ashby, J., & Sumpter, J. P. (1998). Some Alkyl Hydroxy Benzoate Preservatives (Parabens) Are Estrogenic. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 153(1), 12-19. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1006/taap.1998.8544</u>
- Rudel, R. A., & Perovich, L. J. (2009). Endocrine disrupting chemicals in indoor and outdoor air. *Atmos Environ (1994), 43*(1), 170-181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.09.025</u>
- Runkel, A. A., Snoj-Tratnik, J., Mazej, D., & Horvat, M. (2020). Urinary phthalate concentrations in the slovenian population: An attempt to exposure assessment of family units. *Environmental Research, 186*(ei2, 0147621), 109548. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109548</u>
- Sakhi, A. K., Sabaredzovic, A., Cequier, E., & Thomsen, C. (2017). Phthalate metabolites in Norwegian mothers and children: levels, diurnal variation and use of personal care products. *Science of the Total Environment, 599/600*(Sakhi, A. K.: Department of Environmental Exposure and Epidemiology, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, P.O. Box 4404, Nydalen, 0403 Oslo, Norway), 1984-1992. <u>https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.05.109</u>

- Sakhi, A. K., Sabaredzovic, A., Papadopoulou, E., Cequier, E., & Thomsen, C. (2018). Levels, variability and determinants of environmental phenols in pairs of Norwegian mothers and children. *Environment International*, 114(du1, 7807270), 242-251. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.02.037</u>
- Sandborgh-Englund, G., Adolfsson-Erici, M., Odham, G., & Ekstrand, J. (2006). Pharmacokinetics of triclosan following oral ingestion in humans. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Part A*, 69(20), 1861-1873. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390600631706</u>
- Satoh, K., Ohyama, K., Aoki, N., Iida, M., & Nagai, F. (2004). Study on anti-androgenic effects of bisphenol a diglycidyl ether (BADGE), bisphenol F diglycidyl ether (BFDGE) and their derivatives using cells stably transfected with human androgen receptor, AR-EcoScreen. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 42(6), 983-993. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2004.02.011</u>
- Sawyer, S. M., Azzopardi, P. S., Wickremarathne, D., & Patton, G. C. (2018). The age of adolescence. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 2(3), 223-228. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30022-1
- Schmutzler, C., Gotthardt, I., Hofmann, P. J., Radovic, B., Kovacs, G., Stemmler, L., Nobis, I., Bacinski, A., Mentrup, B., Ambrugger, P., Grüters, A., Malendowicz, L. K., Christoffel, J., Jarry, H., Seidlovà-Wuttke, D., Wuttke, W., & Köhrle, J. (2007). Endocrine disruptors and the thyroid gland--a combined in vitro and in vivo analysis of potential new biomarkers. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *115* Suppl 1(Suppl 1), 77-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.9369</u>
- Schreurs, R. H., Sonneveld, E., Jansen, J. H., Seinen, W., & van der Burg, B. (2005). Interaction of polycyclic musks and UV filters with the estrogen receptor (ER), androgen receptor (AR), and progesterone receptor (PR) in reporter gene bioassays. *Toxicological Sciences*, 83(2), 264-272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfi035</u>
- Seo, J.-E., Kim, S., & Kim, B.-H. (2017). In vitro skin absorption tests of three types of parabens using a Franz diffusion cell. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*, 27(3), 320-325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2016.33</u>
- Shao, Y., Zhu, L., Chen, Z., Thalmann, B., Zhou, S., Hollert, H., & Seiler, T. B. (2021). Evidence of increased estrogenicity upon metabolism of Bisphenol F - Elucidation of the key metabolites. *Science of the Total Environment*, 787, 147669. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147669</u>
- Shen, O., Du, G., Sun, H., Wu, W., Jiang, Y., Song, L., & Wang, X. (2009). Comparison of in vitro hormone activities of selected phthalates using reporter gene assays. *Toxicology Letters*, 191(1), 9-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2009.07.019</u>

- Shin, M.-Y., Shin, C., Choi, J. W., Lee, J., Lee, S., & Kim, S. (2019). Pharmacokinetic profile of propyl paraben in humans after oral administration. *Environment International*, 130, 104917. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.104917</u>
- Shoaff, J. R., Coull, B., Weuve, J., Bellinger, D. C., Calafat, A. M., Schantz, S. L., & Korrick, S. A. (2020). Association of Exposure to Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals During Adolescence With Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder-Related Behaviors. JAMA Netw Open, 3(8), e2015041. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.15041</u>
- Šidlovská, M., Petrovicova, I., Kolena, B., Pilka, T., Sovcikova, E., & Trnovec, T. (2017). Exposure of children to phthalates and the impact of consumer practices in Slovakia. *Reviews on Environmental Health, 32*(1-2), 211-214. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1515/reveh-2016-0028</u>
- Skarha, J., Mínguez-Alarcón, L., Williams, P. L., Korevaar, T. I. M., de Poortere, R. A., Broeren, M. A. C., Ford, J. B., Eliot, M., Hauser, R., & Braun, J. M. (2019). Cross-sectional associations between urinary triclosan and serum thyroid function biomarker concentrations in women. *Environment International*, 122, 256-262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.11.015</u>
- Solan, M. E., Franco, M. E., & Lavado, R. (2022). Effects of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) and benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) co-exposure on phase I biotransformation in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-022-01093-1</u>
- Song, M., Kim, Y. J., Park, Y. K., & Ryu, J. C. (2012). Changes in thyroid peroxidase activity in response to various chemicals. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 14(8), 2121-2126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c2em30106g</u>
- Soni, M. G., Burdock, G. A., Taylor, S. L., & Greenberg, N. A. (2001). Safety assessment of propyl paraben: a review of the published literature. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 39(6), 513-532. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0278-6915(00)00162-9</u>
- Soni, M. G., Carabin, I. G., & Burdock, G. A. (2005). Safety assessment of esters of phydroxybenzoic acid (parabens). *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 43(7), 985-1015. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2005.01.020</u>
- Sonthithai, P., Suriyo, T., Thiantanawat, A., Watcharasit, P., Ruchirawat, M., & Satayavivad, J. (2016). Perfluorinated chemicals, PFOS and PFOA, enhance the estrogenic effects of 17β-estradiol in T47D human breast cancer cells. *Journal of Applied Toxicology, 36*(6), 790-801. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.3210</u>

- Souter, I., Smith, K. W., Dimitriadis, I., Ehrlich, S., Williams, P. L., Calafat, A. M., & Hauser, R. (2013). The association of bisphenol-A urinary concentrations with antral follicle counts and other measures of ovarian reserve in women undergoing infertility treatments. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 42, 224-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2013.09.008</u>
- Sriphrapradang, C., Chailurkit, L.-o., Aekplakorn, W., & Ongphiphadhanakul, B. (2013). Association between bisphenol A and abnormal free thyroxine level in men. *Endocrine*, 44(2), 441-447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-013-9889-y</u>
- Stacy, S. L., Eliot, M., Etzel, T., Papandonatos, G., Calafat, A. M., Chen, A., Hauser, R., Lanphear, B. P., Sathyanarayana, S., Ye, X., Yolton, K., & Braun, J. M. (2017). Patterns, Variability, and Predictors of Urinary Triclosan Concentrations during Pregnancy and Childhood. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(11), 6404-6413. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b00325
- Stuchlík Fišerová, P., Melymuk, L., Komprdova, K., Dominguez-Romero, E., Scheringer, M., Kohoutek, J., Pribylova, P., Andryskova, L., Piler, P., Koch, H. M., Zvonar, M., Esteban-Lopez, M., Castano, A., & Klanova, J. (2022). Personal care product use and lifestyle affect phthalate and DINCH metabolite levels in teenagers and young adults. *Environmental Research*, 213(ei2, 0147621), 113675. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.113675
- Sugiyama, S.-i., Shimada, N., Miyoshi, H., & Yamauchi, K. (2005). Detection of Thyroid System– Disrupting Chemicals Using in Vitro and in Vivo Screening Assays in Xenopus laevis. *Toxicological Sciences*, 88(2), 367-374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfi330</u>
- Tachachartvanich, P., Singam, E. R. A., Durkin, K. A., Furlow, J. D., Smith, M. T., & La Merrill, M. A. (2022). In Vitro characterization of the endocrine disrupting effects of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) on the human androgen receptor. *Journal of Hazardous Materials, 429*, 128243. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2022.128243</u>
- Tainaka, H., Takahashi, H., Umezawa, M., Tanaka, H., Nishimune, Y., Oshio, S., & Takeda, K. (2012). Evaluation of the testicular toxicity of prenatal exposure to bisphenol A based on microarray analysis combined with MeSH annotation. *Journal of Toxicological Sciences*, 37(3), 539-548. <u>https://doi.org/10.2131/jts.37.539</u>
- Taxvig, C., Vinggaard, A. M., Hass, U., Axelstad, M., Boberg, J., Hansen, P. R., Frederiksen, H.,
 & Nellemann, C. (2008). Do Parabens Have the Ability to Interfere with Steroidogenesis? *Toxicological Sciences*, 106(1), 206-213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfn148</u>

- Teng, C., Goodwin, B., Shockley, K., Xia, M., Huang, R., Norris, J., Merrick, B. A., Jetten, A. M., Austin, C. P., & Tice, R. R. (2013). Bisphenol A affects androgen receptor function via multiple mechanisms. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 203(3), 556-564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2013.03.013</u>
- Thayer, K. A., Doerge, D. R., Hunt, D., Schurman, S. H., Twaddle, N. C., Churchwell, M. I., Garantziotis, S., Kissling, G. E., Easterling, M. R., Bucher, J. R., & Birnbaum, L. S. (2015). Pharmacokinetics of bisphenol A in humans following a single oral administration. *Environment International*, *83*, 107-115. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.06.008</u>
- Thépaut, E., Dirven, H. A. A. M., Haug, L. S., Lindeman, B., Poothong, S., Andreassen, M., Hjertholm, H., & Husøy, T. (2021). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in serum and associations with food consumption and use of personal care products in the Norwegian biomonitoring study from the EU project EuroMix. *Environmental Research*, 195, 110795. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.110795
- Tilton, S. C., Orner, G. A., Benninghoff, A. D., Carpenter, H. M., Hendricks, J. D., Pereira, C. B., & Williams, D. E. (2008). Genomic profiling reveals an alternate mechanism for hepatic tumor promotion by perfluorooctanoic acid in rainbow trout. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 116(8), 1047-1055. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.11190</u>
- Tiwari, D., & Vanage, G. (2013). Mutagenic effect of Bisphenol A on adult rat male germ cells and their fertility. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 40, 60-68. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2013.05.013</u>
- Tkalec, Z., Kosjek, T., Snoj Tratnik, J., Stajnko, A., Runkel, A. A., Sykiotou, M., Mazej, D., & Horvat, M. (2021). Exposure of Slovenian children and adolescents to bisphenols, parabens and triclosan: Urinary levels, exposure patterns, determinants of exposure and susceptibility. *Environment International*, 146(du1, 7807270), 106172. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106172</u>
- Toner, F., Allan, G., Dimond, S. S., Waechter, J. M., & Beyer, D. (2018). In vitro percutaneous absorption and metabolism of Bisphenol A (BPA) through fresh human skin. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 47, 147-155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2017.11.002</u>
- Tschersich, C., Murawski, A., Schwedler, G., Rucic, E., Moos, R. K., Kasper-Sonnenberg, M., Koch, H. M., Bruning, T., & Kolossa-Gehring, M. (2021). Bisphenol A and six other environmental phenols in urine of children and adolescents in Germany - human biomonitoring results of the German Environmental Survey 2014-2017 (GerES V). *The Science of the total environment, 763*(uj0, 0330500), 144615. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144615</u>

- United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). (2019). Global Chemicals Outlook II From Legacies to Innovative Solutions: Implementing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. United Nations Environment Programme, United Nations. <u>https://www.unep.org/resources/report/global-chemicals-outlook-ii-legacies-innovative-solutions</u>
- Vagi, S. J., Azziz-Baumgartner, E., Sjödin, A., Calafat, A. M., Dumesic, D., Gonzalez, L., Kato, K., Silva, M. J., Ye, X., & Azziz, R. (2014). Exploring the potential association between brominated diphenyl ethers, polychlorinated biphenyls, organochlorine pesticides, perfluorinated compounds, phthalates, and bisphenol a in polycystic ovary syndrome: a case-control study. *BMC Endocrine Disorders*, 14(1), 86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6823-14-86</u>
- van den Brand, A. D., Rubinstein, E., van den Berg, M., & van Duursen, M. B. M. (2019). GH3 and RC-4BC cell lines are not suitable as in vitro models to study prolactin modulation and AHR responsiveness in rat pituitary. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 496, 110520. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2019.110520</u>
- Vandenberg, L. N., Hauser, R., Marcus, M., Olea, N., & Welshons, W. V. (2007). Human exposure to bisphenol A (BPA). *Reproductive Toxicology*, 24(2), 139-177. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.07.010</u>
- Vélez, M. P., Arbuckle, T. E., & Fraser, W. D. (2015). Female exposure to phenols and phthalates and time to pregnancy: the Maternal-Infant Research on Environmental Chemicals (MIREC) Study. *Fertility and Sterility*, 103(4), 1011-1020.e1012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.01.005</u>
- Veritas Health Innovation. Covidence systematic review software. Melbourne, Australia. www.covidence.org
- Vindenes, H. K., Svanes, C., Lygre, S. H. L., Real, F. G., Ringel-Kulka, T., & Bertelsen, R. J. (2021). Exposure to environmental phenols and parabens, and relation to body mass index, eczema and respiratory outcomes in the Norwegian RHINESSA study. *Environmental Health*, 20(1), 81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-021-00767-2</u>
- Viner, R. M., Ozer, E. M., Denny, S., Marmot, M., Resnick, M., Fatusi, A., & Currie, C. (2012). Adolescence and the social determinants of health. *Lancet*, 379(9826), 1641-1652. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60149-4</u>
- Vitku, J., Heracek, J., Sosvorova, L., Hampl, R., Chlupacova, T., Hill, M., Sobotka, V., Bicikova, M., & Starka, L. (2016). Associations of bisphenol A and polychlorinated biphenyls with

spermatogenesis and steroidogenesis in two biological fluids from men attending an infertility clinic. *Environment International, 89-90*, 166-173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.01.021

- Vo, T. T. B., Yoo, Y.-M., Choi, K.-C., & Jeung, E.-B. (2010). Potential estrogenic effect(s) of parabens at the prepubertal stage of a postnatal female rat model. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 29(3), 306-316. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2010.01.013</u>
- Wang, L., & Kannan, K. (2013). Characteristic Profiles of Benzonphenone-3 and its Derivatives in Urine of Children and Adults from the United States and China. *Environmental Science* & Technology, 47(21), 12532-12538. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es4032908</u>
- Wang, L., & Lee, J. H. (2021). The impact of K-beauty social media influencers, sponsorship, and product exposure on consumer acceptance of new products. *Fashion and Textiles*, 8(1), 15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40691-020-00239-0</u>
- Wang, T., Lu, J., Xu, M., Xu, Y., Li, M., Liu, Y., Tian, X., Chen, Y., Dai, M., Wang, W., Lai, S., Bi, Y., & Ning, G. (2013). Urinary bisphenol a concentration and thyroid function in Chinese adults. *Epidemiology*, 24(2), 295-302. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.0b013e318280e02f
- Wang, W., Zhou, W., Wu, S., Liang, F., Li, Y., Zhang, J., Cui, L., Feng, Y., & Wang, Y. (2019). Perfluoroalkyl substances exposure and risk of polycystic ovarian syndrome related infertility in Chinese women. *Environmental Pollution*, 247, 824-831. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.01.039</u>
- Wang, Y.-X., Liu, C., Shen, Y., Wang, Q., Pan, A., Yang, P., Chen, Y.-J., Deng, Y.-L., Lu, Q., Cheng, L.-M., Miao, X.-P., Xu, S.-Q., Lu, W.-Q., & Zeng, Q. (2019). Urinary levels of bisphenol A, F and S and markers of oxidative stress among healthy adult men: Variability and association analysis. *Environment International*, 123, 301-309. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.11.071</u>
- Wang, Y.-X., Zhou, B., Chen, Y.-J., Liu, C., Huang, L.-L., Liao, J.-Q., Hu, X.-J., Lu, W.-Q., Zeng, Q., & Pan, A. (2018). Thyroid function, phthalate exposure and semen quality: Exploring associations and mediation effects in reproductive-aged men. *Environment International*, 116, 278-285. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.04.031</u>
- Wang, Y., & Qian, H. (2021). Phthalates and Their Impacts on Human Health. *Healthcare (Basel)*, 9(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare9050603</u>

- Wang, Y., Zhu, H., & Kannan, K. (2019). A Review of Biomonitoring of Phthalate Exposures. *Toxics*, 7(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics7020021</u>
- Watkins, D. J., Eliot, M., Sathyanarayana, S., Calafat, A. M., Yolton, K., Lanphear, B. P., & Braun, J. M. (2014). Variability and predictors of urinary concentrations of phthalate metabolites during early childhood. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(15), 8881-8890. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es501744v
- Wenzel, A., Franz, C., Breous, E., & Loos, U. (2005). Modulation of iodide uptake by dialkyl phthalate plasticisers in FRTL-5 rat thyroid follicular cells. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 244(1), 63-71. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2005.02.008</u>
- Whitehead, H. D., Venier, M., Wu, Y., Eastman, E., Urbanik, S., Diamond, M. L., Shalin, A., Schwartz-Narbonne, H., Bruton, T. A., Blum, A., Wang, Z., Green, M., Tighe, M., Wilkinson, J. T., McGuinness, S., & Peaslee, G. F. (2021). Fluorinated Compounds in North American Cosmetics. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 8(7), 538-544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.1c00240</u>
- Wnuk, W., Michalska, K., Krupa, A., & Pawlak, K. (2022). Benzophenone-3, a chemical UV-filter in cosmetics: is it really safe for children and pregnant women? *Postepy Dermatol Alergol*, 39(1), 26-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.5114/ada.2022.113617</u>
- Wu, J.-l., Liu, J., & Cai, Z. (2010). Determination of triclosan metabolites by using in-source fragmentation from high-performance liquid chromatography/negative atmospheric pressure chemical ionization ion trap mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, 24(13), 1828-1834. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm.4558</u>
- Wu, Y., Romanak, K., Bruton, T., Blum, A., & Venier, M. (2020). Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in paired dust and carpets from childcare centers. *Chemosphere*, 251, 126771. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126771</u>
- Xie, X., Weng, X., Liu, S., Chen, J., Guo, X., Gao, X., Fei, Q., Hao, G., Jing, C., & Feng, L. (2021). Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substance exposure and association with sex hormone concentrations: results from the NHANES 2015–2016. *Environmental Sciences Europe*, 33(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-021-00508-9
- Xin, Y., Ren, X.-M., Ruan, T., Li, C.-H., Guo, L.-H., & Jiang, G. (2018). Chlorinated Polyfluoroalkylether Sulfonates Exhibit Similar Binding Potency and Activity to Thyroid Hormone Transport Proteins and Nuclear Receptors as Perfluorooctanesulfonate. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 52(16), 9412-9418. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01494</u>
- Xu, Y., Fletcher, T., Pineda, D., Lindh Christian, H., Nilsson, C., Glynn, A., Vogs, C., Norström, K., Lilja, K., Jakobsson, K., & Li, Y. Serum Half-Lives for Short- and Long-Chain Perfluoroalkyl Acids after Ceasing Exposure from Drinking Water Contaminated by Firefighting Foam. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 128(7), 077004. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP6785
- Xue, J., Zartarian, V., Moya, J., Freeman, N., Beamer, P., Black, K., Tulve, N., & Shalat, S. (2007). A meta-analysis of children's hand-to-mouth frequency data for estimating nondietary ingestion exposure. *Risk Analysis*, 27(2), 411-420. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.2007.00893.x</u>
- Yamasaki, K., Noda, S., Imatanaka, N., & Yakabe, Y. (2004). Comparative study of the uterotrophic potency of 14 chemicals in a uterotrophic assay and their receptor-binding affinity. *Toxicology Letters*, 146(2), 111-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2003.07.003</u>
- Yang, X., Liu, H., Yang, Q., Liu, J., Chen, J., & Shi, L. (2016). Predicting anti-androgenic activity of bisphenols using molecular docking and quantitative structure-activity relationships. *Chemosphere*, 163, 373-381. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.08.062
- Yoon, K. S., & Kwack, S. J. (2021). In vitro and in vivo estrogenic activity of triclosan. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A, 84(19), 800-809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2021.1944940</u>
- Yu, W. G., Liu, W., & Jin, Y. H. (2009). Effects of perfluorooctane sulfonate on rat thyroid hormone biosynthesis and metabolism. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 28(5), 990-996. <u>https://doi.org/10.1897/08-345.1</u>
- Zacharewski, T. R., Meek, M. D., Clemons, J. H., Wu, Z. F., Fielden, M. R., & Matthews, J. B. (1998). Examination of the in vitro and in vivo estrogenic activities of eight commercial phthalate esters. *Toxicological Sciences*, 46(2), 282-293. https://doi.org/10.1006/toxs.1998.2505
- Zalko, D., Jacques, C., Duplan, H., Bruel, S., & Perdu, E. (2011). Viable skin efficiently absorbs and metabolizes bisphenol A. *Chemosphere*, 82(3), 424-430. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.09.058</u>
- Zhang, H., Lu, Y., Luo, B., Yan, S., Guo, X., & Dai, J. (2014). Proteomic analysis of mouse testis reveals perfluorooctanoic acid-induced reproductive dysfunction via direct disturbance of testicular steroidogenic machinery. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 13(7), 3370-3385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/pr500228d</u>

- Zhang, X.-M., Lou, X.-Y., Wu, L.-H., Huang, C., Chen, D., & Guo, Y. (2018). Urinary phthalate metabolites and environmental phenols in university students in South China. *Environmental Research*, 165(ei2, 0147621), 32-39. <u>https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.04.006</u>
- Zhang, Y. T., Zeeshan, M., Su, F., Qian, Z. M., Dee Geiger, S., Edward McMillin, S., Wang, Z. B., Dong, P. X., Ou, Y. Q., Xiong, S. M., Shen, X. B., Zhou, P. E., Yang, B. Y., Chu, C., Li, Q. Q., Zeng, X. W., Feng, W. R., Zhou, Y. Z., & Dong, G. H. (2022). Associations between both legacy and alternative per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances and glucose-homeostasis: The Isomers of C8 health project in China. *Environment International*, 158, 106913. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106913</u>
- Zhu, Y.-d., Han, X., Wang, X.-q., Ge, T.-x., Liu, H., Fan, L., Li, L., Su, L.-q., & Wang, X.-l. (2022). Effect of the phthalates exposure on sex steroid hormones in the US population. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 231*, 113203. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2022.113203</u>
- Zirkin, B. R., & Papadopoulos, V. (2018). Leydig cells: formation, function, and regulation. Biology of Reproduction, 99(1), 101-111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biolre/ioy059</u>
- Zorrilla, L. M., Gibson, E. K., Jeffay, S. C., Crofton, K. M., Setzer, W. R., Cooper, R. L., & Stoker, T. E. (2009). The effects of triclosan on puberty and thyroid hormones in male Wistar rats. *Toxicological Sciences*, 107(1), 56-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfn225</u>
- Zota, A. R., Singla, V., Adamkiewicz, G., Mitro, S. D., & Dodson, R. E. (2017). Reducing chemical exposures at home: opportunities for action. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 71(9), 937-940. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2016-208676</u>